
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
Regular Council Meeting 

Agenda 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 

Thursday March 12, 2020 scheduled to start at 7:00pm 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Prayer 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

 
4. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2020.02.13 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Delegations: 
a) Twin Rivers Country Economic Development Society – semi-annual report 
b) Tough Country Communications – Fibre Internet in Glenwood 
c) Melissa Lybbert – Glenwood Neighbourly News 

 
6. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 

a) Approval of Bylaw #192-2019 Land Use Bylaw and associated map – copy available on 
the village website homepage at www.glenwood.ca 

b) Approval of Potable Water Service Agreement with Cardston County 
c) Approval of Intermunicipal Collaborative Frameworks Agreement between Village of 

Glenwood & Cardston County 
d) Resolution Councillor Carter resign as a member of the Chinook Subdivision & 

Development Appeal Board (SDAB) – can’t serve on both MPC & SDAB 
e) Tax Installment Payment Plan Bylaw Discussion 
f) Approval of Bylaw #239-2020 Emergency Management 

 
7. Councillor Reports: 

 
8. CAO Report: 

a) Meetings attended: 
i. Joint Fire Services Agreement meeting – Mar 10, Cardston County 
ii. Assessment & Taxation course – Mar 11, Cochrane, AB 

b) Future meetings:  
i. Salt Lake Express Project Meeting Mar 17 in Cardston 
ii. Taxation Webinar Mar 19 AM & MPC in PM 
iii. Emergency Management Annual Review Mar 26 

c) Current Projects: 
i. MAP Review Items, Assessments, Audit, Emergency Management Tabletop 

Exercise in April, Grants reporting 
 



Page 2 of 2 

9. Financial Reports: 
a) Accounts Payable Cheques for February 2020 
b) 2020 Bud VS Act Operating & Capital – printed copies available at meeting 

 
10. Correspondence: 

a) 2020 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 02-02 approved 
b) 2020-03 Bulletin AlbertaSW 
c) 2020-03-04 News Release for AlbertaSW Global recognition 
d) cmrswa MINUTES 01-20 
e) cmrswa MINUTES 02-20 
f) Glen Motz MP Report to Mayors and Reeves 
g) M&R Agenda March 6, 2020 
h) M&R February 7, 2020 Minutes 
i) Message from Alberta Health Services South Zone 
j) ORRSC Board Minutes - December 5 2010 
k) ORRSC Executive Minutes - January 9 2020 

 
11.  Closed Meeting: 

a) Employee Matters - As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act  
 

12. Adjournment: 





 1 


 


Alberta SouthWest Regional Alliance 
Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting 


Wednesday February 2, 2020 –Stockmans Grill, Fort Macleod 
 


 Board Representatives 


Barney Reeves, Waterton Park 


Brent Feyter, Fort Macleod 


Jim Bester, Cardston County  


Blair Painter, Crowsnest Pass 


Beryl West, Nanton 


Bev Everts, MD Pincher Creek 


Dale Gugala, Stavely 


John Van Driesten, MD Willow Creek 


Dennis Barnes, Cardston 


Ron Davis, MD Ranchland 


 


Resource Staff and Guests 


Roger Reid, MLA, Livingstone-Macleod 


Jennifer Handley, Nanton 


Lori Hodges, LRSD 


Linda Erickson, AEDTT 


Carolyn Bester, Cardston County  


Bev Thornton, Executive Director, AlbertaSW  


 


1.  Call to Order and Welcome Chair, Barney Reeves, called the meeting to order. 


2.  Approval of Agenda Moved by Blair Painter THAT the agenda be approved. 


Carried. [2020-02-679] 


 


3.  Approval of Minutes  


 


Moved by Beryl West THAT the minutes of January 8, 2020 be 


approved as presented. 


Carried. [2020-02-680] 


 


4.  Approval of Cheque Register Moved by Dale Gugala THAT cheques #2740 to #2756 be approved 


as presented. 


Carried. [2020-02-681] 


 


5.  REDA sponsorship EDA 2020 


 


Moved by Dennis Barnes THAT AlbertaSW share with other REDAs, 


the cost of a EDA Conference Bronze sponsorship, up to $250. 


Carried. [2020-02-682] 


 


6.  MLA Roger Reid  Roger Reid, MLA, Livingstone-Macleod, presented a report from the 


province, and positive discussion on shared goals and issues. 


 


7.  Southwest Succession Partnership AlbertaSW, Community Futures Southwest and Community Futures 


Crowsnest Pass will partner to pilot a succession matching project to 


support businesses that are in transition or are interested in 


continuity planning. In addition to individual coaching the project 


will offer on-line webinars and in-person workshop. 


 


8.  10 Year Tourism Strategy Further information forthcoming from consultation sessions. 


 


9.  Energizing Agricultural 


Transformation  


The Resource Round Table met for the second time on the afternoon 


of January 8, 2020. InnoVisions and Associates presented a “what we 


heard” report, summarizing interviews and research completed to 


date. Contact Bev if you would like a copy of the presentation. 


 







 2 


10.  Update reports 


o Mayors and Reeves 


o Highway 3 TDA 


 


No updates: meetings to be held later this week. 


 


11.  Executive Director Report Accepted as information. 


 


12.  Round table updates Accepted as information. 


 


13.  Board Meetings 


 


➢ March 4, 2020-Stavely, Golden Age Centre 


➢ April 1, 2020: NO MEETING (EDA conference begins April 1) 


➢ May 6, 2020-Cardston, Cobblestone Manor 


➢ June 3, 2020-AGM-tentatively Crowsnest Pass 


 


14.  Adjournment  


 


Moved by Brent Feyter THAT the meeting be adjourned.  


Carried. [2020-02-683] 


 


    


  Chair 


Approved March 4, 2020 


 


  


  Secretary/Treasurer 


 








Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Tourism Destination 
Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell) 
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin March 2020 
Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


❖ Global Recognition 


AlbertaSW is a Top 3 Finalist for the “Best of the Americas” Award. 


https://greendestinations.org/2020-sustainable-destination-awards-and-tourism2030-itb-berlin/ 


o First place winner: Vail Colorado 


o Second place: Guyana 


o Third place: Alberta SouthWest Crown of the Continent, Canada  
 


The annual ITB Berlin Conference attracts 10,000 exhibitors and 113,000 


attendees from 180 countries.   


✓Thank you to Travel Alberta, who had planned to represent us at the 


award ceremony on March 4th. But, due to COVID-19 measures, the 


conference was cancelled at the last minute.  


“AlbertaSW Crown of the Continent” was named a “Global Top 100 


Sustainable Destination” in October 2019, in line with UN Sustainability 


Goals and Global Sustainable Tourism Council. http://sustainabletop100.org/ 


✓ Thank you to Green Destinations Canada for their time, expert guidance 


and assistance to research to prepare the application.  


✓ Thank you to MLA Roger Reid for sharing the news in the Alberta 


Legislature and providing an overview of AlbertaSW and the many successes 


of community and multi-regional collaboration. Much appreciated! 
 


❖ SouthWest Succession Partnership:  


AlbertaSW, Community Futures Crowsnest Pass and Community Futures Southwest … have combined 


resources to pilot a “How to Sell or Buy a Business” project, to raise awareness of succession planning 


best practices and provide support for business transitions.  


o March 9-12: Succession Planning Summit: sign up; access on-line video lessons, at your convenience; 


o March 24: Succession Planning Workshop Heritage Inn, 12:30pm; 


o Ongoing: One-on-one Coaching with identified businesses; and 


o Ongoing: Coupon Codes and support for on-line buyer-seller matching. 


Contact bev@albertasouthwest.com for more details and find out how to participate. 
 


REMINDER: 


❖ Invest in Alberta magazine 2020 is available in hard copy and two on-line versions 


“Peaks to Prairies” display ad on page 88!) Flip through the pages of the magazine at 


http://www.edaalberta.ca/Invest-In-Alberta or visit the microsite at https://investalbertamag.ca/ 
 


UPCOMING: 
❖ EAT Resource Roundtable Thursday March 12, 2020, 2:30pm MD Willow Creek Administrative office 


❖ Economic Developers Alberta (EDA) Conference … April 1-3, 2020, Kananaskis  www.edaalberta.ca 


❖ Business of Outdoor Recreation Summit … September 14-16, 2020, Civic Center, Great Falls, Montana 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

https://greendestinations.org/2020-sustainable-destination-awards-and-tourism2030-itb-berlin/

http://sustainabletop100.org/

mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.edaalberta.ca/Invest-In-Alberta

https://investalbertamag.ca/

http://www.edaalberta.ca/






 


PRESS INFORMATION 
 


-FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE- 
 


4 March 2020 - Palais am Funkturm, ITB Berlin 


ALBERTA SOUTHWEST CROWN OF THE CONTINENT 


WINS 3rd PLACE IN ‘‘BEST OF THE AMERICAS’’ CATEGORY AT THE 


SUSTAINABLE TOP 100 DESTINATION AWARDS 


Alberta SouthWest is very proud to have been chosen from the list of Top 100 destinations to be one of the Top 3 


Finalists in ‘’Best of the Americas’’ category. The winners are : 


First place: Vail Colorado 


Second place: Guyana 


Third place: Alberta SouthWest Crown of the Continent, Canada  


https://greendestinations.org/2020-top-100-awards-itb-berlin/#1583158799195-c57b4aea-5e52 


Alberta SouthWest had previously been named as a Global Top 100 Sustainable Destination in October 2019. 


From those 100 destinations, 50 sustainable tourism stories were chosen. www.sustainable top 100.org.  


Winners and finalists were then selected by a panel of experts representing 12 international organisations.  


AlbertaSW has made its place among global destinations that strive to be more sustainable for the benefit of 


travellers and local communities, and to preserve, enhance and celebrate our iconic character of place. 


 


ITB Berlin annually hosts the gobally prestigious Awards Ceremony for Sustainable Destinations. The conference 


features 10,000 exhibitors and attracts over 113,000 visitors from 180 countries. Due to COVID-19 measures, the 


2020 conference was cancelled at the last minute. The Awards were announced via e-mail and on-line notifications. 


 


About Alberta SouthWest Crown of the Continent   


Alberta SouthWest is a partnership of 16 communities located within the northeast corner of the “Crown of the 


Continent,” which is a larger transboundary region encompassing the Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park, 


and the surrounding areas of Alberta, British Columbia and Montana. Some key historic milestones include: 


1932: Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park becomes world’s first international peace park and has been the 


model for over 150 peace parks world-wide.  


1979: Waterton Biosphere Reserve (WBR) designated by UNESCO; it is one of only 18 biosphere reserves in Canada.  


1981: Head-Smashed-In Buffalo Jump designated as a UNESCO World Heritage Site.  


1993: The first commercial wind farm was built in Alberta SouthWest, making the region the birthplace of the wind 


industry in Canada. 



https://greendestinations.org/2020-top-100-awards-itb-berlin/#1583158799195-c57b4aea-5e52

http://www.sustainabletop100.org/





 


1995: Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park designated as a UNESCO World Heritage Site. 


2017: Castle Provincial Park and Castle Wildlife Provincial Park designated by Alberta Provincial Government. 


2017: Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park declared a Provisional International Dark Sky Park by the 


International Dark-Sky Association, the first such designation that spans an international boundary. 


2020: multi-partner Peaks to Prairies Electric Vehicle Charging Station Network completed and launched. 


 


Bev Thornton, Executive Director of AlbertaSW extends a thank you to the staff of Green Desitnations for their many 


hours of time to support the research and writing of the submission, and to the unfailing encouragement of the 


Travel Alberta team. Thornton observes, ‘’This global recognition is a reflection of international, provincial and 


municipal level commitment to grow prosperous communities that celebrate the important connection to our 


landscapes, history and culture’’. 


 
About the Green Destinations Foundation 
Green Destinations has developed an assessment and reporting system to assess current tourism policy, 


management and sustainability performance on relevant sustainability themes. The Green Destinations Assessment 


and Certification Program is a collaborative initiative of Green Destinations, the European Centre for Eco and Agro 


Tourism (ECEAT) and the Coastal & Marine Union (EUCC). The system consists of the Green Destinations Standard, 


which is a collection of criteria to assess sustainable destination management and policy and the Green Destinations 


Database which is a collection of sustainability and quality performance indicators fed by a variety of third-party data 


sources.  


 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


www.CrownoftheContinent.NatGeotourism.com 


 
For further information contact:  
Bev Thornton, Executive Director 
Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development  
403-627-0244 
bev@albertasouthwest.com 



http://www.greendestinations.info/

http://www.eceat-projects.org/

http://www.eceat-projects.org/

http://www.eucc.net/

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

http://www.crownofthecontinent.natgeotourism.com/

mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com






MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY MEETING HELD JANUARY 8, 


2020 AT THE LANDFILL SITE. 


Authority Members Present: 


 


Richard Van Ee – Town of Magrath  Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston 


Philip Wright –  Town of Milk River  Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling  


Ralph Price – Town of Raymond   Wayne Harris – Cardston County 


David Rolfson – Village of Glenwood  Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner 


Tanya Smith – Village of Coutts 


   


    


Others Present: 


 


Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer  


        
Commenced at 4:29 pm   


Richard Van Ee in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Philip Wright moved to approve the agenda.        Carried 


MINUTES      


Gerry Selk moved to accept the minutes of the December 11, 2019 board meeting.   Carried    


 


David Rolfson arrived at 4:31 p.m. 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


The SEO explained to the board that Fulcrum Energy Corporation asked to reschedule the delegation 
until the February board meeting. 
 
The SEO reported that Canadian Equipment Finance will be going over equipment purchase versus lease 
versus contract work for the Authority. 
 
The SEO advised that the commission is still being worked on at the government level. 
 
Ralph Price moved to approve the SEO’s report.        Carried 
 
 
The Operator reported that 704.335 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in December, 2019; 
with no waste being diverted.  The totals for the 2019 year are 9481.748 tonnes.   
 







MINUTES CMRSWA MEETING JANUARY 8, 2020 
 


2 
Printed: 2020-01-18 


The Operator advised that all year-end totals will be sent to Wilde Brothers Engineering for their annual 
year-end report. 
 
The Operator reported that there were no major equipment repairs in December. 
 
David Rolfson moved to approve the Operator’s report.       Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of December, 2019 were reviewed.  


Wayne Harris moved to approve the bills for December, 2019.      Carried 


CORRESPONDENCE 


An engagement letter from Avail to perform a review for the 2019 year.         Filed 


20-01 Gerry Selk moved to sign the letter of engagement with Avail to perform a review of the 2019 


financials.          Carried 


ADJOURNMENT 


Tanya Smith moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 4:39 p.m.  


Next Authority meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 12, 2020 at 4:30 p.m. at the Landfill Site. 


 


__________________________________   


Chairman 








MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY MEETING HELD FEBRUARY 
12, 2020 AT THE LANDFILL SITE. 


Authority Members Present: 
 
Richard Van Ee – Town of Magrath  Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston 
Philip Wright –  Town of Milk River  Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling  
Wayne Harris – Cardston County  Randy Taylor – County of Warner 
Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner  David Rolfson – Village of Glenwood  
    
Others Present: 
 
Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
        
Commenced at 4:36 pm   


Randy Taylor in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Richard Van Ee moved to approve the agenda.        Carried 


MINUTES      


Gerry Selk moved to accept the minutes of the January 8, 2020 board meeting.    Carried    
 
NEW BUSINESS 


The SEO advised that the delegation was cancelled due to the weather.  Fulcrum Energy will contact the 
Authority when they are ready to come meet with the board. 
 
The SEO presented the Waste to Energy Symposium on March 12, 2020 in St. Albert, Alberta.  The cost 
would be $300/person for registration plus accommodations, transportation, and food. 
 
20-02 Philip Wright moved to send the SEO and Richard Van Ee to the Waste to Energy Symposium on 


March 12, 2020.          Carried 
 
The SEO reviewed the committee meeting dates and agenda items. 
 
Robert Edwards moved to approve the SEO’s report.       Carried 
 
The Operator reported that 795.845 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in January 2020; with 
no waste being diverted. 
 
The Operator advised that all year-end totals have been sent to Wilde Brothers Engineering for their 
annual year-end report. 
 







MINUTES CMRSWA MEETING FEBRUARY 12, 2020 
 


2 
Printed: 2020-02-16 


The Operator reported that quite a few wind fences were blown over or apart.  The Authority is in the 
process of repairing them. 
 
The Operator advised that the safety on the Mack trailer has been completed. 
 
The Operator reported that there has been a waste complaint at the Glenwood Transfer Station.  A 
Cardston County employee was sent out to help gather waste on the farmer’s field.  Murray Millward, 
CEO for the Cardston County, has spoken with the Operator to help share the cost for wages.  Wayne 
Harris inquired as to burning at the Transfer Station in Glenwood and the Operator advised that the 
Cardston County is responsible for performing this task. 


David Rolfson arrived at 4:48 p.m. 


Tyler Lindsay moved to approve the Operator’s report.       Carried  


Financial Statement 


The Financial Statements for December 31, 2019 and January 31, 2020 were reviewed.    


Philip Wright moved to accept the December 31, 2019 and January 31, 2020 Financial Statements.  
              Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of January 2020 were reviewed.  


Wayne Harris moved to approve the bills for January 2020.      Carried 


Robert Edwards spoke regarding semi-trucks that are available without DEF for around a 3-month 
period.  The company is willing to provide a maintenance program to avoid higher repair bills through 
other companies. 


20-03  Robert Edwards moved to have the Operator go and meet with the company regarding the 
semi-trucks.              Carried 


20-04 Gerry Selk moved to cancel the board meeting on March 11, 2020.    Carried 


ADJOURNMENT 


Richard Van Ee moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 5:05 p.m.  


Next Authority meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, April 8, 2020 at 4:30 p.m. at the Landfill Site. 


 
__________________________________   
Chairman 








Glen Motz, MP 


Medicine Hat Cardston Warner 


Report to SW Mayors and Reeves 


 


 


Federal Budget 


 A delay in the tabling of the federal budget in March is a real possibility due to the 


sputtering Canadian economy. Federal government is blaming the current economic 


downturn on the Coronavirus, but realistically it is due to rail disruptions and jam-


logged ports that are the outfall of the political unrest in Canada. 


Canada – China Relations 


 The Canada-China Committee that the Conservations pushed to be established is 


slowly gaining some traction in dealing with the trade barriers impacting Canada’s 


agricultural producers. 


 It has been a year since Canadian canola was barred from China, at a current negative 


cost of over a billion dollars billion dollars to our producers. 


 A ban on our Soya bean exports is over $600 million 


 These impasses must be resolved 


New NAFTA (CUSMA) 


 February 27 Conservative members on the Standing Committee on International Trade 


sent a letter to Deputy Prime Minister Freeland outlining the concerns Conservatives 


heard with the new NAFTA deal. 


 We are the party of free trade and free markets and recognize the importance of the US 


and Mexican markets for Canadian exporters. That is why Conservatives have been clear 


that we will support the swift passage of the deal. 


 The government has not been transparent with revealing the details of the agreement, 


releasing its economic impact analysis for CUSMA only one day before the International 


Trade Committee had to conduct its clause-by-clause review (USTR released theirs in 


April 2019) and the first formal briefing that parliamentarians received on the agreement 


was on December 11, 2019. 


Coronavirus 


  
 The health and safety of Canadians is a top priority and the federal government needs to 


start outlining its plan to Canadians in the case of a possible pandemic. Canadians need to 


be reassured that the government is prepared to assist and support those affected by the 


coronavirus, while also protecting the health and safety of all Canadians. 


 The government has set up a general information line at 1-833-784-4397 for Canadians 


who have any immediate questions. 


 


 



tel:1-833-784-4397






 
 
 


 
Chairperson – Reeve Lorne Hickey 
 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 1:00 
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
  


3.0 ADDITIONS TO/APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES  
  


4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP and MLA UPDATES 
 5.1 MP Reports  


 5.2 MLA Reports  


  
6.0 REPORTS  


 6.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves  


 6.2 SouthGrow - Mayor Jim Willett  


6.3 RMA – Brian Brewin  


6.4 AUMA- Mayor Barry Morishita/Councillor Tanya Thorn 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


6.6 Highway #3 Association – Councillor Bill Chapman  


 
7.0 NEXT MEETING 


Friday, April 3, 2020 at 1:00 – Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall  


  8.0 ADJOURNMENT  


AGENDA 
FRIDAY, MARCH 6, 2020 - 1:00 PM 


Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall 
910 – Fourth Avenue South, Lethbridge 


 


If you have any community information that you would like to have distributed to the M & R group,  
please send it to me at MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com to be distributed.  



mailto:MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com






 
 


PRESENT:    
Reeve Lorne Hickey, Chair Lethbridge County Mayor Ed Weistra Village of Barons 
  Mayor Jim Willett Village of Coutts 
  Councillor Gerald Carter Village of Glenwood 
Mayor Maggie Kronen Town of Cardston Mayor Dwight Davis Village of Hill Spring 


Mayor Dennis Cassie Town of Coalhurst Mayor Katie Wight Village of Longview 


Deputy Mayor Brian Oliver Town of Magrath Mayor Trevor Lewington Village of Stirling 


Mayor Peggy Losey Town of Milk River Deputy Mayor Colette Glynn Village of Warner 


Mayor Cathy Moore Town of Picture Butte   


Mayor Don Anderberg Town of Pincher Creek Reeve Randy Bullock County of Cardston 


Mayor Jim Depew Town of Raymond Reeve Jason Schneider County of Vulcan 
Mayor Margaret Plumtree Town of Vauxhall Deputy Reeve Phil Jensen County of Warner 


Mayor Thomas Grant Town of Vulcan   


    


Mayor Chris Spearman City of Lethbridge   


  
Barney Reeves I.D 04 Waterton 


International Park  


Guests:  Reeve Larry Spilak MD of Foothills 
  Reeve Brian Hammond MD of Pincher Creek 
Nathan Neudorf, MLA Lethbridge East Reeve Merrill Harris MD of Taber 
Grant Hunter, MLA Taber-Warner Reeve Maryanne Sandberg MD of Willow Creek 


Brian Brewin RMA Tanya Thorn AUMA 


  Alandra Corrigan, Rep for MP Harder Lethbridge 


  Colleen Vallin, Rep for MP Motz Medicine Hat-
Cardston-Warner 


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


    


MINUTES 
Friday, February 7, 2020 


Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall 
910 – Fourth Avenue South, Lethbridge 


 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  


February 7, 2020 Minutes 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:00pm. 
: 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 Business regarding AHS review – Mayor Don Anderberg, Mayor Gordon Reynolds 


Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
   Page 2 of January minutes, correction – Reeve Maryanne Sandberg, not Mayor 
  Moved by Reeve Maryanne Sandberg - Carried 


  
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
 AHS Review – Mayor Gordon Reynolds 


• Encourages everyone to read the AHS review 


• Concerned about the closing of emergency rooms in rural hospitals, could potentially lead to 
loss of employment for many people. 


• Hoping AHS and the Minister of Health will consider the impact these changes could have on 
communities and recruitment for rural doctors. 


• Encourages everyone to go online to the helicopter EMS page and submit their comments 
there. 


  
 AHS Review – Mayor Don Anderberg 


• The Town of Pincher Creek has put together letters to be sent to the Minister of Health in 
support of rural health care and rural doctors. 


• Concerned about the changes to the complex modifier. 


• Feels it is very important to support rural physicians to have a wholesome, productive funding 
formula. 


• Recruitment of rural physicians has already been affected. 


• Mayor Chris Spearman – Motion – We as Mayors and Reeves recognize that reviews of this 
type are necessary, we fully support the government in effective negotiations but there 
needs to be a process of consultation. – Carried 


   
 
5.0 REPORTS 
 


5.1 MP Reports –  
 Alandra Corrigan – Representative for MP Harder 


• MP Harder will be reaching out to municipalities within the Lethbridge riding. 


• Canada summer jobs applications are now open. 
 


 Karrie Fisher – Representative for MP Barlow 


• A Service Canada representative will be travelling to the Foothills region 
 
    Colleen Vallin – Representative for MP Motz 


• MP Motz has sent out a survey for people in his riding in regards to the budget. 


• MP Motz is involved in an e-petition regarding firearms, the petition to date has 158,547 
signatures. 


    


    







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  


February 7, 2020 Minutes 


• Asks that budget surveys get completed and submitted. 
 
   


5.2 MLA Reports – 
  
 MLA Nathan Neudorf 


• Discussed the importance of reaching out to your MLA’s and Ministers. 


• Encourages everyone to take part in constructive conversation as much as possible. 
 


MLA Grant Hunter  


• Some ICF funding is still available. 


• Encourages everyone to reach out to their MLA’s and discuss their concerns with them. 


• Discussed the changes to healthcare. 
 


 
6.0    PRESENTATION  – Southern Alberta Horse Racing, Max Gibb, CEO, Rocky Mountain Turf Club 
 


• Discussed the importance of keeping horse racing “alive” 


o Horse racing is over 100 years old. 


o Horse racing directly employs 2000 people in Alberta, and indirectly provides 
employment for 8000 Albertans. 


o Horse Race Alberta is the governing body for Racino’s in Alberta. 


• Horse Race Alberta is considering only allowing Lethbridge to have one meet in the 
spring. This will negatively impact many Southern Albertans. 


• Mayor Ed Weistra – Motion – to write a letter to Horse Race Alberta asking to keep the 
Lethbridge race track running with two meets, a spring and fall meet. - Carried 


 


7.0 REPORTS 


 
7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves, Bev Thornton 


• Met with MLA’s. 


 


7.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• See electronic report sent out in agenda package. 


• Briefly discussed broadband. 


 


 7.3 RMA – Brian Brewin 


• Thanked those who completed the unpaid property tax survey. 


• An advisory board has been assembled with representatives from RMA, AUMA and the 
Alberta association of police in regards to the Police funding model. 


• Discussed RMA’s approach in regards to the AHS review. 


 


 


 


 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 4  


February 7, 2020 Minutes 


           7.4    AUMA – Tanya Thorn 


• Discussed the president’s summit. 


• Discussed establishing a provincial police force and what that would look like.  A lot 
of questions are still surrounding this idea. 


• ICF deadlines are approaching. 


• Discussed the tax credit cap on the Alberta Film industry and the need for that cap to 
be removed. 


• Mayor Chris Spearman – Motion – ask to have the tax credit cap removed in order 
to support the film industry. Carried 


 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• No report. 


 
        7.6       Highway #3 Association- Mayor Gordon Reynolds 


• Alberta motor transportation association has made the twinning of highway 3 top 5 on 
the list of priorities. 


• Director of advancement has been busy meeting with industry representatives and 
recruiting new members. 


• Brian Brewin and Mayor Gordon Reynold have a meeting with the Minister of 
Transportation to discuss laying the groundwork for twinning highway 3. 


 


 


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, March 6, 2020 – Culver City Room, Lethbridge City Hall – 1:00pm 
 
9.0 ADJOURNMENT:  
 
  Moved Reeve Maryanne Sandberg to adjourn meeting at 3:16 pm.  Carried 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








Key Messages from Alberta Health Services – South Zone 
 
 
General: 
 


 Local Alberta Health Services (AHS) facilities provide excellent care to the 
communities they serve and we don’t want that to change. We will not be closing 
any hospitals. 


 


 Physicians are critical to the healthcare system. We will continue to work with our 
physicians to ensure patients and families have access to timely, safe and high 
quality care, and that there are no gaps in service. 


 


 AHS supports physicians’ ability to advocate for themselves and their patients.  
 
 


 It is important physicians are able to share their concerns, just as it is important 
that AHS continues to meet the needs of the patients and families we all serve. 
This is in keeping with the processes and regulations outlined in the AHS Medical 
Staff Bylaws and Rules and the CPSA Standards of Practice.  


 


 We are working to understand the impact these changes will have on physicians, 
patients and families. 


 


 We will continue to share information openly and transparently. 
 
 
Physicians changing or terminating privileges: 


 We are aware that concerns about changes to physician compensation have 
prompted some physicians to consider changing the way they practice. 


 


 Our priority is the safe care of Albertans, and we will do all we can to support 
patient care, as well as physicians and the communities they serve. 


  


 We share a joint focus and responsibility for patients, and we will support 
physicians in providing adequate transition time if they choose to change their 
practice in hospital settings.  


 
 








2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 16 


 
 
 


MINUTES – 4  (2019) 


ANNUAL ORGANIZATIONAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING 


Thursday, December 5, 2019  –  7:00 p.m. 
ORRSC Conference Room (3105 - 16 Avenue North, Lethbridge) 


 


BOARD OF DIRECTORS:  


 Kevyn Stevenson (absent) ......... Village of Arrowwood Brad Koch (absent) ......................... Village of Lomond
 Delbert Bodnarek (absent) ............. Village of Barnwell Richard Van Ee ............................... Town of Magrath
 Ed Weistra ....................................... Village of Barons Peggy Losey .................................. Town of Milk River
 Tom Rose ....................................... Town of Bassano Sheldon Walker (absent) ....................... Village of Milo
 Norman Gerestein ............................... City of Brooks Victor Czop - alternate ....................... Town of Nanton
 Jim Bester ........................................ Cardston County Clarence Amulung ........................... County of Newell
 Richard Bengry .............................. Town of Cardston Marinus de Leeuw ....................... Village of Nobleford
 Peggy Hovde ............................ Village of Carmangay Henry de Kok ............................ Town of Picture Butte
 Jamie Smith (absent) ................... Village of Champion Bev Everts (absent) .................. M.D. of Pincher Creek
 Doug MacPherson ...................... Town of Claresholm Don Anderberg ........................... Town Pincher Creek
 Butch Pauls ..................................... Town of Coaldale Ronald Davis (absent) ................... M.D. of Ranchland
 Elizabeth Christensen .................... Town of Coalhurst Stewart Foss.................................. Town of Raymond
 Tanya Smith ...................................... Village of Coutts Don Norby ......................................... Town of Stavely
 Warren Mickels (absent) .................. Village of Cowley Matthew Foss .................................. Village of Stirling
 Dave Filipuzzi .......................... Mun. Crowsnest Pass Jennifer Crowson .................................. M.D. of Taber
 Dean Ward ............................... Mun. Crowsnest Pass Margaret Plumtree ........................... Town of Vauxhall
 Kole Steinley ................................. Village of Duchess Jason Schneider .................................. Vulcan County
 Gordon Wolstenholme ............. Town of Fort Macleod Lyle Magnuson .................................. Town of Vulcan
 Gerry Carter ................................ Village of Glenwood David Cody ..................................... County of Warner
 Suzanne French ......................... Village of Hill Spring Marty Kirby ...................................... Village of Warner
 Morris Zeinstra (absent) ................. Lethbridge County Darry Markle (councillor) ............... M.D. Willow Creek


STAFF:  


 Lenze Kuiper .................................................. Director Gavin Scott ......................................... Senior Planner
 Mike Burla ........................................... Senior Planner Max Kelly ........................................ Assistant Planner
 Bonnie Brunner ..................................  Senior Planner Jennifer Maxwell .................... Subdivision Technician
 Diane Horvath ..................................... Senior Planner Barb Johnson ............................. Executive Secretary
 Steve Harty ......................................... Senior Planner  
 


 


 


AGENDA: 


1. Approval of Agenda  –  December 5, 2019 ..........................................................................................  


2. Approval of Minutes  –  September 5, 2019 ....................................................................... (attachment) 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 17 


3. Business Arising from the Minutes .....................................................................................................  


4. Recognition of Members and Alternate Members for 2019/2020 ................................... (attachment) 


5. Appointment of Officers and Executive Committee for 2019/2020 ................................ (attachment) 
(a) Election of Chair ..............................................................................................................................  
(b) Election of Vice-Chair ......................................................................................................................  
(c) Election of Executive Committee .....................................................................................................  
(d) Destruction of Ballots .......................................................................................................................  


6. Reports 
(a) Executive Committee Report ......................................................................................... (attachment) 
(b) GIS Newsletter .................................................................................................................. (handout) 


7. Business 
(a) Proposed 2020 Budget .................................................................................................. (attachment) 
(b) Municipal Development Plan and Intermunicipal Development Plan Update .................................  
(c) Assessment Review Board Update .................................................................................................  


8. Accounts 
(a) Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of Income for the 10-month period: 


January 1 - October 31, 2019 ........................................................................................ (attachment) 


9. Adjournment ..........................................................................................................................................  
 
 


CHAIR GORDON WOLSTENHOLME CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER AT 7:02 P.M. 


1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 


Moved by:  Ed Weistra 


THAT the Board of Directors approve the agenda of December 5, 2019, as presented. CARRIED 


2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


Moved by:  Richard Bengry 


THAT the Board of Directors approves the minutes of September 5, 2019, as presented. CARRIED 


3. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 


None. 
  







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 18 


4. RECOGNITION OF MEMBERS AND ALTERNATE MEMBERS FOR 2019/2020 


 The following list of Members and Alternate Members was included in the agenda.  Board members 
were asked to review the list and report any corrections, if any, to the Executive Secretary. 


 
Municipality Member Alternate Member 


Arrowwood  – Village Kevyn Stevenson Matt Crane 


Barnwell – Village Delbert Bodnarek Ian Matheson 


Barons – Village Ed Weistra Ron Gorzitza 


Bassano – Town Tom Rose Ron Wickson 


Brooks – City Norman Gerestein — 


Cardston – County Jim Bester Roger Houghton 


Cardston – Town Richard Bengry — 


Carmangay – Village Peggy Hovde JoAnne Juce 


Champion – Village Jamie Smith Trevor Wagenvoort 


Claresholm – Town Doug MacPherson Brad Schlossberger 


Coaldale – Town Butch (Henry) Pauls — 


Coalhurst – Town Elizabeth Christensen — 


Coutts – Village Tanya Smith Marvin Bohne 


Cowley - Village Warren Mickels — 


Crowsnest Pass – Municipality Dave Filipuzzi & Dean Ward — 


Duchess – Village Kole Steinley Tina Preston 


Fort Macleod – Town Gordon Wolstenholme Brent Feyter 


Glenwood – Village Gerry Carter — 


Hill Spring – Village Suzanne French — 


Lethbridge – County Morris Zeinstra — 


Lomond – Village Brad Koch — 


Magrath – Town Richard Van Ee — 


Milk River – Town Peggy Losey — 


Milo – Village Sheldon Walker Scott Schroeder 


Nanton – Town Beryl West Victor Czop 


Newell – County Clarence Amulung Tracy Fyfe 


Nobleford – Town Marinus de Leeuw Corne Mans 


Picture Butte – Town Henry de Kok Teresa Feist 


Pincher Creek – M.D. No. 9 Bev Everts Quentin Stevick 


Pincher Creek – Town Don Anderberg Brian McGillivray 


Ranchland – M.D. No. 66 Ronald Davis Harry Streeter 


Raymond – Town Stewart Foss — 


Stavely – Town Don Norby — 


Stirling – Village Matthew Foss Rob Edwards 


Taber – Municipal District Jennifer Crowson Tamara Miyanaga 


Vauxhall – Town Margaret Plumtree Marilyn Forchuk 


Vulcan – County Jason Schneider Doug Logan 


Vulcan – Town Lyle Magnuson Paul Taylor 







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 19 


Warner – County No. 5 David Cody Morgan Rockenbach 


Warner – Village Marty Kirby Sandi Hedin 


Willow Creek – M.D. No. 26 Ian Sundquist Maryanne Sandberg 
 


5. APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FOR 2018/2019 


 A list of members who wished to let their names stand for election for the positions of Chair, Vice-
Chair and Executive Committee was included in the agenda package. 


(a) Election of Chair 


Advance Nominations: Gordon Wolstenholme (Town of Fort Macleod) 


Nominations from the floor: None 


Gordon Wolstenholme was elected Chair by acclamation. 


(b) Election of Vice-Chair 


Advance Nominations: Jim Bester (Cardston County) 


Nominations from the floor: None 


Jim Bester was elected Vice-Chair by acclamation. 


(c) Election of Executive Committee 


Advance Nominations: Ian Sundquist (M.D. of Willow Creek) 
Don Anderberg (Town of Pincher Creek) 
Jennifer Crowson (M.D. of Taber) 
Margaret Plumtree (Town of Vauxhall) 
Doug MacPherson (Town of Claresholm) 


Nominations from the floor: None 


Ian Sundquist, Don Anderberg, Jennifer Crowson, Margaret Plumtree and Doug 
MacPherson were all elected to the Executive Committee by acclamation. 


 
Therefore, the following members will serve as the Executive Committee from December 5, 2019 to 
December 3, 2020: 
 


Gordon Wolstenholme – Chair 
Jim Bester – Vice-Chair 
Ian Sundquist 
Don Anderberg 
Jennifer Crowson 
Margaret Plumtree 
Doug MacPherson 


(d) Destruction of Ballots  –  None (all elected by acclamation) 







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 20 


6. REPORTS 


(a) Executive Committee Report 


Moved by:  Don Anderberg 


THAT the Board of Directors approve the Executive Committee Report for the meetings of 
September 12 and October 10, 2019, as presented. CARRIED 


(b) GIS Newsletter 


 The current version of GIS platform is approaching 6 years old, so a decision was made to 
stay on the cutting edge of GIS delivery by moving to a new, fresh product in 2020.  The 
enhanced Geocortex viewer will provide users with a new set of tools and features that were 
not available in the current iVault GIS.  New features include: 


 a user’s ability to apply transparencies,  


 re-order and filter layers,  


 import and export spatial files,  


 attach user files (pdf), 


 edit attribute and spatial data,  


 snapping while drawing and measuring, and  


 the ability to create a variety of charts based on input data. 


 In addition to the Geocortex GIS viewer, all member municipalities will have the ability to have 
custom web apps built for a variety of purposes.  We envision having a public facing GIS portal 
in Geocortex which will be similar in scope to the public version currently provided but, in 
addition, offer custom web mapping applications that only serve a specific purpose with limited 
information.  These could include a web application that shows information such as plowing 
priorities, recreation facilities, walking/hiking trails, parade routes, cemeteries, or a tour map 
that takes users on a walking route that identifies historical buildings, tourist locations or capital 
projects. 


 ORRSC GIS staff has begun work on the new sites and hope to start releasing them early in 
2020. 


7. BUSINESS 


(a) Proposed 2020 Budget 


 ORRSC is a knowledge-based organization and our greatest asset is our staff and the value 
they bring.  Staff presently consists of: 


 7 Planners and 3 Assistant Planners (4 Masters of Planning) 


 2 GIS Analysts and 3 GIS Technologists (1 CET) 


 5 Administrative Staff 


 The Executive Committee has recommended two budget options be considered by the Board, 
the only difference being that Option 1 includes a 2% staff salary increase and Option 2 
includes a 1.5% increase (with corresponding increases to staff benefits). 


 Highlights of the proposed 2020 Budget are as follows: 


 







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 21 


 


 


 
 


  







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 22 


 
 


 The proposed increases to Subdivision Approval Fees and Fee-For-Service Member hourly 
rates recommended by the Executive Committee will require approval from the Board. 


 Membership Fees have been increased by 1% as well as the floor and ceiling rates.  Matthew 
Foss (Stirling) expressed that he favors a higher increase to the ceiling for larger municipalities 
and discussion of the pros and cons followed. 


Moved by:  Matthew Foss 


THAT the Board direct administration and the Executive Committee to review the fee ceiling for 
both Planning and GIS services. CARRIED 


Moved by:  Elizabeth Christensen 


THAT the Board approve subdivision fees effective January 1, 2020, as follows: 


• Application Fee – $710 
• Per Lot Fee – $330 
• Per Lot Endorsement – $205 
• Extension Fee – 1st $330, 2nd $430, 3rd $530 CARRIED 


Moved by:  David Cody 


THAT the Board approve hourly Fee-For-Service Member rates effective January 1, 2020, as 
follows: 


• Planning – $80 
• Administrative/Technical – $70 CARRIED 


  







2019 ORRSC Board of Directors’ Minutes  –  Page 23 


Moved by:  Doug MacPherson 


THAT the 2020 Budget Option 2 (1.5% staff salary increase), as presented, be approved by the 
Board, as recommended by the Executive Committee. CARRIED 


(b) Municipal Development Plan and Intermunicipal Development Plan Update 


 Multiple plans are currently in progress and staff are trying to put additional Land Use Bylaws, 
etc. on the back burner until these plans are completed: 


 3 Urban Land Use Bylaws 


 11 Urban Municipal Development Plans (2021 deadline) 


 1 urban Area Redevelopment Plan 


 1 Area Structure Plan 


 2 Rural Land Use Bylaws 


 3 Rural Municipal Development Plans 


 39 Intermunicipal Development Plans (2020 deadline) 


(c) Assessment Review Board Update 


 32 municipalities currently subscribe to ORRSC’s Assessment Review Board service.  In 
2019, 25 complaints were scheduled (11 resolved or withdrawn) and 14 hearings were 
completed (12 LARB and 2 CARB). 


 Training for new Board members will be held April 21-23, 2020 in the ORRSC Conference 
Room. 


8. ACCOUNTS 


(a) Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of Income for the 10-month period: 
January 1 - October 31, 2019 


Moved by:  Peggy Losey 


THAT the Board of Directors accept the Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of Income for 
the 10-month period:  January 1 - October 31, 2019. CARRIED 


9. ADJOURNMENT 


Moved by:  Gordon Wolstenholme 


THAT we adjourn the Annual Organizational Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission at 8:25 p.m. until Thursday, March 5, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. CARRIED 


  
 
 
 
 
/bj  CHAIR:  ________________________________________ 


 








 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 1 


 
 
 


MINUTES ‐ 1  (2020) 


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING 
Thursday, January 9, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. 


ORRSC Boardroom (3105 ‐ 16 Avenue North, Lethbridge) 
 


EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE: 


  Gordon Wolstenholme ‐ Chair   Ian Sundquist 
  Jim Bester ‐ Vice‐Chair  Jennifer Crowson 
  Don Anderberg  Margaret Plumtree  
  Doug MacPherson   


STAFF: 


  Lenze Kuiper – Director  Barb Johnson – Executive Secretary 
 


AGENDA: 


1.  Approval of Agenda – January 9, 2020 ...................................................................................................  


2.  Approval of Minutes – November 21, 2019 ........................................................................ (attachment) 


3.  Business Arising from the Minutes 


4.  New Business 
(a)  Member Update ..............................................................................................................................  
(b)  Review of ORRSC Membership and GIS Fees Ceilings and Floors ................................ (attachment) 
(c)  APPI Conference – Lethbridge .........................................................................................................  
(d)  Minister of Red Tape Reduction Meeting .......................................................................................  
(e)  Municipal Borrowing Bylaw – ATB Financial ...................................................................................  
(f)  Subdivision Statistics .................................................................................................... (attachment) 
(g)  Fee For Service Update ................................................................................................ (attachment) 


5.  Accounts 
(a)  Office Accounts –  


(i)  November 2019 .................................................................................................... (attachment) 
(ii)  December 2019 ........................................................................................................ (handout) 


(b)  Financial Statements –  
(i)  January 1 ‐ November 30, 2019............................................................................ (attachment) 
(ii)  January 1 ‐ December 31, 2019 ................................................................................ (handout) 


OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION







 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 2 


6.  Director’s Report ....................................................................................................................................  


7.  Executive Report.....................................................................................................................................  


8.  Adjournment ..........................................................................................................................................  
 
 


 
 
CHAIR GORDON WOLSTENHOLME CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER AT 6:08 P.M. 


1.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA 


Moved by:  Jennifer Crowson 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the agenda, as presented.  CARRIED 


2.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


Moved by:  Doug MacPherson 


THAT the Executive Committee approve the minutes of November 21, 2019, as presented. 


      CARRIED 


3.  BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 


 None. 


4.  NEW BUSINESS 


(a)  Member Update 


 ORRSC is in receipt of a letter dated December 19, 2019 from the Town of Coaldale giving 
one‐year  notice  to  terminate  their  planning  services  contract  effective  January  1,  2021 
while wishing to maintain GIS services.   This decision  is not due to dissatisfaction with the 
service  ORRSC  provides,  but  they  have  reached  a  point  where  they  feel  planning  and 
development  services  are  best  brought  in‐house.    The  County  of Newell  gave  notice  in 
September 2019 that they may terminate their contract as well.  The Executive is preparing 
to appear as a delegation before each of their councils to discuss options and solutions. 


Moved by:  Don Anderberg 


THAT  the Director contact both  the Town of Coaldale and County of Newell  to have ORRSC 
Executive representatives appear as a delegation before each of their Councils. 


    CARRIED 
   







 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 3 


(b)  Review of ORRSC Membership and GIS Fees Ceilings and Floors 


 A motion by Matthew Foss (Stirling) directing administration and the Executive Committee 
to review the fee ceiling for both Planning and GIS services was passed at the December 5, 
2019 Board of Directors’ meeting.  Planning fees are based on Total Equalized Assessment 
and GIS fees are calculated on a per capita basis.   A fee ceiling prevents overstatement of 
the value of our services and is required to recognize the large fees that municipalities with 
large  total equalized assessments would pay as being exorbitant and out of  line with  the 
level  of  service  being  provided.    Also,  beyond  a  certain  price  point  these municipalities 
would lose any financial advantage inherent to belonging in a shared service. 


 Due  to  the  large  turnover  in  Board membership  since  the ORRSC  Finance  Strategy was 
adopted  in  2013,  the  Director will  explain  the  rationale  behind  our  fee  structure  using 
current numbers at the March 5, 2020 Board of Directors’ meeting and  leave the decision 
regarding fee ceilings up to the entire Board. 


(c)  APPI Conference – Lethbridge 


 The Alberta Professional Planners Institute (APPI) Conference is being held in Lethbridge on 
September 20‐22 this year, so Executive members may prefer to attend this rather than the 
CPAA Conference  in Red Deer.   All we have so far  is the date; further  information will be 
provided as it becomes available. 


(d)  Minister of Red Tape Reduction Meeting 


 On  January  6,  2020,  the  Director  attended  a  meeting  in  Edmonton  between  senior 
bureaucrats  and  regional  services  commission  representatives  to  discuss  red  tape 
reduction.  Topics included: requirements of cabinet for oversight of commissions, disposal 
of  assets,  procurement  of work,  etc.    Consensus was  that  although  processes  could  be 
streamlined  a  bit,  the  current  system  is  working.    Changes  to  the  regional  services 
commission section of the Municipal Government Act will be forthcoming. 


(e)  Municipal Borrowing Bylaw 


 ORRSC maintains a $500,000 revolving line of credit for risk management purposes (which 
currently has a $0 balance).   In order to maintain the  line of credit, ATB Financial requires 
the Chair and Director to sign a municipal borrowing bylaw and record  its approval by the 
Executive Committee in the minutes of the first meeting of each year.   


Moved by:  Margaret Plumtree 


THAT  the  Executive  Committee  authorize  the  Chair  and  Director  to  endorse  the  2020 
Municipal Borrowing Bylaw Form (Revolving Line of Credit) for ATB Financial.  CARRIED 


(f)  Subdivision Statistics 


 Year‐to‐date  subdivision  revenue was $264,642.50 on November 30 and $276,180.00 on 
December 31, 2019.  This is a new low and falls short of the $315,000 budgeted.  


   







 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 4 


(g)  Fee For Service Update 


 The current status of Fee For Service projects was reviewed.   


5.  ACCOUNTS 


(a)  Office Accounts –  


(i)  November 2019 
 
  5150    Staff Mileage  .................................................   M. Burla  ..................................................  $    154.00


  5280    Janitorial Services  ..........................................   Madison Ave Business Services  ..............  $    425.00


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Madison Ave Business Services  ..............  11.69


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Westburne  .............................................  91.20


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Westburne  .............................................  21.24


  5310    Telephone  .....................................................   Shaw Business  ........................................  180.90


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  166.96


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  37.99


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  173.94


  5330    Dues & Subscriptions  .....................................   Temple City Star  .....................................  42.00


  5330    Dues & Subscriptions  .....................................   Vulcan Advocate  .....................................  68.00


  5350    Postage & Petty Cash  ....................................   Postage by Phone  ...................................  3,000.00


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Peak Vocational Services  ........................  114.00


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Lethbridge Mobile Shredding  .................  23.00


  5440    Land Titles Office  ...........................................   Minister of Finance  ................................  386.00


  5460    Public Relations  .............................................   M. Burla  ..................................................  400.00


  5460    Public Relations  .............................................   D. Horvath  ..............................................  200.00


  5500    Subdivision Notification  ................................   Lethbridge Herald ...................................  521.64


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Xerox  ......................................................  928.32


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Digitex  ....................................................  880.00


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Whipcord  ................................................  1,262.80


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Lorne Jackson  .........................................  466.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Richard Bengry  .......................................  235.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Lloyd Kearl  ..............................................  235.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Maggie Kronen  .......................................  190.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Wayne Elliott  ..........................................  115.00
  1160    GST Receivable  ..............................................   GST Receivable  .......................................  396.46


 
        TOTAL  $10,726.14


 


(ii)  December 2019 
 
  5150    Staff Mileage  .................................................   Bonnie Brunner  ......................................  $      87.50


  5160    Staff Field Expense  ........................................   Bonnie Brunner  ......................................  17.40


  5150    Staff Mileage  .................................................   Sherry Johnson  .......................................  48.00


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Max Kelly  ................................................  65.38


  4140    Approval Fees  ................................................   Village of Stirling  ....................................  1,125.00


  5151    Vehicle Gas & Maintenance  ..........................   Petty Cash  ..............................................  4.29







 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 5 


  5160    Staff Field Expense  ........................................   Petty Cash  ..............................................  29.64


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Petty Cash  ..............................................  10.00


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Petty Cash  ..............................................  67.79


  5460    Public Relations  .............................................   Petty Cash  ..............................................  10.50


  5280    Janitorial Services  ..........................................   Madison Ave Business Services  ..............  525.00


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Madison Ave Business Services  ..............  15.99


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Wild Rose Horticultural  ..........................  900.00


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Wild Rose Horticultural  ..........................  1,200.00


  5285    Building Maintenance  ...................................   Kost Fire Equipment  ...............................  84.00


  5310    Telephone  .....................................................   Bell Mobility  ...........................................  590.84


  5310    Telephone  .....................................................   Shaw Business  ........................................  180.90


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  57.64


  5320    General Office Supplies  .................................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  405.51


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Desjardin Card Services  ..........................  251.53


  5330    Dues & Subscriptions  .....................................   APPI    1,798.38


  5330    Dues & Subscriptions  .....................................   APPI    599.46


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Lethbridge Mobile Shredding  .................  23.00


  5380    Printing & Printing Supplies  ...........................   Paramount Printers  ................................  110.00


  5440    Land Titles Office  ...........................................   Minister of Finance  ................................  218.00


  5500    Subdivision Notification  ................................   Lethbridge Herald ...................................  521.64


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Norm Wilde  ............................................  302.34


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Gaven Moore  .........................................  246.30


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Lloyd Kearl  ..............................................  251.50


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Alan Vaughan  .........................................  192.92


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Lois Johnston  ..........................................  183.64


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Norm Wilde  ............................................  161.60


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Clay Leavitt  .............................................  225.40


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Phil Jensen  ..............................................  150.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Tom Golden  ............................................  1,878.18


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Doug Kemery  ..........................................  862.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   John Willms  ............................................  709.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Georgia‐Lee Debolt  ................................  237.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Dexter Bezooyen  ....................................  250.00


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Leroy Pavan  ............................................  173.20


  5534    Chinook Intermunicipal SDAB  ........................   Jack Van Rijn  ...........................................  270.88


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Digitex  ....................................................  700.00


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Whipcord  ................................................  1,262.80


  5500    Subdivision Notification  ................................   Lethbridge Herald ...................................  521.64


  5570    Equipment Repairs & Maintenance  ..............   Xerox  ......................................................  983.96


  5580    Equipment & Furniture Rental  ......................   Pitney Bowes  ..........................................  297.12
  1160    GST Receivable  ..............................................   GST Receivable  .......................................  491.64


 
        TOTAL  $19,298.51


 
Moved by:  Ian Sundquist 


THAT  the Executive Committee approve  the Office Accounts of November  ($10,726.14) and 
December ($19,298.51) 2019, as presented.  CARRIED 


   







 


2020 ORRSC Executive Committee Minutes  –  Page 6 


(b)  Financial Statements –  


(i)  January 1 ‐ November 30, 2019 
(ii)  January 1 ‐ December 31, 2019 


Moved by: Jim Bester 


THAT  the  Executive  Committee  approve  the  following  unaudited  Financial  Statements,  as 
presented:  


January 1 ‐ November 30, 2019 
January 1 ‐ December 31, 2019  CARRIED 


6.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 


 The Director reported on his activities since the last Executive Committee meeting. 


 ORRSC plans to host both Subdivision and Development Appeal Board and Assessment Review 
Board training sessions in 2020 – dates to be announced. 


7.  EXECUTIVE REPORT 


 Committee  members  reported  on  various  projects  and  activities  in  their  respective 
municipalities. 


8.  ADJOURNMENT 


Moved by:  Gordon Wolstenholme 


THAT we adjourn  the  regular meeting of  the Executive Committee of  the Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission at 8:15 p.m. until Thursday, February 13, 2020 at 6:00 p.m.  CARRIED 


 
 
 
 
 
/bj    CHAIR:  _____________________________________   
 








VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
February 13, 2020 Minutes 


 
The Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting and Land Use Bylaw Public 
Hearing was held at the Glenwood Community Hall on February 13, 2020 
scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance:  Deputy Mayor David Rolfson, Councillors Gerald Carter, Barton 
Lybbert and Myron Lybbert were in attendance. Mayor Albert Elias was absent. 
 
Officials:  CAO Marilee Campbell and Asst CAO Carrie Kinahan were in attendance. 


 
 


 


 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes February 13, 2020 Initials: Page 1 of 3 
 


 


Called to Order 
 
 
 
Prayer 
 
Agenda Adoption 
2020.02.013 
 
 
Minutes Adoption 
2020.02.014 
 
 
 
Land Use Bylaw #192-
2019 - Public Hearing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Councillor Myron Lybbert called the February 13, 2020 Regular 
Council Meeting and Land Use Bylaw Public Hearing to order at 7:05 
PM 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the agenda as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 
2020.01.09 Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
The Land Use Bylaw Public Hearing portion of the meeting began at 
7:06 PM. Planners Mike Burla and Max Kelly from Oldman River 
Regional Services Commission (ORRSC) presented the amended 
Land Use Bylaw #192-2019 for the Village of Glenwood for public 
review and comment. 
 
Present: 


 Deputy Mayor David Rolfson 
 Councillor Myron Lybbert 
 Councillor Barton Lybbert 
 Councillor Gerry Carter 


 
Record of Public Submissions (both written and verbal): 


 Myrna Young 
 Vernene Kutsch 
 Brenda MacMillan 
 Wayne Smith 
 Dennis Otteson 


 
Public Suggestions from the Meeting: 


 Discussion regarding Mayor being absent from the hearing, 
and will not be able to vote on future resolutions on this 
bylaw. 


 Add – “Facility” to several areas of the use table 
 Discussion regarding “Religious Assembly” and it’s purpose 


in this document 
 Add – Block & Lot numbers for lots currently not labeled 
 Discussion regarding tone and tense of the document; 


remove punitive language 
 Utility property (Telus, ATCO) should be public, not 


commercial 
 Discussion regarding empowering development officer, 


rather than all decisions to the Municipal Planning 
Commission and Council 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes February 13, 2020 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Delegations: 
Steve & Melissa Lybbert 
re: Library Manager 
Termination 
 
Items for Discussion: 
Shared Grant approval 
for GIS System with 
Oldman River Regional 
Services Commission 
(ORRSC) 
2020.02.015 
 
 
 
 
Replace damaged 
headstone at Glenwood 
Cemetery 
 
Tax Installment 
Payment Plan Bylaw 
#176-2020 
 
Council & CAO Reports 
Councillor B. Lybbert 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Carter 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CAO Marilee Campbell 
 
 
2020.02.016 
 
 


 Discussion regarding utility right-of-way/road allowance 
ownership by Cardston County 


 
The public hearing portion of the Regular Village Council Meeting 
was concluded at 7:48 PM. A record of written submissions will be 
published on the village website at www.glenwood.ca. 
 
 
 
No resolution on this item. 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor B. Lybbert MOVED that the Village of Glenwood 
participate in an application for the 2020 Oldman River Region GIS 
Enhancement Project submitted by the Town of Coaldale under the 
Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community 
Partnership (ACP) Grant, and further that the Village of Glenwood 
agrees to abide by the terms of the Conditional Grant Agreement, 
governing the purpose and use of the grant funds. 


Carried 
 
 
No resolution on this item. 
 
 
 
No resolution on this item. 
 
 
 


 Glenwood Days scheduled for August 21 & 22, 2020. 
 The Recreation Board is looking for new members and some 


fun new ideas for Glenwood Days. 
 Anyone is welcome to submit ideas to the recreation board 


for Glenwood Days. 
 Cemetery Work Day is scheduled for May 9 or 23, depending 


on weather. More advertising will come out as we get closer 
to the date. 


 Cardston County Emergency Services (CCES) was asking 
about the water pressure at our fire hydrants, so will discuss 
this with the fire department. 


 
 No meetings this month 


 
 Family & Community Support Services (FCSS) has a financial 


surplus this year. 
 


 Attended Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Authority 
(CMRSWA) meeting. Explained the digester machine they are 
looking at. 


 Council asked that Glenwood Library Board prepare a 
statement of information regarding the library manager 
termination. 
 


 No CAO Report this month 
  
Councillor Carter MOVED to accept the councillor and CAO reports 
as information. 


Carried 
 







 


Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes February 13, 2020 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


Financial Reports 
 
 
2020.02.017 
 
 
 
Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2020.02.018 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
2020.02.019 


 Council reviewed the Accounts Payable Cheques for 
December (20190574-20190601) 


 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to accept the financial report as 
information. 


Carried 
 


a) 2019 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 12-04 approved 
b) 2020 AlbertaSW Board Minutes 01-08 approved 
c) 2020-01 Bulletin AlbertaSW 
d) 2020-02 Bulletin AlbertaSW 
e) AHS MOH Information for Municipalities EET cover 


letter_Final 
f) Assessment Year Modifier (AYM) Tables 
g) Board Report - December 2019 
h) DM Signed Letter to CAO'S_AR 99654 
i) February 7, 2020 Highway 3 TDA Report by Bill 


Chapman 
j) January 3, 2020 M&R Minutes 
k) Letter Minister Schweitzer - Policing 
l) M&R Agenda,February 7, 2020 
m) Mayors and Reeves December 2019 - SouthGrow 
n) Mayors and Reeves January 2020 
o) Message from the Minister 
p) Minister letter to Mayors and Reeves 
q) MINUTES Jan 9, 2020 
r) ORRSC Executive Minutes - November 21 2019 
s) Resource - Legalization EET-Information for 


Municipalities- final 
t) RMA District Update - February 2020 
u) Update to Mayors & Reeves February 7, 2020 


 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to accept the correspondence as 
information. 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor M. Lybbert MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 8:55 PM. 


Carried 
 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Chief Administrative Officer 


  
 








 


 


1 
 


 
  


 
 


Prepared for Glenwood Council 


MARCH 9  
 


 
 


Tough Country Communications Ltd. 
Prepared by: Paul McLean 
 


Report to Council 







 


 


2 
 


Executive Summary 


Tough Country Communications Ltd. 
 
Tough Country Communications is a local internet service provider, established in 2008. 
During the last 5 years, Tough Country has grown 120% and now services over 2100 
customers. The service area covers from Fort Macleod, Alberta to Cranbrook, BC., south to the 
United States border and north to Radium, BC. Tough Country maintains over 80 distribution 
points throughout the network and has performed over 1.6 million dollars in new 
infrastructure spending on the network in the last 5 years. 
 
Tough Country offers services to: 
 


• Residential 
- Rural, Town and Villages 


• Resort/Recreation 
- Leading provider in RV and Recreational offering in the service area 


• Commercial and Industrial  
- Large and small scale commercial and industrial clients. 24hr support, custom 


service offerings (i.e. Enmax, TransAlta, Saputo, Rigstar) 
 
In response to the increasing demand for bandwidth, Tough Country has now introduced the 
new “Vmax” internet packages at all our fibre fed towers. With the introduction of Vmax we 
exceed the 50/10mbps objectives of the CRTC at many of our distribution locations. 
 
We would like the opportunity to offer the Vmax services in Glenwood as well as discuss fibre 
to the home opportunities for the village. Currently, we provide services from a location on 
the Saputo facilities in Glenwood through a wireless link to other towers within our network. 
In order to expand services to offer the Vmax packages within Glenwood we require a direct 
fibre link within the community and supporting infrastructure to accomplish the goals for 
improving internet connectivity within the village. 
 







 


 


3 
 


Project Plan 
 
The table outlines the steps that need to be accomplished in order to move forward with a 
plan to accomplish our internet objective within the village: 
 
Point of Presence Approval Obtain approval from Council to establish a 


Point of Presence (POP) in the Glenwood 
Library. Currently there is access to the Axia 
fibre in the library that would facilitate this 
request. We have examined the location with 
Village Administration and believe that we can 
occupy a small area within the library that 
would facilitate this request. 
 


Distribution Site Approval Approval by Council for construction of a 
monopole or telephone pole like structure 
behind the library in order to facilitate both a 
distribution point and a link to the Saputo 
location where Tough Country currently 
distributes the internet. Photos have been 
attached to this document depicting examples 
of monopoles that could be utilized. Further 
discussion with Administration would be done 
with regards to placement, not to impede 
future opportunities for the village.  
 


Review of Fibre Plan Review of Fibre to the Premises design 
document for Glenwood prepared by Tough 
Country Communications and look at funding 
options to fulfill a plan of delivering fibre to the 
premises in Glenwood. Current grant 
opportunity being offered is the CRTC “Closing 
the Divide” Grant Submission. Due March 27, 
2020 
 







 


 


4 
 


Construction of Distribution Site Spring/Summer of 2020, construct distribution 
site at the library. Tough Country 
Communications would cover all costs 
pertaining to the construction of the 
distribution site. 
 


Offer Vmax Services to Village 
Businesses and Residents 


Spring/Summer of 2020 roll out Vmax 
50/20mbps and 30/10mbps package offerings 
to residents in the village. All plans include 
unlimited data and do not require contracts. 
 


Continue Fibre to the Premises 
initiatives 


Contingent on funding availability through 
various levels of government and industry.  


 
 


Understanding Vmax  
 
The following illustration demonstrates the direct connection from the end user to the 
internet. Vmax is delivered through a wireless connection opposed to a direct fibre to the 
home connection, however speed and reliability are significantly improved as the signal is 
direct to the internet opposed to multiple links to reach the internet. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


5 
 


The attached map depicts the proposed Vmax zone for Glenwood. 30mbps and 50mbps high 
speed internet packages are available.  
 
In comparison, the current offering within Glenwood by Tough Country Communications is up 
to 15mpbs. 
 
With the new investment in Glenwood, Tough Country and the introduction of Vmax and 
eventually fibre, we can provide virtually unlimited internet speeds to the community. 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 







 


 


6 
 


 
Tower Examples:  
 
The following photos depict typical monopole structures. Poles come in various lengths 
depending on the intended purpose 
 


  
 
 
Tough Country would further consult with Glenwood Administration on the appropriate 
structure and placement. 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


7 
 


 


Fibre to the Home 
Tough Country Communications has identified Glenwood as an eligible community for funding 
under the Federal Funding criteria set forth by CRTC “Closing the Divide” grant program. 
Tough Country proposes to examine this program as well as other funding options to facilitate 
the objective of delivering fibre to the village.  
 
Tough Country would also provide our own financial contribution and explore municipal 
funding opportunities in order to attract the federal funding being offered by CRTC and to 
demonstrate municipal and industry cooperation in delivering on the project.    
 
Tough Country Communications has commissioned a 
study of the financial investment that would be 
required to roll out fibre to the premises within 
Glenwood. The attached chart provides details on the 
estimated cost. 
 


 
 


Fibre to the Premises - Material and Labour Amount 
      


Outside Plant Cost Summary     
OSP Construction Material    $                         81,782  
OSP Opti-Tap Material    $                         16,618  
POP & Community Cabinet Infrastructure    $                                 -    
OSP Labour & Professional Services   $                       453,030  
  SubTotal OSP  $                       551,430  
  Contingency (5%)  $                         22,652  


  
Total OSP with 


Contingency  $                       574,082  
  PST (7%)                               8,474  
  GST (5%)  $                         28,704  


  
Total OSP Including 


Applicable Taxes  $                       611,259  
      


  
Total Capital Cost OSP 


with Contingency $                       611,259  


  
Total Number of 
Premises Passed                                  131 


  
Core Network Costs 


Per Premise $                           4,666  







 


 


8 
 


 


In Conclusion  
 
Tough Country Communications appreciates the opportunity to present to council our plans 
for the village. We believe that the proposed investments in offering Vmax internet in 
Glenwood will improve the access to the internet for the current residents of the community 
and attract further opportunities for the village. Furthermore, the focus of moving forward on 
the future installation of fibre to the homes and businesses within the village will enhance 
future opportunities for the village.  
 
 
 


 


 


 


“The new digital economy, equalizes access to 
information for everyone, no matter where you live.” 








Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 
March 2020 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD







© 2020 Oldman River Regional Services Commission. Prepared for Village of Glenwood.
This document is protected by Copyright and Trademark and may not be reproduced or modified in any manner, or for any purpose,
except by written permission of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. This document has been prepared for the sole use of
the Municipality addressed and the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. This disclaimer is attached to and forms part of the
document.







VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
in the Province of Alberta 


BYLAW NO. 192-2019 


BEING a bylaw of the Village of Glenwood in the Province of Alberta, to adopt Bylaw No. 192-2019, 
being the municipal Land Use Bylaw. 


WHEREAS the Council of the Village wishes to adopt a new Land Use Bylaw to comply with the land use 
provisions established in the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000, Chapter M-
26, as amended; 


AND WHEREAS the Land Use Bylaw provides for the regulation of the use and development of lands, 
buildings and structures within the Village; 


AND WHEREAS the purpose of the proposed bylaw is: 


o to incorporate the mandatory changes required for land use bylaws prescribed in the Municipal
Government Act;


o to incorporate an expanded number of land use definitions;
o to add additional schedules and appendices that will govern development in the municipality;


AND WHEREAS it is deemed expedient and appropriate for the Village of Glenwood to consider Bylaw 
No. 192-2019 for the above-noted reasons;  


NOW THEREFORE, under the authority and subject to the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, 
Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000, Chapter M-26, as amended, the Council of the Village of Glenwood 
duly assembled does hereby enact the following: 


1. Bylaw No. 218-2006 (Project No. 019-CE-5775A), being the former Land Use Bylaw, and any
amendments thereto are hereby rescinded.


2. Bylaw No. 192-2019 shall come into effect upon third and final reading thereof.
3. Bylaw No. 192-2019 is hereby adopted.


READ a first time this 14th day of November, 2019. 


Elected Official Chief Administrative Officer – Marilee Campbell 


READ a second time this 12th day of March, 2020. 


Elected Official Chief Administrative Officer – Marilee Campbell 


READ a third time and PASSED this 12th day of March, 2020. 


Elected Official Chief Administrative Officer – Marilee Campbell 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | i 


TA
B


LE
 O


F 
C


O
N


TE
N


TS
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 


ADMINISTRATION Page 


GENERAL 


Section 1 Title  ....................................................................................................................  1 
Section 2 Purpose  .............................................................................................................  1 
Section 3 Effective Date  ..................................................................................................  1 
Section 4 Repeal of Former Bylaw  .................................................................................  1 
Section 5 Severability .......................................................................................................  1 
Section 6 Compliance with the Land Use Bylaw  ..........................................................  1 
Section 7 Compliance with Other Legislation  ...............................................................  2 
Section 8 Rules of Interpretation  ...................................................................................  2 
Section 9 Measurements and Standards  ......................................................................  2 
Section 10 Forms, Fees and Notices  ................................................................................  2 
Section 11 Appendices ....................................................................................................... 3 


APPROVING AUTHORITIES 


Section 12 Development Authority  .................................................................................. 3 
Section 13 Development Officer – Powers and Duties .................................................  4 
Section 14 Municipal Planning Commission  ...................................................................  5 
Section 15 Council  ..............................................................................................................  5 
Section 16 Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB)  ................................  5 


DEVELOPMENT IN GENERAL 


Section 17 Land Use Districts  ........................................................................................... 6 
Section 18 Suitability of Sites  ........................................................................................... 6 
Section 19 Number of Dwelling Units on a Parcel  ..........................................................  7 
Section 20 Non-Conforming Buildings and Uses  ...........................................................  7 
Section 21 Development on Non-Conforming Sized Lots  ............................................  7 
Section 22 Non-Conforming Variances  ...........................................................................  7 
Section 23 Development Agreements  ............................................................................  8 


DEVELOPMENT PERMIT RULES AND PROCEDURES 


Section 24 Development Permit – When Required  .......................................................  8 
Section 25 Development Not Requiring a Permit  ...........................................................  9 
Section 26 Development Permit Application  ..................................................................  9 
Section 27 Determination of Complete Development Permit Application  ...............  10 
Section 28 Permitted Use Applications  ..........................................................................  11 
Section 29 Discretionary Use Applications  ...................................................................  12 
Section 30 Similar Use  ......................................................................................................  13 







 


ii | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


TA
B


LE
 O


F 
C


O
N


TE
N


TS
 


Section 31 Temporary Use  ..............................................................................................  14 
Section 32 Applications Requesting Variance of Bylaw Provisions  ..........................  14 
Section 33 Notification of Adjacent Landowners and Persons  


Likely Affected  ...............................................................................................  15 
Section 34 Notice of Decision  .........................................................................................  16 
Section 35 Commencement of Development  ...............................................................  16 
Section 36 Development Permit Validity  .......................................................................  17 
Section 37 Transferability of Development Permit  ......................................................  17 
Section 38 Failure to Make a Decision – Deemed Refusal  ..........................................  18 
Section 39 Reapplication for a Development Permit  ...................................................  18 
Section 40 Suspension or Cancellation of a Permit  .....................................................  18 
Section 41 Development Appeals  ...................................................................................  19 


ENFORCEMENT 


Section 42 Notice of Violation  .........................................................................................  19 
Section 43 Stop Orders  ...................................................................................................  20 
Section 44 Enforcement of Stop Orders  .......................................................................  20 
Section 45 Penalties and Right of Entry  .......................................................................  20 


AMENDMENTS 


Section 46 Amendments to the Land Use Bylaw  .........................................................  21 
Section 47 Land Use Redesignation Application Requirements  ...............................  22 
Section 48 Redesignation Criteria  .................................................................................  23 


SUBDIVISION 


Section 49 Application and Decision  .............................................................................  23 
Section 50 Lot Design  .....................................................................................................  24 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 


Section 51 Recreational Vehicle Requirements ...........................................................  25 


ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS 


Section 52 Administration Definitions  ..........................................................................  25 


Schedule 1 LAND USE DISTRICTS 


Section 1 Division of Municipality  ................................................................................  35 
Section 2 Intent of Land Use Districts  ........................................................................  35 


Schedule 2 USE REGULATION 


Section 1 Use Categories and Specific Uses  ..............................................................  37 
  







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | iii 


TA
B


LE
 O


F 
C


O
N


TE
N


TS
 


Section 2 Use Table  .......................................................................................................  38 
Section 3 Land Use Definitions  .....................................................................................  41 


Schedule 3 DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS AND SETBACKS 


Section 1 Dimensional Standards and Minimum Setbacks  .....................................  55 
Section 2 Minimum Lot Size  .........................................................................................  55 
Section 3 Minimum Setbacks  .......................................................................................  56 
Section 4 Floor Area and Building Height ...................................................................  58 


Schedule 4 DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


Section 1 Development Not Requiring A Permit  ........................................................  61 


Schedule 5 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


Section 1 Statutory Plans  .............................................................................................  63 
Section 2 Approval of Access  ......................................................................................  63 
Section 3 Design and Orientation of Buildings, Structures and Signs  ...................  63 
Section 4 Development of Lands Subject to Subsidence, Undermining  


or Flooding  .....................................................................................................  63 
Section 5 Grading and Stormwater Management  .....................................................  63 
Section 6 Shipping Containers .....................................................................................  64 
Section 7 Telecommunication Antenna Siting Protocols  ........................................  65 


Schedule 6 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


Section 1 Accessory Buildings  ......................................................................................  67 
Section 2 Apartments and Multi-Unit Dwellings  ........................................................  67 
Section 3 Easements  ......................................................................................................  67 
Section 4 Corner Visibility  .............................................................................................  68 
Section 5 Driveways, Off-Street Parking Requirements and Design Standards ..  68 
Section 6 Fences  ............................................................................................................  69 
Section 7 Retaining Walls, Grading and Drainage  .....................................................  69 
Section 8 Site Lighting  ..................................................................................................  69 
Section 9 Refuse Collection and Storage  ...................................................................  70 
Section 10 Servicing  ........................................................................................................  70 
Section 11 Development and Servicing Agreements  .................................................  70 
Section 12 Private Swimming Pools  ...............................................................................  71 
Section 13 Manufactured Homes  ...................................................................................  71 
Section 14 Moved-in Buildings  .......................................................................................  72 


Schedule 7 COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS 


Section 1 Easements  ......................................................................................................  73 
Section 2 Corner Visibility  ..............................................................................................  73 
Section 3 Fencing  ...........................................................................................................  73 







 


iv | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


TA
B


LE
 O


F 
C


O
N


TE
N


TS
 


Section 4 Retaining Walls, Grading and Drainage  ...................................................... 74 
Section 5 Outdoor Display and Storage  ....................................................................... 74 
Section 6 Mitigation of Impacts for Noise, Odors, Vibration, and Air Quality  ......... 74 
Section 7 Accessory Buildings  ......................................................................................  75 
Section 8 Moved-in Buildings  .......................................................................................  75 
Section 9 Gas Bars, Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Stations  ..................................  76 
Section 10 Horticulture or Greenhouses  .......................................................................  76 


Schedule 8 ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


Section 1 Alternative Energy  ........................................................................................  77 


Schedule 9 CANNABIS REGULATION 


Section 1 Definitions  ......................................................................................................  79 
Section 2 Cannabis Retail Store  ...................................................................................  79 
Section 3 Cannabis Production Facility  ......................................................................  80 


APPENDIX A FORMS AND NOTICES 


Form A Application for Development Permit 
Form B Notice of Decision on Application for a Development Permit 
Form C Development Permit – Permitted 
 Development Permit – Discretionary 
Form D Notice of Municipal Planning Commission Meeting 
Form E Application for Time Extension 
Form F Stop Order 
Form G Application for a Land Use Bylaw Amendment 


APPENDIX B TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 


APPENDIX C FEE SCHEDULE 


APPENDIX D LAND USE DISTRICTS MAP 


 







 


 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


ADMINISTRATION 











Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 1 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


 ADMINISTRATION 


GENERAL 


SECTION 1 TITLE 


1.1 This bylaw may be cited as the “Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw.” 


SECTION 2 PURPOSE 


2.1 The purpose of this bylaw is to, amongst other things: 


(a) divide the municipality into districts;


(b) prescribe and regulate the use(s) for each district;


(c) establish a method for making decisions on applications for development
permits and issuing development permits for a development; and


(d) provide the manner in which notice of the issuance of a development
permit is to be given.


SECTION 3 EFFECTIVE DATE 


3.1 This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading thereof. 


SECTION 4 REPEAL OF FORMER BYLAW 


4.1 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 218-2006 (Project No. 019-
CE-5775A) and amendments thereto are hereby repealed. 


SECTION 5 SEVERABILITY 


5.1 If any provision of this bylaw is held to be invalid by a decision of a court of 
competent jurisdiction, that decision will not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions. 


SECTION 6 COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAND USE BYLAW 


6.1 No development, other than those designated in Schedule 4 of this bylaw 
(Development Not Requiring a Permit), shall be undertaken within the Village 
unless a development application has been approved and a development 
permit has been issued. 







 


2 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


6.2 Notwithstanding subsection 6.1, while a development permit may not be 
required pursuant to Schedule 4, development shall comply with all 
regulations of this bylaw.  


SECTION 7 COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LEGISLATION 


7.1 Compliance with the requirements of this bylaw does not exempt any person 
undertaking a development from complying with all applicable municipal, 
provincial or federal legislation, and respecting any easements, covenants, 
agreements or other contracts affecting the land or the development. 


SECTION 8 RULES OF INTERPRETATION 


8.1 Unless otherwise required by the context, words used in the present tense 
include the future tense; words used in the singular include the plural; and 
the word person includes a corporation as well as an individual.  The 
Interpretation Act, Chapter I-8, RSA 2000 as amended, shall be used in the 
interpretation of this bylaw.  Words have the same meaning whether they are 
capitalized or not. 


8.2 The written regulations of this bylaw take precedence over any graphic or 
diagram if there is a perceived conflict. 


8.3 The Land Use Districts Map takes precedence over any graphic or diagram in 
the district regulations if there is a perceived conflict. 


8.4 All references to engineering requirements shall be prepared by an engineer 
registered with The Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists 
of Alberta (APEGA). 


SECTION 9 MEASURMENTS AND STANDARDS 


9.1 All units of measure contained within this bylaw are metric (SI) standards.  
Imperial measurements and conversions are provided for information only. 


SECTION 10 FORMS, FEES AND NOTICES 


10.1 For the purposes of administering the provisions of this bylaw, Council may 
authorize by separate resolution or bylaw as may be applicable, the 
preparation and use of such fee schedules, forms or notices as in its 
discretion it may deem necessary.  Any such fee schedules, forms or notices 
are deemed to have the full force and effect of this bylaw in execution of the 
purpose for which they are designed, authorized and issued. 


 
10.2 Information pertaining to forms, fees, and notices pertaining to this bylaw 


may also be found on the official municipal website: 
https://www.glenwood.ca/.  


10.3 Application forms and notices are included in Appendix A. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 3 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


10.4 Application fees are found in the Village of Glenwood Rates, Fees and 
Charges Bylaw. 


10.5 In any case, where the required fee is not listed in the current Rates, Fees 
and Charges Bylaw, such fee shall be determined by the Development Officer 
or Municipal Planning Commission and shall be consistent with those fees 
listed in the schedule for similar developments. 


10.6 If development is commenced without a valid development permit, a stop 
order will be issued and an additional fee, in the amount prescribed under the 
fee schedule, shall be payable upon application for the development permit.  


10.7 Refund of application fees requires approval of the Village Council. 


SECTION 11 APPENDICES 


11.1 Appendices A through C attached hereto are for informational purposes only 
and may be amended from time to time as they do not form part of the 
Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw. 


 
11.2 Appendix D forms part of the Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw. 


APPROVING AUTHORITIES 


SECTION 12 DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 


12.1 The Development Authority is established in accordance with the current 
Village of Glenwood Subdivision and Development Authority and Municipal 
Planning Commission Bylaws. 


12.2 In the absence of the Development Officer, the following are authorized to 
act in the capacity of Development Officer: 


(a) Municipal Planning Commission; 


(b) Chief Administrative Officer; or 


(c) a designate(s) in accordance with the Municipal Government Act (MGA). 


12.4 The Development Officer is an authorized person in accordance with section 
624 of the Municipal Government Act. 


12.5 The Development Authority shall perform such powers and duties as are 
specified: 


(a) in the Village of Glenwood Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw; 


(b) in this bylaw; 


(c) in the Municipal Government Act;  


(d) where applicable, by resolution of Council. 







 


4 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SECTION 13 DEVELOPMENT OFFICER – POWERS AND DUTIES 


13.1 The office of the Development Officer is hereby established and such office 
shall be filled by one or more persons as appointed by resolution of Council. 


13.2 The Development Officer: 


(a) shall receive and process all applications for development permits; 


(b) shall maintain for the inspection of the public during office hours, a copy 
of this bylaw and all amendments thereto and ensure that copies of the 
same are available for public purchase, as outlined in the current Rates, 
Fees and Charges Bylaw. 


(c) shall also establish and maintain a register in which shall be recorded the 
application made for a development permit and the decision made on the 
application, and contain any such other information as the Municipal 
Planning Commission considers necessary; 


(d) shall consider and decide on applications for a development permit for: 


(i) permitted uses that comply with this Land Use Bylaw; 


(ii) permitted uses that request one (1) variance of a measurable standard 
not to exceed 10 percent;  


(iii) permitted uses on existing registered lots where the Municipal Planning 
Commission granted a variance(s) to the minimum lot width, length 
and/or area requirements as part of a subdivision approval (see Section 
16);  


(iv) landscaping; 


(v) fences, walls or other types of enclosures; and 


(vi) demolition;  


(e) shall refer to the Municipal Planning Commission all development permit 
applications for which decision making authority has not been assigned 
to the Development Officer; 


(f) may refer any development application to the Municipal Planning 
Commission for a decision and may refer any other planning or 
development matter to the Municipal Planning Commission for its review, 
comment or advice; 


(g) shall notify adjacent landowners and any persons who are likely to be 
affected by a proposed development in accordance with Section 33 of 
this bylaw; 


(h) shall receive, review, and refer any applications to amend this bylaw to 
Council; 


(i) shall issue the written notice of decision and/or development permit on 
all development permit applications and any other notices, decisions or 
orders in accordance with Section 34 of this bylaw; 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 5 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(j) may receive and consider and decide on requests for time extensions for 
development permits which the Development Officer has approved and 
shall refer to the Municipal Planning Commission those requests which 
the Municipal Planning Commission has approved; 


(k) shall provide a regular report to the Municipal Planning Commission 
summarizing the applications made for a development permit and the 
decision made on the applications, and any other information as the 
Municipal Planning Commission considers necessary; and 


(l) shall perform any other powers and duties as are specified in this bylaw, 
the Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw, the Municipal Government 
Act or by resolution of Council. 


SECTION 14 MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION  


14.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may exercise only such powers and 
duties as are specified in the Municipal Government Act, the Municipal 
Planning Commission Bylaw, this bylaw, or by resolution of Council. 


14.2 The Municipal Planning Commission shall be responsible for: 


(a) considering and deciding upon development permit applications referred 
to it by the Development Officer; 


(b) providing recommendations on planning and development matters 
referred to it by the Development Officer or Council; 


(c) considering and deciding upon requests for time extensions on 
development permit applications referred to it by the Development 
Officer;  


(d) considering and deciding upon applications for subdivision approval; 


(e) processing condominium certificates; and 


(f) time extensions for subdivision; 


(g) any other powers and duties as are specified in this bylaw, the Municipal 
Planning Commission Bylaw, the Municipal Government Act or by 
resolution of Council. 


SECTION 15 COUNCIL 


15.1 Council may be responsible for considering and deciding upon requests for 
time extensions on subdivision approvals in accordance with section 657 of 
the Municipal Government Act.  


SECTION 16 SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD (SDAB) 


16.1 The Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB) is established by 
separate bylaw pursuant to the Municipal Government Act, and may exercise 
such powers and duties as are specified in this bylaw, the MGA and the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board Bylaw. 







 


6 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


DEVELOPMENT IN GENERAL  


SECTION 17  LAND USE DISTRICTS  


17.1 The Village of Glenwood is divided into those land use districts shown in 
Schedule 1 on the Land Use Districts Map.  


17.2 The one or more uses of land or buildings that are:  


(a) permitted uses in each district, with or without conditions; and/or  


(b) discretionary uses in each district, with or without conditions;  


described in Schedule 2 – Use Table 2.2.1.  


17.3 A land use that is not listed as a permitted or discretionary use but which is 
reasonably similar in character and purpose to a permitted or discretionary 
use in that district may be deemed a similar use by the Development 
Authority in accordance with Section 30 Similar Use.  


17.4 A land use not listed as a permitted or discretionary use or not deemed a 
similar use, in a district is a prohibited use and shall be refused.  


SECTION 18 SUITABILITY OF SITES 


18.1 Notwithstanding that a use of land may be permitted or discretionary or 
considered similar in nature to a permitted or discretionary use in a land use 
district, the Development Authority, as applicable, may refuse to approve a 
subdivision or issue a development permit if the Development Authority is 
made aware of or if in their opinion, the site of the proposed building or use is 
not safe or suitable based on the following:  


(a) does not have safe legal and physical access to a maintained road in 
accordance with the Land Use Bylaw, other municipal requirements or 
those of Alberta Transportation if within 300 m (984 ft) of a provincial 
highway or 800 m (2,625 ft) from the centre point of an intersection of a 
controlled highway and a public road; 


(b) has a high water table or soil conditions which make the site unsuitable 
for foundations and/or sewage disposal systems in accordance with the 
provincial regulations; 


(c) is situated on an unstable slope; 


(d) consists of unconsolidated material unsuitable for building; 


(e) does not comply with the requirements of the Provincial Land Use 
Policies, Regional Plan, Subdivision and Development Regulation or any 
other applicable Statutory Plans; 


(f) is situated over an active or abandoned coal mine or oil or gas well or 
pipeline; 


(g) is unsafe due to contamination by previous land uses; 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 7 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(h) does not meet the minimum setback requirements from a sour gas well 
or bulk ammonia storage facility; 


(i) does not have adequate water and sewer provisions; 


(j) does not meet the lot size and/or setback requirements or any other 
applicable standards or requirements of the Village of Glenwood Land 
Use Bylaw; 


(k) is subject to any easement, caveat, restrictive covenant or other 
registered encumbrance which makes it impossible to build on the site. 


18.2 Nothing in this section shall prevent the Development Officer or Municipal 
Planning Commission, as applicable, from issuing a development permit if 
satisfied that there is no risk to persons or property or that these concerns 
will be met by appropriate engineering measures or other mitigating 
measures and approvals from provincial and/or federal agencies have been 
obtained, as applicable. 


SECTION 19 NUMBER OF DWELLING UNITS ON A PARCEL  


19.1 No more than one dwelling unit shall be constructed or located or caused to 
be constructed or located on a parcel except as provided for in the land use 
district for which the application is made (e.g. duplex dwellings, multi-unit 
dwellings, manufactured home park, secondary suite, as permitted in the 
applicable land use district). 


19.2 Two or more dwellings are discretionary. 


SECTION 20 NON-CONFORMING BUILDINGS AND USES 


20.1 A non-conforming building or use may only be continued in accordance with 
the conditions detailed in section 643 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SECTION 21 DEVELOPMENT ON NON-CONFORMING SIZED LOTS 


21.1 Development on an existing registered non-conforming sized lot that does 
not meet the minimum requirements for lot length, width or area specified in 
the applicable land use district in Schedule 2 may be permitted at the 
discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission. 


21.2 The Development Officer is authorized to permit development on existing 
registered non-conforming sized lots for permitted uses where the Municipal 
Planning Commission issued a variance(s) to the minimum requirements for 
lot length, width and/or area as part of a subdivision approval. 


SECTION 22 NON-CONFORMING VARIANCES 


22.1 The Municipal Planning Commission is authorized to exercise minor variance 
powers with respect to non-conforming buildings pursuant to section 
643(5)(c) of the Municipal Government Act.  







 


8 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SECTION 23 DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS 


23.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a 
development, as a condition of issuing a development permit, the applicant 
enter into an agreement with the municipality, pursuant to section 650(1) of 
the Municipal Government Act, to do any or all of the following:  


(a) to construct or pay for the construction of a road required to give access 
to the development: including culverts and other drainage; 


(b) to install or pay for the installation of public utilities, that are necessary 
to serve the development;  


(c) to construct or pay for the construction of off-street, or other parking 
facilities and/or loading and unloading facilities;  


(d) to pay an off-site levy or redevelopment levy; 


(e) to give security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this 
section are carried out. 


23.2 The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a 
subdivision that as a condition of issuing an approval for a subdivision, the 
applicant enter into an agreement with the municipality, pursuant to section 
655(1)(b) of the Municipal Government Act.  


23.3 An agreement referred to in this section may require the applicant for a 
development permit or subdivision approval to oversize improvements in 
accordance with section 651 of the Municipal Government Act.   


23.4 A municipality may register a caveat under the Land Titles Act with respect 
to an agreement under this section against the certificate of title for the land 
that is the subject of the development, or for the parcel of land that is the 
subject of the subdivision.  


23.5 If a municipality registers a caveat under this section, the municipality must 
discharge the caveat when the agreement has been complied with.  


23.6 As a condition of subdivision approval, all development agreements may be 
registered concurrently by caveat onto individual lots being created.  


DEVELOPMENT PERMIT RULES AND PROCEDURES  


SECTION 24 DEVELOPMENT PERMIT – WHEN REQUIRED 


24.1 Except as otherwise provided for in Schedule 4 (Development Not Requiring 
a Permit), all development shall be required to obtain a development permit. 


24.2 In addition to meeting the requirements of this bylaw, it is the responsibility 
of the applicant to ascertain, obtain and comply with all other approvals and 
licenses that may be required by other federal, provincial or municipal 
regulatory departments or agencies. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 9 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SECTION 25 DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


25.1 This section does not negate the requirement of obtaining all required 
permits, as applicable, under the Safety Codes Act and any other Provincial 
or Federal statute.  Applicants shall provide copies of the required permits to 
the municipality. 


25.2 This section does not negate the requirement of obtaining a business license 
where required. 


25.3 Developments not requiring a permit are listed in Schedule 4. 


25.4 If there is a question as to whether a development permit is required for a 
particular use, the matter shall be referred to the Municipal Planning 
Commission for a determination. 


SECTION 26 DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 


26.1 An application for a development permit shall be made to the Development 
Officer by submitting:  


(a) a completed development permit application, signed by the registered 
owner or authorized by the owner pursuant to subsection 26.2; 


(b) the prescribed fee, as set by Council in the Village of Glenwood Rates, 
Fees and Charges Bylaw; 


(c) a description of the existing and proposed use of the land, building(s) 
and/or structures and whether it is a new development, an 
alteration/addition, relocation or change of use and whether the use is 
temporary in nature; 


(d) a site plan acceptable to the Development Officer indicating: 
(i) the location of all existing and proposed buildings and structures 


and registered easements or rights-of-way, dimensioned to property 
lines and drawn to a satisfactory scale; 


(ii) existing and proposed parking and loading areas, driveways, 
abutting streets, avenues and lanes, and surface drainage patterns; 


(iii) where applicable, the location of existing wells, septic tanks, 
disposal fields, culverts and crossings; 


(iv) any additional information as may be stipulated in the standards of 
development; 


(v) any such other information as may be required by the Development 
Officer or Municipal Planning Commission to evaluate an application 
including but not limited to: conceptual design schemes, 
landscaping plans, building plans, drainage plans, servicing and 
infrastructure plans, soil analysis, geotechnical reports and/or other 
reports regarding site suitability, Real Property Report, or a 
surveyors sketch. 







 


10 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


26.2 An application for a development permit must be made by the registered 
owner of the land on which the development is proposed.  An application may 
be made by a person who is not the registered owner of the land only with 
written consent of the owner.  The Development Officer may request a 
current title documenting ownership and copies of any registered 
encumbrance, lien or interest registered on title. 


SECTION 27 DETERMINATION OF COMPLETE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 


27.1 Where the Development Officer or Municipal Planning Commission finds that 
a development or use of land or buildings is not in accordance with the 
Municipal Government Act, the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a 
development permit or subdivision approval, or this bylaw, the Development 
Officer may issue a notice of violation to the registered owner or the person 
in possession of the land or buildings or to the person responsible for the 
contravention. 


27.2 A Development Officer shall, within 20 days after the receipt of an 
application, determine whether the application is complete. 


27.3 An application is complete if, in the opinion of the Development Officer, the 
application contains the documents and other information necessary to 
review the application. 


27.4 The time period referred to in subsection 27.1 may be extended by an 
agreement in writing between the applicant and the Development Officer. 


27.5 If the Development Officer does not make a determination referred to in 
subsection 27.1 within the time required under subsection 27.1, the 
application is deemed to be complete. 


27.6 If a Development Officer determines that the application is complete, the 
Development Officer shall issue to the applicant a written Notice of 
Completeness acknowledging that the application is complete, delivered by 
hand, mail or electronic means. 


27.7 If the Development Officer determines that the application is incomplete, the 
Development Officer shall issue to the applicant a written notice indicating 
that the application is incomplete and specifying the outstanding documents 
and information to be provided.  A submittal deadline for the outstanding 
documents and information shall be set out in the notice.  A later date may 
be agreed on between the applicant and the Development Officer in writing 
to extend the deadline. 


27.8 When the Development Officer determines that the information and 
documents required to be submitted under subsection 26.1 are complete, the 
Development Officer shall issue to the applicant a written Notice of 
Completeness acknowledging that the application is complete, delivered by 
hand, mail or electronic means. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 11 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


27.9 If the required documents and information under subsection 26.1 have not 
been submitted to the Development Officer within the timeframe prescribed 
in the notice issued under subsection 27.8, the Development Officer shall 
return the application to the applicant accompanied by a written Notice of 
Refusal stating the application is deemed refused and the reasons for 
refusal. 


27.10 Despite issuance of a Notice of Completeness under subsection 27.8, the 
Development Officer in the course of reviewing the application may request 
additional information or documentation from the applicant that the 
Development Officer considers necessary to review the application. 


27.11 The Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may refuse 
to accept a development permit application where the information required 
by subsection 26.1 (Development Permit Application) is incomplete or where, 
in its opinion, the quality of the material supplied is inadequate to properly 
evaluate the application. 


SECTION 28 PERMITTED USE APPLICATIONS 


28.1 Upon receipt of a completed application for a development permit for a 
permitted use that conforms with this bylaw, the Development Officer:  


(a) shall approve a development permit with or without conditions; or  


(b) may refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision. 


28.2 Upon receipt of a completed application for a permitted use that requests a 
limited variance not to exceed 10 percent of one measurable standard of this 
bylaw, the Development Officer:  


(a) may grant the limited variance not to exceed 10 percent of one 
measurable standard of this bylaw and approve the development permit 
with or without conditions if, in the opinion of the Development Officer, 
the variance would not unduly interfere with the amenities of the 
neighbourhood or materially interfere with or affect the use, enjoyment 
or value of neighbouring parcels of land; or 


(b) may refer the development application involving a request for a limited 
variance not to exceed 10 percent of one measurable standard of this 
bylaw to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision; 


(c) is required to notify adjacent landowners or persons likely to be affected 
prior to issuance of a decision on a development permit granting a 
limited variance under this section. 


28.3 Upon receipt of a completed application for a permitted use that requests 
more than one limited variance, a variance(s) exceeding 10 percent of any 
measurable standard of this bylaw, or a variance of any other bylaw provision 
the Development Officer shall refer the application to the Municipal Planning 







 


12 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


Commission for a decision pursuant to Section 32 (Applications Requesting 
Variance of Bylaw Provisions). 


28.4 The Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may place 
any of the following conditions on a development permit for a permitted use:  


(a) requirement for applicant to enter into a development agreement;  


(b) payment of any applicable off-site levy or redevelopment levy;  


(c) geotechnical investigation to ensure that the site is suitable in terms of 
topography, soil characteristics, flooding,  subsidence, mass wasting and 
erosion;  


(d) alteration of a structure or building size or location to ensure any setback 
requirements of this land use bylaw or the Subdivision and Development 
Regulation can be met;  


(e) any measures to ensure compliance with the requirements of this land 
use bylaw or any other statutory plan adopted by the Village of 
Glenwood;  


(f) easements and/or encroachment agreements;  


(g) provision of public utilities, other than telecommunications systems or 
works, and vehicular and pedestrian access;  


(h) repairs or reinstatement of original condition of any street furniture, 
curbing, sidewalk, boulevard landscaping and tree planting which may be 
damaged or destroyed or otherwise altered by development or building 
operations upon the site, to the satisfaction of the Development Officer 
or the Municipal Planning Commission;  


(i) to give security to ensure the terms of the permit approval under this 
section are carried out; As outlined in the Rate, Fees and Charges Bylaw. 


(j) time periods stipulating completion of development;  


(k) requirement for a lot and/or construction stakeout conducted by an 
approved surveyor or agent;  


(l) any measures to ensure compliance with applicable federal, provincial 
and/or other municipal legislation and approvals. 


SECTION 29 DISCRETIONARY USE APPLICATIONS 


29.1 Upon receipt of a completed application for a development permit for a 
discretionary use or a permitted use that requests more than one variance, a 
variance(s) exceeding 10 percent of any measurable standard of this bylaw, 
or a variance of any other bylaw provision, the Development Officer shall:  


(a) refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision 
pursuant to Section 32 (Applications Requesting Variance of Bylaw 
Provisions);  







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 13 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(b) notify adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be affected in 
accordance with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and 
Persons Likely Affected). 


29.2 After consideration of any response to the notifications of adjacent 
landowners and other persons likely to be affected, including Cardston 
County, government departments and referral agencies as applicable, 
compatibility and suitability of the proposed use, and any other matters, the 
Municipal Planning Commission may:  


(a) approve a development permit with or without conditions; or 


(b) refuse to approve the development permit, stating reasons. 


29.3 The Municipal Planning Commission may place any of the conditions 
stipulated in subsection 28.4 (Permitted Use Applications) on a development 
permit for a discretionary use in any land use district, in addition to any other 
conditions necessary to ensure the quality, suitability and compatibility of a 
development with other existing and approved uses in the area.  


SECTION 30 SIMILAR USE 


30.1 Upon receipt of an application for a development permit for a use that is not 
specifically listed in any land use district, but which may be similar in 
character and purpose to other uses of land and structures in the land use 
district in which such use is proposed, the Development Officer may classify 
the use as either similar to a permitted use or similar to a discretionary use. 


30.2 Where a use has been classified similar to a permitted use, the Development 
Officer may process the application accordingly as a permitted use or refer 
the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a decision.  The 
notice of the decision shall be subject to subsection 34.2. 


30.3 Where a use has been classified similar to a permitted use and requests more 
than one limited variance, a variance(s) exceeding 10 percent of any 
measurable standard of this bylaw, or a variance of any other bylaw 
provision, the Development Officer shall: 


(a) refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision; and 


(b) notify adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be affected in 
accordance with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and 
Persons Likely Affected). 


30.4 Where a use has been classified similar to a discretionary use the 
Development Officer shall:  


(a) refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision; and 







 


14 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(b) notify adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be affected in 
accordance with Section 33 (Notification of Adjacent Landowners and 
Persons Likely Affected). 


30.5 Upon referral of an application by the Development Officer for a use that may 
be similar in character and purpose to a permitted or discretionary use, the 
Municipal Planning Commission: 


(a) shall rule whether or not the proposed use is similar to a use in the land 
use district in which it is proposed; 


(b) if the proposed use is deemed similar to a use in the land use district in 
which it is proposed, the application shall be reviewed as a discretionary 
use application; 


(c) if the proposed use is not deemed similar to a use in the land use district 
in which it is proposed, the development permit shall be refused. 


SECTION 31 TEMPORARY USE 


31.1 Where in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, a proposed use is 
of a temporary nature, it may approve a temporary development permit valid 
for a period of up to one year for a use, provided the use is listed as a 
permitted use, discretionary use or deemed similar to a permitted or 
discretionary use in the applicable land use district. 


31.2 Temporary use applications shall be subject to the following conditions: 


(a) the applicant or developer is liable for any costs involved in the cessation 
or removal of any development at the expiration of the permitted period; 


(b) the Municipal Planning Commission may require the applicant to submit 
an irrevocable letter of credit, performance bond or other acceptable 
form of security guaranteeing the cessation or removal of the temporary 
use; and 


(c) any other conditions as deemed necessary. 


31.3 A use deemed temporary in nature shall be processed in accordance with the 
corresponding Sections 29-32 of this bylaw.  Notification of adjacent 
landowners and other persons likely to be affected, including Cardston 
County, government departments and referral agencies shall be in 
accordance with Section 33 of this bylaw. 


SECTION 32 APPLICATIONS REQUESTING VARIANCE OF BYLAW PROVISIONS 


32.1 Upon receipt of an application for a development permit that does not 
comply with this bylaw but in respect of which the Municipal Planning 
Commission is requested to exercise discretion under subsection 32.3, the 
Development Officer shall:  


(a) refer the application to the Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision; and 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 15 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(b) notify adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be affected, 
including Cardston County, government departments and any other 
referral agency in accordance with Section 33. 


32.2 The Municipal Planning Commission is authorized to decide upon an 
application for a development permit notwithstanding that the proposed 
development does not comply with this bylaw, if in the opinion of the 
Municipal Planning Commission, the proposed development would not: 


(a) unduly interfere with the amenities of the neighbourhood; or 


(b) materially interfere with or affect the use, enjoyment or value of 
neighbouring properties; 


(c) and the proposed development conforms with the use prescribed for 
that land or building within Schedule 2 – Use Regulation. 


32.3 Notify all who originally showed concern. 


SECTION 33 NOTIFICATION OF ADJACENT LANDOWNERS AND PERSONS LIKELY 
 AFFECTED 


33.1 Where notification of adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be 
affected is required under Sections 29 to 32, and 49, the Development 
Officer shall: 


(a) mail (postal service or electronic) written notice of the application at 
least ten (10) days before the meeting of the Municipal Planning 
Commission to: 
(i) adjacent landowners and other persons likely to be affected by the 


issuance of a development permit;  
(ii) Cardston County if, in the opinion of the Development Officer or the 


Municipal Planning Commission, the proposed development could 
have an impact upon land uses in the County or is adjacent to the 
County boundary; and 


(iii) any other persons, government departments or referral agency that 
is deemed to be affected; or 


(b) hand deliver written notice of the application at least five (5) days before 
the meeting of the Municipal Planning Commission to the persons and 
agencies specified in subsection 33.1(a); or 


(c) publish a notice of the application in a newspaper circulating in the 
municipality or the Village newsletter at least ten (10) days before the 
meeting of the Municipal Planning Commission to the persons and 
agencies specified in subsection 33.1(a); or 


(d) post a notice of the application in a conspicuous place on the property at 
least five (5) days before the meeting of the Municipal Planning 
Commission to the persons and agencies specified in subsection 33.1(a); 
or 


(e) any combination of the above. 







 


16 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


33.2 In all cases, notification shall: 


(a) describe the nature and location of the proposed use or development; 


(b) state the place and time where the Municipal Planning Commission will 
meet to consider the application, and state how and when written or oral 
submissions on the application will be received and considered; 


(c) specify the location at which the application can be inspected. 


SECTION 34 NOTICE OF DECISION 


34.1 A decision of the Development Authority on an application for a development 
permit must be issued: 


(a) in writing to the applicant in accordance with subsection 34.2; and 


(b) a copy of the decision posted in a prominent place in the Village office 
for 21 days or posted in a newspaper circulated within the municipality or 
published on the official municipal website; and/or 


(c) a copy of the decision sent by mail (postal service or electronic mail to 
those originally notified of the development permit application and any 
other person, government department or agency that may in the opinion 
of the Development Officer, likely be affected. 


34.2 The Development Officer will give or send by mail (postal service or electronic 
mail) a copy of the decision, which specifies the date on which the decision 
was made, to the applicant on the same day the decision is made. 


34.3 For the purpose of subsection 34.2, the “date on which the decision was 
made” means: 


(a) the date the Development Officer signed the notice of decision or 
development permit; or 


(b) the date the decision is posted in the newspaper, whichever occurs later.  


SECTION 35 COMMENCEMENT OF DEVELOPMENT 


35.1 Despite the issuance of a development permit, no development is authorized 
to commence until the appeal period has expired in compliance with the 
following:  


Permitted Uses 


(a) where the notice of decision is posted in the Village Office, development 
shall not commence until 21 days after the date on which the written 
decision is given under section 642 of the Municipal Government Act; 


Discretionary Uses or Applications for Waivers 


(b) where the notice of decision is mailed to adjacent landowners and other 
persons likely to be affected, development shall not commence until at 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 17 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


least 21 days after the date on which the written decision is given under 
section 642 of the Municipal Government Act; 


(c) where the notice of decision is published in the newspaper, development 
shall not commence until at least 21 days from the date of publication. 


35.2 If an appeal is made, no development is authorized pending the outcome of 
the appeal. 


35.3 Any development occurring prior to the dates determined under subsection 
35.1 and 35.2 is at the risk of the applicant. 


SECTION 36 DEVELOPMENT PERMIT VALIDITY 


36.1 Unless a development permit is suspended or cancelled, the development 
must be commenced and carried out with reasonable diligence in the opinion 
of the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission within 12 
months from the date of issuance of the permit, otherwise the permit is no 
longer valid. 


36.2 An application to extend the validity of a development permit may be made 
at any time prior to the expiration of the approved permit in accordance with 
subsection 36.3, except for a permit for a temporary use which shall not be 
extended. 


36.3 Upon receipt of a request to extend the validity of a development permit, the 
validity of a development permit may be extended for up to a period of one 
year by: 


(a) the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission if the 
permit was issued by the Development Officer; 


(b) the Municipal Planning Commission if the permit was issued by the 
Municipal Planning Commission or approved on appeal by the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board. 


36.4 When any use has been discontinued for a period of 12 months or more, any 
development permit that may have been issued is no longer valid and said 
use may not be recommenced until a new application for a development 
permit has been made and a new development permit issued.  This time 
period does not apply to non-conforming uses which are regulated under 
section 643 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SECTION 37 TRANSFERABILITY OF DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


37.1 A valid development permit is transferable where the use remains 
unchanged and the development is affected only by a change of ownership, 
tenancy, or occupancy. 


  







 


18 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SECTION 38 FAILURE TO MAKE A DECISION – DEEMED REFUSAL 


38.1 In accordance with section 684 of the Municipal Government Act, an 
application for a development permit shall, at the option of the applicant, be 
deemed to be refused when the decision of the Development Officer or the 
Municipal Planning Commission, as the case may be, is not made within 40 
days of receipt of the completed application unless the applicant has entered 
into an agreement with the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning 
Commission to extend the 40-day decision period. 


SECTION 39 REAPPLICATION FOR A DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


39.1 If an application for a development permit is refused by the Development 
Officer, the Municipal Planning Commission or, on appeal the Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board, the submission of another application for a 
development permit on the same parcel of land for the same or for a similar 
use of the land may not be accepted by the Development Officer for at least 
six months after the date of refusal. 


39.2 If an application was refused solely because it did not comply with the 
standards of this bylaw, the Development Officer may accept another 
application on the same parcel of land for the same or similar use before the 
time period referred to in subsection 40.1 has lapsed, provided the 
application has been modified to comply with this bylaw. 


SECTION 40 SUSPENSION OR CANCELLATION OF A PERMIT 


40.1 If after a development permit has been issued, the Development Officer or 
the Municipal Planning Commission determines that: 


(a) the application contained a misrepresentation; 


(b) facts were not disclosed which should have been at the time of 
consideration of the application for the development permit; 


(c) the development permit was issued in error; or 


(d) the applicant withdrew the application by way of written notice; 


the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may suspend 
or cancel the development permit by notice in writing to the holder of it 
stating the reasons for any suspension or cancellation. 


40.2 Upon receipt of the written notification of suspension or cancellation, the 
applicant must cease all development and activities to which the 
development permit relates. 


40.3 A person whose development permit is suspended or cancelled under this 
section may appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 
21 days after written notice is provided in respect of the suspension or 
cancellation. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 19 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


40.4 If a development permit is suspended or cancelled, the Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board shall review the application if an appeal is filed by 
the applicant and either:  


(a) reinstate the development permit; or 


(b) cancel the development permit if the Development Officer or the 
Municipal Planning Commission would not have issued the development 
permit if the facts subsequently disclosed had been known during the 
consideration of the application; or 


(c) reinstate the development permit and may impose such other conditions 
as are considered necessary to ensure that the development is 
compliant with this bylaw or any statutory plan. 


40.5 The applicant or developer is liable for any costs involved in the cessation or 
removal of any development when development permit is canceled or 
suspended. 


SECTION 41 DEVELOPMENT APPEALS 


41.1 Any person applying for a development permit or any other person affected 
by an order, decision or development permit made or issued by the 
Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may appeal such 
an order or decision to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 
21 days after the date written notice is provided in accordance with the 
procedures described in section 678.2 of the Municipal Government Act. 


41.2 An appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board shall be 
commenced by serving a written notice of the appeal with reasons to the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board and shall be accompanied by the 
applicable fees. 


41.3 The applicant or developer is liable for any costs involved in the cessation or 
removal of any development when the appeal is denied. 


ENFORCEMENT  


SECTION 42 NOTICE OF VIOLATION 


42.1 Where the Development Officer or Municipal Planning Commission finds that 
a development or use of land or buildings is not in accordance with the 
Municipal Government Act, the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a 
development permit or subdivision approval, or this bylaw, the Development 
Officer may issue a notice of violation to the registered owner or the person 
in possession of the land or buildings or to the person responsible for the 
contravention. 


42.2 Such notice shall state the following: 


(a) nature of the violation; 







 


20 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(b) corrective measures required to comply; and 


(c) time period within which such corrective measures must be performed. 


SECTION 43 STOP ORDERS 


43.1 As set forth in the Municipal Government Act, the Municipal Planning 
Commission is authorized to issue an Order under section 645 of the MGA if a 
development, land use or use of a building is not in accordance with the MGA, 
the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a development permit or 
subdivision approval, or this bylaw. 


43.2 A person who receives notice pursuant to subsection 43.1 may appeal the 
order to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board within 21 days in 
accordance with section 686 of the MGA. 


SECTION 44 ENFORCEMENT OF STOP ORDERS 


44.1 Pursuant to the Municipal Government Act section 645, if a person fails or 
refuses to comply with an order directed to the person under section 645, or 
an order of a subdivision and development appeal board under section 687, 
the designated officer may, in accordance with section 542, enter on the land 
or building and take any action necessary to carry out the order. 


44.2 The Development Officer may register a caveat under the Land Titles Act in 
respect of an order referred to in subsection 44.1 against the certificate of 
title for the land that is the subject of an order. 


44.3 If a caveat is registered under subsection 44.2, the Development Officer 
must discharge the caveat when the order has been complied with.  


44.4 If compliance with a stop order is not voluntarily effected, the Development 
Officer may undertake legal action, including but not limited to, seeking 
injunctive relief from the Alberta Court of Queen’s Bench pursuant to section 
554 of the Municipal Government Act.  In accordance with section 553 of the 
MGA, the expenses and costs of carrying out an order under section 646 of 
the MGA may be added to the tax roll of the parcel of land. 


SECTION 45 PENALTIES AND RIGHT OF ENTRY 


45.1 Any person who contravenes any provision of this bylaw is guilty of an 
offence in accordance with Part 13, Division 5, Offences and Penalties of the 
Municipal Government Act and is liable to a fine of not more than $10,000 or 
to imprisonment for not more than one year or to both fine and 
imprisonment. 


45.2 In accordance with section 542 of the Municipal Government Act, a 
designated officer may, after giving reasonable notice to and obtaining 
consent from the owner or occupier of land upon which this bylaw or MGA 
authorizes anything to be inspected, remedied or enforced or done by a 
municipality: 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 21 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(a) enter on that land at a reasonable time and carry out inspection, 
enforcement, or action authorized or required by the enactment or 
bylaw; 


(b) request anything to be produced to assist in the inspection, remedy, 
enforcement or action; and 


(c) make copies of anything related to the inspection, remedy, enforcement 
or action. 


45.3 If a person refuses to grant consent or refuses to produce anything to assist 
in the inspection, remedy, enforcement or action referred to in section 542 of 
the Municipal Government Act, the municipality under the authority of 
section 543 of the MGA may obtain a court order. 


AMENDMENTS 


SECTION 46 AMENDMENTS TO THE LAND USE BYLAW 


46.1 Any person or the Village may initiate amendments to the Village of 
Glenwood Land Use Bylaw by submitting an application to the Development 
Officer. 


46.2 All applications for amendment shall be submitted using the applicable form 
in Appendix A, and be accompanied by any additional information, as deemed 
necessary by the Development Officer to process the application. 


46.3 The Development Officer may refuse to accept an application if the 
information supplied is not sufficient to make a proper evaluation of the 
proposed amendment. 


46.4 Council or the Development Officer may refer the application to the Municipal 
Planning Commission for their recommendation. 


46.5 The Development Officer shall forward an application to Council for 
consideration when satisfied that sufficient information has been provided 
with the application. 


46.6 Public hearing and notification requirements shall be in accordance with 
section 692 of the Municipal Government Act. 


46.7 Where an application for an amendment to the Village of Glenwood Land Use 
Bylaw has been refused by Council, another application that is the same or 
similar in nature shall not be accepted until at least 12 months after the date 
of refusal. 


46.8 Where an application has been significantly changed, Village Council may 
accept an application prior to the end of the 12-month period specified in 
subsection 46.7. 







 


22 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SECTION 47 LAND USE REDESIGNATION APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS  


47.1 A request for redesignation from one land use district to another shall be 
accompanied by:  


(a) a completed application form and the applicable fee; 


(b) a copy of the Certificate of Title for the lands, dated not more than 60 
days prior to the date on which the application was made; 


(c) a narrative describing the: 
(i) proposed designation and future uses(s); 
(ii) consistency with the applicable statutory plans; 
(iii) compatibility of the proposal with surrounding uses and zoning; 


development potential/suitability of the site, including identification 
of any constraints and/or hazard areas (e.g. easements, soil 
conditions, topography, drainage, floodplain, steep slopes, etc.); 


(iv) availability of facilities and services (sewage disposal, domestic 
water, gas, electricity, fire and police protection, schools, etc.) to 
serve the subject property while maintaining adequate levels of 
service to existing development; 


(v) any potential impacts on public roads; and 
(vi) any other information deemed necessary by the Development 


Officer, Municipal Planning Commission, or Council to properly 
evaluate the proposal. 


(d) conceptual lot design, if applicable; 


(e) a geotechnical report as deemed necessary by the Development Officer, 
Municipal Planning Commission, or Council addressing the following but 
not limited to:  
(i) slope stability,  
(ii) groundwater,  
(iii) sewage,  
(iv) water table, and 
(v) flood plain analysis,  
(vi) an evaluation of surface drainage which may include adjacent 


properties; and 


(f) any other information deemed necessary by the Development Officer, 
Municipal Planning Commission, or Council to properly evaluate the 
application.  


47.2 An Area Structure Plan or Conceptual Design Scheme shall be required in 
conjunction with a redesignation application when re-designating annexed 
land to a district, except where an approved Area Structure Plan or 
Conceptual Design Scheme defines land use designation(s) for the proposed 
development area, or unless determined otherwise by Council. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 23 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


47.3 An Area Structure Plan or Conceptual Design Scheme shall be required in 
conjunction with a redesignation application involving: 


(a) industrial development; 


(b) large-scale commercial development; 


(c) manufactured home park; 


(d) multi-lot residential development resulting in the creation of more than 
five lots or which has the potential to trigger capacity upgrades or 
expansion of infrastructure; or 


(e) as required by Council. 


SECTION 48 REDESIGNATION CRITERIA 


48.1 When re-designating land from one land use district to another, 
considerations shall include the following: 


(a) compliance with applicable standards and provisions of the Village of 
Glenwood Land Use Bylaw; 


(b) consistency with any adopted statutory plans; 


(c) compatibility with adjacent uses; 


(d) development potential/suitability of the site; 


(e) availability of facilities and services (sewage disposal, domestic water, 
gas, electricity, police and fire protection, schools, etc.) to serve the 
subject property and any potential impacts to levels of service to existing 
and future developments; 


(f) cumulative impact to the Village; 


(g) potential impacts on public roads; 


(h) setback distances contained in the Subdivision and Development 
Regulation; 


(i) supply of suitably designated land; 


(j) public comment and any applicable review agency comments; and 


(k) any other matters deemed pertinent. 


(l) Public notice shall be issued as stated in Section 33.1. 


SUBDIVISION 


SECTION 49 APPLICATION AND DECISION 


49.1 All applications for subdivision approval shall be evaluated by the Municipal 
Planning Commission in accordance with the following criteria: 


(a) compliance with statutory plans, bylaws, and regulations; 


(b) adequacy of road access; 







 


24 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


(c) provision of municipal services and utilities, including a storm water 
drainage plan; 


(d) compatibility with adjacent land uses; 


(e) accessibility to emergency services; 


(f) site suitability in terms of minimum dimensional standards for lots and all 
other criterion in this bylaw as specified in the applicable land use district 
in Schedule 3; 


(g) any other matters the MPC may consider necessary. 


49.2 For the purpose of infill development, an application which proposes to 
subdivide an accessory structure onto a separate lot may be considered by 
the Municipal Planning Commission where: 


(a) the proposed lots meet the provisions of Schedule 3 (Dimensional 
Standards and Setbacks); 


(b) the existing and proposed buildings meet the provisions of Schedule 3 
(Dimensional Standards and Setbacks) based on the lot proposed layout; 


(c) the access of each lot is provided from a public roadway, not a lane or 
laneway. 


SECTION 50 LOT DESIGN 


50.1 Through lots or double frontage lots, shall be avoided except where essential 
to separate residential development from traffic arteries or to overcome 
specific disadvantages of topography and orientation.  In such cases, access 
will be allowed only on the lower classification street. 


50.2 No lot or parcel shall be created which does not meet the minimum standards 
of the applicable land use district, except pursuant to an Area Structure Plan 
which provides for the perpetual maintenance of such remnants. 


50.3 The length and width of blocks shall be sufficient to accommodate two (2) 
tiers of lots with minimum standards specified by the applicable zoning 
district and this section, except where a single row of lots back up to an 
arterial street.  When reviewing proposed lot and block arrangements, the 
Municipal Planning Commission shall consider the following factors: 


(a) Adequate Building Sites Required:  Provisions of adequate building sites 
suitable to the special needs of the type of land use (residential, 
commercial or other) proposed for development shall be provided, taking 
into consideration topographical and drainage features. 


(b) Minimum Lot Sizes Established:  Minimum land use district and lot 
requirements defining lot sizes and dimensions shall be accommodated 
without creating unusable lot remnants. 


(c) Safe Access Required:  Block layout shall enable development to meet all 
Village engineering requirements for convenient access, circulation, 
control and safety of street traffic. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 25 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


50.4 At the time of subdivision, all corner lots and interior laneway corner lots shall 
dedicate clear vision triangles as right-of-way. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 


SECTION 51 RECREATIONAL VEHICLE REQUIREMENTS 


51.1 Recreational vehicles, including but not limited to, travel trailers, motor 
homes, tent trailers, fifth wheels, bus conversions or campers, shall not be 
considered a permanent residence. 


51.2 Where a development permit for a single-unit dwelling has been issued, a 
landowner seeking to temporarily occupy a recreational vehicle on the 
subject property while the development is carried out shall be required to 
obtain a separate development permit for this purpose. 


ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS  


SECTION 52 ADMINISTRATION DEFINITIONS 


The following definitions shall apply to the entire bylaw.  
 
All other words and expressions not otherwise defined in this Land Use Bylaw 
have the meaning assigned to them in the Municipal Government Act. 
 
Words used in the singular include the plural.  


A 


ADDITION means construction that increases the footprint of an existing building or 
structure on the parcel of land.  Typically there will be a common connection from the 
existing building to the addition that includes a foundation of some type beneath the 
addition. 


ADJACENT LAND OR ADJACENT means land that is contiguous to a parcel of land proposed 
for development, subdivision or redesignation and includes land that would be contiguous 
if not for a road, railway, walkway, watercourse, water body, utility lot, right-of-way, reserve 
land or other similar feature. 


ALTER or ALTERATION means any structural change to a building that results in an 
increase or decrease in the area or the volume of the building; any change in the area 
frontage, depth, or width of a lot that affects the required yard, landscaped open space, or 
parking requirements of this bylaw; structural change to a sign; and to discontinue or 
change the principal use of the site or building with a use defined as being distinct from the 
discontinued use. 







 


26 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


AMENITY AREA means an area(s) within the boundaries of a development intended for 
recreational purposes.  These may include landscaped areas, patios, balconies, swimming 
pools, and other similar items that are intended for public use. 


APPROVED USE means a use of land and/or building for which a development permit has 
been issued by the Municipal Planning Commission or the Subdivision and Development 
Appeal Board. 


AREA REDEVELOPMENT PLAN means a statutory plan, prepared in accordance with 
sections 634 and 635 of the Municipal Government Act for the purpose of all or any of the 
following: 
(a) preserving or improving land and buildings in the area;  
(b) rehabilitating buildings in the area;  
(c) removing buildings from the area;  
(d) constructing or replacing buildings in the area;  
(e) establishing, improving or relocating public roadways, public utilities or other services 


in the area;  
(f) any other development in the area.  


AREA STRUCTURE PLAN means a statutory plan prepared for the purpose of providing a 
framework for subsequent subdivision and development of an area of land (Municipal 
Government Act, section 633) and that may be adopted by a Council by bylaw.  


B 


BALCONY means a platform, attached to and projecting from the face of a principal 
building with or without a supporting structure above the first storey, normally surrounded 
by a baluster railing and used as an outdoor porch or sundeck with access only from within 
the building. 


BASEMENT means the portion of a building or structure, which is partially or wholly below 
grade and having its floor below grade by a distance greater than one-half the distance 
from floor to ceiling. 


BERM means a barrier, typically constructed of mounded earth, used to separate 
incompatible areas, uses, or functions, or to protect a site or development from noise. 


BUFFER means open spaces, landscaped areas, fences, walls, hedges, trees, shrubs, berms 
or other similar features used to physically and/or visually separate incompatible uses, 
areas, functions, sites, buildings, roadways, districts, etc. 


BUILDING has the meaning defined in the Municipal Government Act and includes anything 
constructed or placed on, in, over or under land, but does not include a highway or road or a 
bridge that forms part of a highway or road. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 27 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


BUILDING ENVELOPE means the space created on a lot or parcel within which a building 
may be constructed once the setback requirements for a specific zoning district have been 
considered. 


 


BUILDING GRADE (as applied to the determination of building height) means the average 
level of finished ground adjoining the main front wall of a building (not including an 
attached garage), except that localized depressions such as for vehicle or pedestrian 
entrances need not be considered in the determination of average levels of finished 
ground. 


BUILDING HEIGHT means the vertical distance between grade and the highest point of a 
building excluding a roof stairway entrance, elevator housing, a ventilating fan, a skylight, a 
steeple, a chimney, a smoke stack, a fire wall or a parapet wall and a flagpole or similar 
device not structurally essential to the building. 


BUILDING INSPECTOR means the person or persons hired to be the chief building inspector 
or building inspectors in and for the Village of Glenwood. 


BUILDING PERMIT means a certificate or document issued by the Safety Codes Officer 
pursuant to provincial legislation authorizing commencement of construction. 


BUILDING SETBACK means the shortest distance between the exterior foundation wall of 
the building and the nearest lot line.  Depending on the zoning district, the minimum 
setback will vary. 


BUILDING WIDTH, MINIMUM means the minimum horizontal distance of the building’s living 
space measured parallel to the shortest exterior wall of the building and perpendicular to 
the longest exterior wall of the building and excludes porches, decks, patios, balconies, 
carports, garages, unheated storage space, porte-cochere and other similar architectural 
features. 


BUSINESS means any lawful commercial endeavor to engage in the manufacturing, 
purchase, sale, lease, or exchange of goods and/or the provision of services. 


BYLAW means the Land Use Bylaw of the Village of Glenwood. 


C 


CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE means a document signed by the Development Officer, 
certifying that a development complies with this bylaw with respect to yard requirements 
and insofar as represented on an Alberta Land Surveyors’ Real Property Report. 


CHANGE OF USE means the conversion of land or building, or portion thereof from one land 
use activity to another in accordance with the Permitted or Discretionary Uses as listed in 
each land use district. 







 


28 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


COMMON WALL means a vertical separation completely dividing a portion of a building from 
the remainder of the building and creating in effect a building which, from its roof to its 
lowest level, is separate and complete unto itself for its intended purpose, such wall being 
owned by one party but jointly used by two parties, one or both of whom is entitled to such 
use by prior arrangement. 


CONCEPTUAL DESIGN SCHEME means a detailed site layout plan for a parcel of land which 
typically addresses the same requirements of an Area Structure Plan but which is not 
adopted by bylaw which: 
(a) shows the location of any existing or proposed buildings; and 
(b) describes the potential effect and/or relationship of the proposed development on the 


surrounding area and the municipality as a whole; and 
(c) provides for access roads, water, sewer, power and other services to the satisfaction of 


the Municipal Planning Commission or Council. 


CONDOMINIUM means a building or structure where there exists a type of ownership of 
individual units, generally in a multi-unit development or project where the owner 
possesses an interest as a tenant in common with other owners in accordance with the 
provisions of the Condominium Property Act. 


CONDOMINIUM PLAN means a plan of survey registered at a Land Titles Office prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Condominium Property Act, Revised Statutes of 
Alberta 2000, Chapter C-22, as amended. 


CORNER VISIBILITY OR CLEAR VISION TRIANGLES means a triangular area on a corner lot 
that is comprised of two sides which are measured from the intersection corner for a 
distance specified in this bylaw.  The third side of the triangle is a line joining the ends of 
the other two sides.  Where the lot lines at intersections have rounded corners, the lot lines 
will be extended in a straight line to a point of intersection. 


COUNCIL means Council of the Village of Glenwood. 


D 


DEMOLITION means the pulling down, tearing down or razing of a building or structure. 


DEVELOPER means a person or an owner of land in accordance with the Statutes of the 
Province of Alberta who wishes to alter the title to the property and change the use of the 
property from its existing use. 


 


 


 


 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 29 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


DEVELOPMENT in accordance with the Municipal Government Act means: 
(a) an excavation or stockpile and the creation of either of them; 
(b) a building or an addition to or replacement or repair of a building and the construction 


or placing of any of them in, on, over or under land; 
(c) a change of use of land or a building or an act done in relation to land or a building that 


results in or is likely to result in a change in the use of the land or building; or 
(d) a change in the intensity of use of land or a building or an act done in relation to land or 


a building that results in or is likely to result in a change in the intensity of use of the 
land or building. 
 


DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT means a contractual agreement completed between the 
municipality and an applicant for a development permit or subdivision approval which 
specifies the roadways, walkways, public utilities, and other services to be provided by the 
applicant as a condition of a development permit or subdivision approval, in accordance 
with the Municipal Government Act. 


DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY means the body established by Bylaw to act as the 
Development Authority in accordance with Sections 623(b) or (c) and 624 of the Municipal 
Government Act. 


DEVELOPMENT OFFICER means a person(s) authorized by Council to act as a development 
authority pursuant to Section 624 of the Municipal Government Act and in accordance with 
the Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw. 


DEVELOPMENT PERMIT means a permit issued with or without conditions pursuant to this 
bylaw authorizing a development.  A development permit does not constitute a building 
permit. 


DISCRETIONARY USE means the use of land or building(s) provided for in the Land Use 
Bylaw for which a development permit may be issued, following receipt by the 
Development Officer of a completed application with appropriate details and fees. 


DISTRICT – see LAND USE DISTRICT  


E 


EASEMENT means a right held by one party on land owned by another. 


EAVE means the overhang or extension of a roof line beyond the vertical wall of a building. 


EXCAVATION means the process of altering the natural elevation of the ground by grading, 
cutting, stripping, filling or breaking of ground, but does not include common household 
gardening and ground care, excavation made for the building of basements, structures, 
landscaping, or parking for which a development permit has been issued, or extensive 
agriculture.  Gravel pit, mineral extraction and any other similar extractive use are not 
classified as excavation and are a separate use. 







 


30 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


F 


FLOOD ELEVATION, 1:100 YEAR means the water level reached during a 1:100 year flood as 
determined in accordance with the technical criteria established by Alberta Environment. 


FLOOD RISK AREA means the area of land bordering a water course or water body that 
would be inundated by 1:100 year flood (i.e. a flood that has a 1 percent chance of occurring 
every year) as determined by Alberta Environment in consultation with the Village and may 
include both flood fringe and floodway. 


FLOOR AREA means the sum of the gross horizontal area of the several floors and 
passageways of a building, but not including cellars, attached garages and open porches.  
All dimensions shall be outside dimensions.  Basement floor areas shall be included only 
where the building contains a basement suite. 


FLOOR AREA RATIO means the net floor area divided by the gross lot area. 


FOUNDATION means the supporting base structure of a building. 


FULLY SERVICED LOT means a lot that is provided both water and sewer serviced by either: 
(a) a municipal water line and a municipal sewer line; or 
(b) an incorporated organization or co-operative, recognized by the municipality, that is 


operating a provincially approved water and sewer system. 


G 


GEOTECHNICAL REPORT means a comprehensive site analysis and report prepared by a 
qualified and registered professional with The Association of Professional Engineers and 
Geoscientists of Alberta (APEGA). 


GRADE, LANDSCAPED (as applied to the determination of height of balconies, decks and 
architectural features and landscape structures) means the average level of finished 
landscaped ground under the four principal corners of the balcony, deck, architectural 
feature or landscape structure.  For buildings see BUILDING GRADE. 


L 


LANDOWNER – see REGISTERED OWNER 


 


 


 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 31 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


LANDSCAPING means the modification, beautification and enhancement of a site or 
development through the use of the following elements: 
(c) natural landscaping consisting of vegetation such as trees, shrubs, hedges, grass, 


flowers and other ground cover or materials; 
(d) hard landscaping consisting of non-vegetative materials such as brick, stone, concrete, 


tile and wood, excluding monolithic concrete and asphalt; and 
(e) excludes all areas utilized for driveways and parking. 


LAND USE DISTRICT means a specifically delineated area or zone within which the 
development standards of this bylaw govern the use, placement, spacing, and size of land 
and buildings.  All land use districts referred to in this bylaw are shown on the Land Use 
Districts Map found in Appendix D. 


LANE or LANEWAY means a public thoroughfare, which provides a secondary means of 
access to a lot or lots. 


LOT means a lot as defined in the Municipal Government Act and shall include a bare land 
condominium unit. 


M 


MAINTENANCE means the upkeep of a building or property that does not involve structural 
change, the change of use, or the change of intensity of use. 


MASS WASTING means a general term describing a variety of processes, including but not 
limited to slumping, sloughing, fall and flow, by which earth materials are moved by gravity. 


MGA means the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta, 2000, Chapter 
M-26, as amended. 


MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN means a Statutory Plan, formerly known as a General 
Municipal Plan, adopted by bylaw in accordance with section 632 of the Municipal 
Government Act. 


MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT (MGA) means the Municipal Government Act, Revised 
Statutes of Alberta, 2000, Chapter M-26, as amended. 


MUNICIPAL/SCHOOL RESERVE means the land specified to be municipal and school 
reserve by a subdivision approving authority pursuant to section 666 of the Municipal 
Government Act. 


MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD (SDAB) means the 
committee established, by bylaw, to act as the municipal appeal body for subdivision and 
development applications. 


 







 


32 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION (MPC) means the committee authorized by Council to 
act as the Subdivision Authority pursuant to section 623 of the Municipal Government Act 
and Development Authority pursuant to section 624 of the MGA, and in accordance with 
the Municipal Planning Commission Bylaw. 


N 


NON-COMPLIANCE means a development constructed, or use undertaken after the 
adoption of the current Land Use Bylaw and does not comply with the current Land Use 
Bylaw. 


NON-CONFORMING BUILDING means a building: 
(a) that is lawfully constructed or lawfully under construction at the date of a Land Use 


Bylaw or any amendment thereof affecting the building or land on which the building is 
situated becomes effective; and 


(b) that on the date the Land Use Bylaw or any amendment thereof becomes effective 
does not, or when constructed will not, comply with the Land Use Bylaw. 


NON-CONFORMING USE means a lawful specific use: 
(a) being made of land or a building or intended to be made of a building lawfully under 


construction, at the date of a Land Use Bylaw or any amendment thereof affecting the 
land or building becomes effective; and 


(b) that on the date the Land Use Bylaw or any amendment thereof becomes effective 
does not, or in the case of a building under construction, will not comply with the Land 
Use Bylaw. 


NON-SERVICED means in respect to a lot or parcel that neither a municipal water system 
nor a municipal sewage system services it. 


NUISANCE means any use, prevailing condition or activity which has a detrimental effect 
on living or working conditions. 


O 


OCCUPANCY PERMIT means a permit issued by the municipality that authorizes the right to 
occupy or use a building or structure for its intended use. 


OFF-SITE LEVY means the rate established by the municipal Council that will be imposed 
upon owners and/or developers who are increasing the use of utility services, traffic 
services, and other services directly attributable to the changes that are proposed to the 
personal property.  The revenues from the off-site levies will be collected by the 
municipality and used to offset the future capital costs for expanding utility services, 
transportation network, and other services that have to be expanded in order to service the 
needs that are proposed for the change in use of the property. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 33 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


OFF-STREET LOADING SPACE means an open area, not exceeding 9.1 m (30 ft) in width, 
located in the rear yard space, designed expressly for the parking of haulage vehicles while 
loading or unloading. 


OFF-STREET PARKING means a lot or portion thereof, excluding a public roadway which is 
used or intended to be used as a parking area for motor vehicles. 


OFF-STREET PARKING SPACE means an off-street area available for the parking of one 
motor vehicle.  Every off-street parking space shall be accessible from a street, lane or 
other public roadway. 


ORIENTATION means the arranging or facing of a building or other structure with respect to 
the points of the compass. 


P 


PARCEL means an area of land described in a Certificate of Title either directly or by 
reference to a plan and registered with the Alberta Land Titles Office. 


PARTIALLY SERVICED LOT means a lot that is provided water or sewer serviced by either: 
(a) a municipal water line or a municipal sewer line; or 
(b) an incorporated organization or co-operative, recognized by the municipality, that is 


operating a provincially approved water or sewer system. 


PERMANENT RESIDENCE means a dwelling that: 
(a) has developed legal access, 
(b) is situated on a permanent foundation, 
(c) is permanent and habitable, 
(d) has a kitchen and sleeping area, 
(e) has a supply of potable water and a functional sewage disposal system, and 
(f) may have electrical and gas utilities available to the site. 


PERMITTED USE means the use of land or building(s) which is permitted in a district for 
which a development permit shall be issued, following receipt by the Development Officer 
of a completed application with appropriate details and fees. 


PLAN OF SUBDIVISION means a plan of survey prepared in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of the Land Titles Act for the purpose of effecting subdivision. 


PRINCIPAL BUILDING means a building which: 
(a) occupies the major or central portion of a lot; 
(b) is the chief or main building on a lot; or 
(c) constitutes, by reason of its use, the primary purpose for which the lot is used. 


PRINCIPAL USE means the main purpose, in the opinion of the Development Officer or 
Municipal Planning Commission, for which a lot is used. 







 


34 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


PROHIBITED USE means a development that is not listed as permitted or discretionary, or is 
not considered similar within a land use district. 


PROVINCIAL LAND USE POLICIES means policies established by order of the Lieutenant 
Governor pursuant to Section 622 of the Municipal Government Act. 


PUBLIC ROADWAY means a right-of-way maintained by the Village and is open to the public 
for the purpose of vehicular traffic. 


PUBLIC OPEN SPACE means land, which is not in private ownership and is open to use by 
the public. 


R 


REAL PROPERTY REPORT (RPR) means a legal document that illustrates in detail the 
location of all relevant, visible public and private improvements relative to property 
boundaries prepared by a registered Alberta Land Surveyor. 


REGISTERED OWNER means:  
(a) in the case of land owned by the Crown in right of Alberta or the Crown in right of 


Canada, the Minister of the Crown having the administration of the land; or 
(b) in the case of any other land: 


(i) the purchase of the fee simple estate in the land under an agreement for sale that 
is the subject of a caveat registered against the Certificate of Title in the land, and 
any assignee of the purchaser's interest that is the subject of a caveat registered 
against the Certificate of Title; or 


(ii) in the absence of a person described in paragraph (i), the person registered under 
the Land Titles Act as the owner of the fee simple estate in the land. 


RIGHT-OF-WAY means an area of land not on a lot that is dedicated for public or private use 
to accommodate a transportation system and necessary public utility infrastructure 
(including but not limited to water lines, sewer lines, power lines, and gas lines). 


ROAD – see PUBLIC ROADWAY 


S 


SAFETY CODES means a code, regulations, standard, or body of rules regulating things 
such as building, electrical systems, elevating devices, gas systems, plumbing or private 
sewage disposal systems, pressure equipment, fire protection systems and equipment, 
barrier free design and access in accordance with the Safety Codes Act, RSA 2000, 
Chapter S-1, as amended. 


SCREENING means a fence, wall, berm or hedge used to visually separate areas or 
functions that detract from the street or neighbouring land uses. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 35 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


SETBACK means the minimum distance required between a property line of a lot and the 
nearest part of any building, structure, development, excavation or use on the lot and is 
measured at a right angle to the lot line. 


SIMILAR USE means a use of land or building(s) for a purpose that is not provided in any 
district designated in this bylaw, but is deemed by the Development Officer or Municipal 
Planning Commission to be similar in character and purpose to another use of land or 
buildings that is included within the list of uses prescribed for that district. 


SITE means that part of a parcel or a group of parcels on which a development exists or 
which an application for a development permit is being made. 


SITE PLAN means a plan drawn to scale illustrating the proposed and existing development 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of this bylaw. 


STOP ORDER means an order issued by the Development Officer or Municipal Planning 
Commission pursuant to section 645 of the Municipal Government Act. 


STOREY means the space between the top of any floor and the top of the next floor above 
it and if there is no floor above it, the portion between the top of the floor and the ceiling 
above it, but does not include a basement. 


STREET means a thoroughfare which is used or intended to be used for passage or travel of 
motor vehicles and includes the sidewalks and land on each side of and contiguous to the 
prepared surface of the thoroughfare.  It does not include lanes. 


STRUCTURE means anything constructed or erected with a fixed location on the ground or 
attached to something having a fixed location on the ground.  Among other things, 
structures include buildings, walls, fences, billboards and poster panels. 


SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION means regulations established by order of 
the Lieutenant Governor in Council pursuant to section 694 of the Municipal Government 
Act. 


SUBDIVISION AUTHORITY means the body established by bylaw to act as the subdivision 
authority in accordance with section 623 of the Municipal Government Act. 


SUBDIVISION OR SUBDIVIDE means the division of a parcel by an instrument. 


SUBSIDENCE means a localized downward settling or sinking of a land surface. 


SUCH AS means includes, but is not limited to the list of items provided. 


T 


TEMPORARY DEVELOPMENT means a development for which a development permit has 
been issued for a limited time period. 







 


36 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


A
D


M
IN


IS
TR


A
TI


O
N


 


U 


USE means the purposes for which land or a building is arranged or intended, or for which 
either land, a building or a structure is, or may be, occupied and maintained. 


UTILITIES means any one or more of the following: 
(a) systems for the distribution of gas, whether artificial or natural; 
(b) facilities for the storage, transmission, treatment, distribution or supply of water or 


electricity; 
(c) facilities for the collection, treatment, movement or disposal of sanitary sewage; 
(d)  storm water drainage facilities; 
(e) any other things prescribed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council by regulation; but 


does not include those systems or facilities referred to in sub clauses (a) to (d) that are 
exempted by the Lieutenant Governor in Council by regulation. 


V 


VILLAGE means the Village of Glenwood. 


W 


WAIVER means the relaxation or variance of a development standard as established in this 
bylaw. 


Z 
ZONING – see LAND USE DISTRICT. 







 


 


LA
N


D
 U


S
E


 D
IS


TR
IC


TS
 


Schedule 1 


LAND USE DISTRICTS 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 35 


LA
N


D
 U


S
E


 D
IS


TR
IC


TS
 


Schedule 1 


  LAND USE DISTRICTS 


SECTION 1 DIVISION OF MUNICIPALITY 


1.1 The municipality is divided into those districts shown on the Land Use 
Districts Map in Appendix D. 


1.2 Each district shown on the map referred to in section 1 of this schedule shall 
be known by the following identifying names and symbols: 


RESIDENTIAL –  R 


COMMERCIAL –  C 


INDUSTRIAL –  I 


PUBLIC –  P 


SECTION 2 INTENT OF LAND USE DISTRICTS 


2.1 Residential – R 
This district is intended to provide for a residential environment with an 
appropriate range of housing types that comply with standards outlined in 
the Schedule 6 Residential Standards of Development. 


2.2 Commercial – C 
This district is intended to accommodate a variety of retail, service, and 
office uses, which primarily cater to the daily needs of the residents of the 
Village of Glenwood. 


2.3 Industrial – I 
This district is intended to accommodate a range of primarily industrial and 
warehousing uses while allowing uses that may require large lots, special 
sitting and/or servicing or which may be considered noxious or hazardous. 


2.4 Public – P 
This district is intended to assist in the development of government, 
educational, medical, social and other public and institutional uses. 


 











 


 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Schedule 2 


USE REGULATION 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 37 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Schedule 2 


  USE REGULATION 


SECTION 1 USE CATEGORIES AND SPECIFIC USES 


1.1 The principal uses allowed within the land use districts are identified in Table 
2.2.1.  The land use districts are referenced by their two-letter abbreviations. 


1.2 All of the use categories listed in the second column of Table 2.2.1 are 
defined in Section 3 of this schedule. 


1.3 A “P” indicates that the listed use is allowed by right within the respective 
land use district after review and approval by the Development Officer in 
accordance with Section 28 Permitted Uses in the Administrative section.  
Permitted uses are subject to all other applicable standards of the Land Use 
Bylaw. 


1.4 A “D” indicates that the listed use is allowed within in the respective land use 
district only after review and approval by the Municipal Planning Commission, 
in accordance with Section 29 Discretionary Uses in the Administrative 
section.  Discretionary uses are subject to all other applicable standards of 
the Land Use Bylaw. 


1.5 A blank cell (one without a “P” or “D”) indicates that the listed use type is not 
allowed within the respective land use district. 


1.6 A use that is not specifically listed in the Specific Use Type column of Table 
2.2.1, but which may be similar in character and purpose to other uses of land 
and structures in the land use district in which such use is proposed, the 
Development Officer may classify the use as either similar to a permitted use 
or similar to a discretionary use in accordance with Section 30 Similar Uses in 
the Administrative section. 


1.7 The provisions of Schedule 3 Dimensional Standards and Setbacks apply to 
all uses in this section. 


1.8 The provisions of Schedule 5 General and Use Specific Standards of 
Development apply to the uses in this section. 


1.9 Prohibited uses have been identified individually. 
 
  







 


38 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
– 


R
1  


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


SECTION 2 USE TABLE 
 
 


Table 2.2.1: Use Table 


 
  


Use Category Specific Use Type Land Use Districts Development Standard 


General  R C I P  


 Accessory building P P P P Schedule 6 Section 1 


 Accessory structure P P P P  


 Accessory use P P P P  


 Moved-in building D D D D  


 Shipping container, 
permanent  


P P P P  


 
Shipping container, 
temporary P P P P  


Residential  R C I P  


Household 
Living  


Apartment Building D    Schedule 6 


Assisted Living D     


 Dwelling Single-unit P    Schedule 6 


 
Dwelling 2-unit, 3-unit, 
4-unit D    Schedule 6 


 Manufactured home D     


 Moved-in dwelling D     


 Senior citizen housing D     


Commercial  R C I P  


Lodging Bed and breakfast D     


 Boarding or lodging house D     


 Hotel/motel  D    


 Mixed use building  D D   


Offices Business support service  P P   


 Financial institutions  P    


 Office  P P   


Recreation & 
Entertainment 


Amusement facility  D    


Campgrounds  D  D See definition 


 Entertainment 
establishment 


 D D   


 
Public or private 
recreation D D D D See definition 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 39 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Table 2.2.1: Use Table (continued) 


  


Use Category Specific Use Type Land Use Districts Development Standard 


Commercial (continued) R C I P  


Retail Sales & 
Service 


Animal care service, small D P    


Convenience store  P D   


 Eating establishment  P P P  


 Equipment sales, rental & 
service 


 P P   


 Farmer’s market  P  P  


 Funeral home  D D   


 Garden centre or 
greenhouse 


D D D   


 Medical/health facility  P    


 Personal services P P    


 Retail  P    


 Service station or gas bar  D D   


Construction Contractor, general   P   


 Contractor, limited P P P   


 Lumber yard   P   


Automotive 
Related 


Auto body and paint shop D D D   


Auto sales and service D D D   


 Car wash  D D   


 Towing operation D D P   


Industrial  R C I P  


Manufacturing 
Light 
industrial/manufacturing 


  P   


Warehousing Bulk fuel station   D   


 General warehousing and 
storage 


  P   


 Mini storage   P   


 Outdoor storage   P   


Truck transport 
Transportation/delivery 
service 


 D P   


Truck dispatch/depot  D P   


 Truck stop  D D   


 Truck wash  D D   


Other Animal care service, large  D D   


 Auctioneering facility   D   


 Agriculture D  D D  


 Grain elevator   D   


 Seed cleaning plant   D   







 


40 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
– 


R
1  


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Table 2.2.1: Use Table (continued) 


 


* All Alternative energy are subject to approval of the Municipal Planning Commission. 
 


Use Category Specific Use Type Land Use Districts Development Standard 


Public  R C I P  


Community 
Service 


Club facility  P P D  
Community association 
building  D  P  


 Government services facility  D  P  


 Group care facility D D  D  


 Institutional D   P  


 Religious assembly facility D D D P  


 School/education facility    P  


 Tourist information  P P P  


Child Care Child care facility D D  P  


 Day home P     


Utility Public or private utility  D P D  


 Waste management transfer 
station 


   D  


 Wastewater treatment plant    P  


 Water treatment plant    P  


Parks & Open 
Space 


Cemetery and interment 
services 


   P  


Golf course  D D D  


 Parks and playgrounds    P  


Other  R C I P  


Alternative 
Energy* 


Large WECS     Schedule 8 


Micro WECS D D D D Schedule 8 


 Mini WECS D D D D Schedule 8 


 Small WECS D D D D Schedule 8 


 Solar collector D D D D Schedule 8 


 
Solar collector, roof 
mounted 


P P P P Schedule 8 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 41 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


SECTION 3 LAND USE DEFINITIONS 


All other words and expressions not otherwise defined in this Land Use Bylaw 
have the meaning assigned to them in the Municipal Government Act. 
 
Words used in the singular include the plural.  


A 


ACCESSORY BUILDING means any building that is physically separate from the principal 
building on the lot on which both are located and which is subordinate and incidental to 
that of the principal building.  The use is subordinate and incidental to that of the principal 
use of the site on which it is located and examples of a typical accessory building is a 
private garage, shed, or storage building.  No accessory building shall be used for human 
habitation.  A development permit must be approved before construction of an accessory 
building. 


ACCESSORY STRUCTURE means a structure that is detached from the principal building.  It 
is ancillary, incidental, and subordinate to the principal building or use.  Typical accessory 
structures include flagpoles, swimming pools, storage tanks, greenhouses.  When a 
structure is attached to the principal building by a roof, a floor, a wall, or a foundation, 
either above or below grade, it is considered part of the principal building.  No accessory 
structure shall be used for human habitation.  A principal structure must be legally 
approved before an accessory structure can be approved. 


ACCESSORY USE means a use or development customarily incidental and subordinate to 
the principal use or building and is located on the same parcel as such principal use or 
building.  A principal use must be legally established or approved before an accessory use 
can be approved. 


ALTERNATIVE ENERGY, INDIVIDUAL means energy that is renewable or sustainable that is 
generally derived from natural sources (for example, the earth, sun, wind, water) and it for 
the sole consumption of the landowner, resident or occupant. 


AMUSEMENT FACILITY means development for amusement pastimes, and may incorporate 
eating facilities as an accessory use.  Such uses may include but are not limited to, 
amusement arcades, billiard parlours, bingo halls, bowling alleys and indoor mini-golf. 


ANIMAL CARE SERVICE, LARGE means any establishment maintained and operated by a 
licensed veterinarian for the on-site or off-site treatment of animals.  The development may 
also be used for onsite boarding, breeding or training of animals and livestock.  The facility 
may also include outside buildings and pens associated with the service and the 
supplementary sale of associated animal care products.  Typically, this use will include 
veterinary offices or hospitals, animal shelters, and facilities for impounding and 
quarantining animals. 


 







 


42 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


ANIMAL CARE SERVICE, SMALL means development for the on-site treatment and/or 
grooming of small animals such as household pets, where on-site accommodation may be 
provided and where all care and confinement facilities are enclosed within one particular 
building.  This use may also include the supplementary sale of associated animal products.  
Typically, this use will include pet grooming salons, pet clinics and veterinary offices. 


APARTMENT BUILDING means a structure with several self-contained dwelling units (see 
definition of dwelling), each of which occupies a portion of the same building.  Such a 
building will typically consist of five or more apartments for rent and include an area for 
tenant and visitor parking and have a common entrance. 


ASSISTED LIVING means a special combination of housing, supportive services, 
personalized assistance, and health care designed to respond to the individual needs of 
those who need help with activities of daily living.  The facility may include a central or 
private kitchen, dining, recreational, and other facilities, with separate dwelling units or 
living quarters, where the emphasis of the facility remains residential. 


AUTO BODY AND PAINT SHOP means a building where motor vehicles are repaired and also 
where motor vehicle bodies and parts, and other metal machines, components, or objects 
may be painted.  Painting of this type shall not be done outdoors, but must be set up in a 
properly ventilated building. This use may also include an outdoor storage area and an 
office component. 


AUTO SALES AND SERVICE means the retail sale, lease, or rental of new or used 
automobiles and/or recreational vehicles and/or a facility for the repair and servicing of 
automobiles and/or recreational vehicles, including but not limited to, mufflers, oil changes, 
transmissions, engine replacement, glass repair, auto detailing.  Such facilities do not 
include the sale of gas but may include towing services as an accessory use. 


AUCTIONEERING FACILITY means any facility where animals or goods are regularly bought, 
sold, or traded to the highest bidder.  The facility may also include holding pens and viewing 
areas, transport facilities, spectator seating, and administrative offices.  This definition 
does not apply to individual sales of animals or goods by private owners. 


AUTO WRECKAGE AND SALVAGE YARD means a facility or operation specifically intended 
for the dismantling of automotive vehicles and the sale of those parts to the general public.  
Such a facility may include an administrative office, work areas, and outdoor storage.  The 
parcel of land on which the facility exists must be completely fenced according to Village 
standards. 


B 


BED AND BREAKFAST means an accessory use carried out in an owner-occupied dwelling 
where temporary accommodation is provided to non-residents of the dwelling for 
remuneration, and where meals, if provided for guests, are prepared in the common kitchen 
of the principal building. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 43 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


BOARDING OR LODGING HOUSE means a private dwelling in which lodgers rent room(s) for 
one night or even more extended periods of weeks or months.  The common parts of the 
house, such as bathroom(s), kitchen, and living areas, are maintained by the private owner.  
Meals, laundry or cleaning may be provided as part of the lodging agreement. 


 


BUILDING AND TRADE CONTRACTORS means a facility for the provision of electrical, 
plumbing, heating, painting and similar contractor services primarily to individual 
households and the accessory sale of goods normally associated with such contractor 
services where all materials are kept within an enclosed building, and where there are no 
associated manufacturing activities. 


BULK FUEL STATION means a use of land or buildings for storing and distributing petroleum 
products in bulk quantities.  This use includes supplementary tanker vehicle storage and 
card lock or key lock fuel distribution facilities. 


BUSINESS means a commercial, merchandising, or industrial activity or undertaking, a 
profession, trade, occupation, calling or employment or an activity providing goods or 
services, whether or not for profit and however organized or formed, including a 
cooperative or association of persons. 


BUSINESS SUPPORT SERVICE means an establishment primarily engaged in providing 
services for other business establishments such as advertising, copying, equipment, 
financial services, employment services, and other similar services. 


C 
CAMPGROUND means a use of land or buildings intended for seasonal occupancy by 
holiday or tent trailers, recreation vehicles, tents and similar equipment and which may 
include supplementary bathroom and recreational facilities, eating shelters, convenience 
retail, laundry facilities and dwelling accommodations for the operator. 


CAR WASH means the use of a structure or area providing for the cleaning of motor 
vehicles but does not include SERVICE STATIONS/ GAS BARS. 


CEMETERY AND INTERNMENT SERVICES means a development for the entombment of the 
deceased and may include such facilities as crematories, cinerarium, columbarium, 
mausoleums, memorial parks, burial grounds, cemeteries and gardens of remembrance. 


CHILD CARE FACILITY means a building or portion thereof used for the provision of care, 
maintenance and supervision of seven or more children, by persons unrelated to the 
children by blood or marriage, for periods not exceeding 24 consecutive hours and includes 
all child-care centres, day cares, nurseries and after-school or baby-sitting programs which 
meet the conditions of this definition.  Group homes and day homes are separate uses. 


 







 


44 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


CLUB FACILITY refers to a physical structure for the assembly of members of non-profit 
clubs or organizations, including charitable, social service, ethnic, athletic or business 
organizations. This use may include eating, drinking, entertainment, sports, recreation and 
amusement facilities as accessory uses but “Campground” is a separate use. 


COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION BUILDING or COMMUNITY HALL means a facility or building 
whose primary purpose is to accommodate use by community group(s).  The structure may 
include such features as meeting rooms, kitchen, stage and open floor area, bar/liquor area, 
multi-purpose rooms, washrooms, coat room, storage room(s) and administrative offices.  
Exterior uses may include parking, playground areas, outdoor shelters, and sitting areas. 


CONTRACTOR, GENERAL means development used for industrial service support and 
construction.  Typical uses include cleaning and maintenance contractors, building 
construction, landscaping, concrete, electrical, excavation, drilling, heating, plumbing, 
paving, road construction, sewer or similar services of a construction nature which require 
on-site storage space for materials, construction equipment or vehicles normally 
associated with the contractor service.  Any sales, display, office or technical support 
service areas shall be accessory to the principal general contractor use. 


CONTRACTOR, LIMITED means a development used for the provision of electrical, plumbing, 
heating, painting, catering and similar contractor services primarily to individual household 
and the accessory sales of goods normally associated with the contractor services where 
all material are kept within an enclosed building, and there are no accessory manufacture 
activities or fleet storage of more than four vehicles. 


CONVENIENCE STORE means a retail store that sells a limited line of groceries and 
household goods for the convenience of the neighbourhood.  This use does not include 
cannabis retail store. 


D 
DAY HOME means a private residence where care, development and supervision are 
provided for a maximum of six children between the ages of 0-12 years, by persons 
unrelated to the children by blood or marriage, including children under the age of 12 who 
reside in the home, for periods not exceeding 24 consecutive hours. 


DECK means an accessory structure consisting of a paved, wooden, or other hard-surfaced 
area generally adjoining a principal building intended for outdoor living space that is 0.6 m 
(2 ft) or greater above grade. 


DETACHED GARAGE means an accessory building designed and used primarily for the 
storage of motor vehicles that is not attached to the principal building. 


DRIVE-IN/DRIVE-THROUGH RESTAURANT means an establishment where food is prepared 
and served on the premise for sale to the public and includes car attendant and/or 
drive-through, pick-up service.  See EATING ESTABLISHMENT. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 45 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


DWELLING means a building or portion thereof designed for human habitation and which is 
intended to be used as a residence for one or more individuals but does not include travel 
trailers, motor homes, recreational vehicles, or other mobile living units, hotel, motel, 
dormitory, boarding house, or other similar accommodation.  Dwelling includes the 
following: 


Single-unit dwelling means a residential building containing only one dwelling unit 
which is to be constructed on site and is to be placed on a basement or permanent slab 
foundation. 


2 unit dwelling means a residential building that contains two separate dwelling units 
connected either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party wall) between 
units. 


3 unit dwelling means a residential building comprised of three dwelling units, each 
unit having a separate, direct entrance from grade or a landscaped area.  Each dwelling 
unit will be connected either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party 
wall) between units. 


4 unit dwelling means a residential building comprised of four dwelling units, each unit 
having a separate, direct entrance from grade or a landscaped area.  Each dwelling unit 
will be connected either by a common floor/ceiling, or by a common wall (party wall) 
between units. 


Row dwelling means development consisting of a building containing a row of three or 
more dwelling units each sharing a common wall extending from the first floor to the 
roof, at the side only with no dwelling being place over another in whole or in part.  
Each dwelling unit shall have separate, individual, and direct access to the building at 
grade. 


E 
EATING ESTABLISHMENT means an establishment where food and beverages are prepared 
and served on the premises for sale to the public and may include supplementary on or 
off-premises catering services.  This term includes restaurants, cafes, lunch and tea rooms, 
ice cream parlours, banquet facilities, restaurants and other uses similar in character and 
nature. 


EDUCATIONAL FACILITY means a place of instruction offering continuing education or 
specialized courses of study.  Included in the category may be public, private, and 
commercial institutions. 


ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT means an establishment such as a theatre, auditorium, 
lounge or cabaret providing dramatic, musical or other entertainment indoors or outdoors 
and may include facilities for supplementary food and beverage consumption but does not 
include GAMING ESTABLISHMENT. 


 







 


46 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


EQUIPMENT SALES, RENTAL AND SERVICE means the use of land or buildings for the retail 
sale, wholesale distribution, rental and/or service of:  hand tools, small construction, 
farming, gardening and automotive equipment, small machinery parts and office machinery 
and equipment. 


F 
FARMERS MARKET means the use of land or buildings where fresh farm or garden produce 
are sold in retail or wholesale setting and where goods are typically displayed in bulk bins or 
stalls for customer selection. This use includes vendors of fruit, vegetables, meat products, 
baked goods, dry goods, spices and non-food products such as handicrafts, provided that 
the sale of fresh food products remain the primary function. 


FEED MILL means a mill in which stock feeds are prepared. 


FENCE means an accessory structure usually made of wood, rails, bricks, or wire intended 
to mark parcel boundaries and provide yard privacy. 


FINANCIAL INSTITUTION means a development or use primarily for providing the service of 
banking or lending money, such as a bank, savings and loan institution, or credit union. 


FITNESS FACILITY means a development where space, equipment or instruction is provided 
for people to pursue physical fitness or skills relating to physical activities and may include 
the incidental sale of products relating to the service provided. 


FUNERAL HOME means a development used for the arrangement of funerals, the 
preparation of the deceased for burial or cremation, and the holding of funeral services. 


G 
GAMING OR GAMBLING ESTABLISHMENT means a building or structure, or any portion 
thereof, which is used or intended for the use or purpose of dealing, operating, maintaining 
or conducting any game played with cards, dice, or any other means, or any mechanical 
device or machine for money, property or any item of value. 


GARAGE means an accessory private building or part of the principal building, designed 
primarily for the storage of motor vehicles. 


GARDEN CENTRE OR GREENHOUSE means a building specially designed and used for 
commercial  or private growing of vegetables, flowers or other plants for transplanting or 
sale. The use may include accessory retail uses on the premises. 


GARDEN SHED means an accessory structure to store household and garden equipment 
and supplies that is not more than9.3 m2 (100ft2) in size. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 47 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


GENERAL STORE means a retail establishment which deals primarily with the display and 
sale of food and other goods required by the residents of the immediate vicinity to meet 
their day-to-day needs. May include office and storage areas. 


GENERAL WAREHOUSING AND STORAGE means a building used for the storage of goods 
and merchandise.  The building may include administrative offices, loading areas, parking 
areas, storage rooms and the retail sale of goods stored in the warehouse.  No outside 
storage is permitted with this use. 


GOLF COURSE means an outdoor use/establishment of varying size where the land is 
developed primarily to accommodate the game of golf.  Accessory uses include a pro shop, 
driving range and/or proactive facility, food service, and other commercial uses typically 
associated with a golf course clubhouse facility. 


GOVERNMENT SERVICES FACILITY means development providing municipal, provincial, or 
federal government services directly to the public or the community at large, and includes 
development required for the public protection of persons or property. 


GRAIN ELEVATOR/SEED CLEANING means a facility for the collection, grading, sorting, 
storage, and transshipment of grains. 


GROUP CARE FACILITY means a development which provides residential accommodation 
and rehabilitative services to persons who are handicapped, disabled or undergoing 
rehabilitation and are provided care to meet their needs.  Persons are typically referred to a 
group care facility by hospitals, courts, government agencies or recognized social service 
agencies or health professionals but may also voluntarily request care.  This use includes 
supervised uses such as group homes, half-way houses, and convalescent homes.  This use 
does not include senior housing or assisted living which are separate uses in this bylaw. 


H 
HOME OCCUPATION means an occupation, trade, profession or craft carried on by an 
occupant of a dwelling unit as a use secondary to the residential use of the lot, and which 
does not change the character thereof. 


HOTEL means the use of a building for sleeping accommodations provided for a fee on a 
daily basis, accessible only through a central lobby with onsite parking; the building may 
also contain accessory commercial, and food and beverage service uses. 


I 
INSTITUTIONAL means a use by or for an organization or society for public or social 
purposes and, without restricting the generality of the term. 


K 







 


48 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


KENNEL means a commercial operation or facility where dogs or cats or other domestic 
pets are maintained, boarded, bred, trained or cared for or kept for the purposes of sale but 
excludes an animal care service. 


L 
LIGHT FABRICATION SHOPS means the assembly of metal parts, including blacksmith and 
welding shops, sheet metal shops, machine shops, and boiler shops, that produce metal 
duct work, tanks, towers, cabinets and enclosures, metal doors and gates, and similar 
products (APA dictionary). 


LIGHT INDUSTRIAL/MANUFACTURING means development used for manufacturing, 
fabricating, processing, assembly, production or packaging of goods or products, as well as 
administrative offices and warehousing and wholesale distribution uses which are 
accessory uses to the above, provided that the use does not generate any detrimental 
impact, potential health or safety hazard or any nuisance beyond the boundaries of the 
developed portion of the site or lot upon which it is situated. 


LUMBER YARD means a commercial operation where lumber, building materials and 
supplies, and other building-related goods are stored, displayed and sold. 


M 
MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT SALES, RENTAL AND SERVICE means a commercial 
operation where the land and buildings are used for the sale, service and rental of 
machinery, vehicles and heavy machinery used in the operation, construction or 
maintenance of buildings, roadways, pipelines, oil fields, mining or forestry operations, and 
in freight hauling operations. Cleaning, repairing and sale of parts and accessories may be 
allowed as part of the principal use.  Such a facility may include an administrative office, 
ancillary structures, outdoor work areas, parking, and outdoor storage areas. 


MANUFACTURED HOME means a completely self-contained dwelling unit, designed and 
constructed entirely off-site, and transported in one or more pieces. 


MANUFACTURING AND FABRICATION OPERATION means a commercial operation where the 
land and buildings are used for the manufacture or fabrication of products or parts, and 
also the retail sale of such products or parts to the general public.  Such a facility may 
include an administrative office, ancillary structures, outdoor work areas, parking, and 
outdoor storage areas. 


MARKET GARDEN means the growing of vegetables or fruit for commercial purposes.  This 
use includes an area for the display and sale of goods or produce grown or raised on site. 


MEDICAL/HEALTH FACILITY means a facility for the provision of human health services 
without overnight accommodation for patients and may include associated office space.  
Typical uses include physiotherapy, registered massage therapy, doctor, dentist, 
optometrist, and chiropractic offices. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 49 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


 


MINI STORAGE   means the use of land with compartmentalized buildings or a designated 
site set up for the storage of equipment, household or business materials, or vehicles, but 
excludes storage of hazardous goods or materials.  Accessory to this use is the exterior 
screened storage of recreational vehicles, boats, trailers and similar items. 


MIXED USE BUILDING means a building used partly for residential and partly for commercial 
use. 


MOBILE HOME   means any structure, whether ordinarily equipped with wheels or not, that 
is designed, constructed, or manufactured to be moved from one place to another by being 
towed or carried. 


MOTEL means a building or group of buildings on a site designed and operated to provide 
temporary accommodation for transient motorists and contains separate sleeping units, 
each of which is provided with an adjoining conveniently located parking stall.  The building 
may also include accessory eating and drinking establishments and personal service shops. 


MOVED-IN BUILDING means a previously used or existing, established and working building, 
which is removed from a site, and then transported and re-established on another site. 


MOVED-IN DWELLING means a previously existing, established and occupied dwelling, 
which is removed from one site and then transported and re-established on another site.  
For the purposes of this bylaw, a moved-in building does not include a “manufactured 
home”, “modular home”, “ready-to-move home”, motor home, travel trailer, recreation 
vehicle and any similar vehicles that are neither intended for permanent residential 
habitation nor subject to the current provincial building requirements. 


MUSEUM means a building or site used for the preservation, collection, restoration, display 
and/or demonstration of articles of historical significance and may include archival records 
of a geographic area or of a time period.  See INSTITUTIONAL. 


O 
OFFICE means development primarily for the provision of professional, management, 
administrative, consulting, or financial services in an office setting.  Typical uses include 
but are not limited to the offices of lawyers, accountants, travel agents, real estate and 
insurance firms, planners, clerical and secretarial agencies.  This excludes government 
services, the servicing and repair of goods, the sale of goods to the customer on the site, 
and the manufacturing or handling of a product. 


OUTDOOR STORAGE means the use of land with or without attendant buildings for the 
open, outdoor storage of equipment, materials or vehicles, or processed or unprocessed 
resources or materials.  For the purposes of this bylaw, this definition is limited to those 
uses that require minimal on-site improvements, service and public amenities or facilities 
and does not include those goods or materials which are hazardous. 







 


50 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


P 
PANELLIZED DWELLING means a prefabricated dwelling unit consisting of factory built wall 
panels which are assembled on site.  All service systems and connections must comply 
with Alberta Safety Codes. 


PARK MODEL TRAILER means a recreational vehicle that is either:  
(a) built on a single chassis mounted on wheels designed for infrequent towing by a 


heavy-duty tow vehicle but is restricted in size and weight so that it does not require a 
special highway movement permit and conforms to the CSA-Z-240 standard for 
recreational vehicles; or 


(b) a recreational vehicle intended for temporary residence or seasonal use built on a 
single chassis mounted on wheels, which may be removed and returned to the factory, 
requiring a special tow vehicle and highway permit to move on the road and conforms 
to the CSA Z-241 standard for recreational vehicles. 


PARKS AND PLAYGROUNDS means land developed for public recreational activities that do 
not require major buildings or facilities, and includes picnic areas, playgrounds, pedestrian 
and bicycle paths, landscaped areas and associated public washrooms.  This may include 
public open space, which is not in private ownership and is open to use by the public. 


PATIO means an outdoor area of a lot developed and used for leisure and/or recreation 
purposes. 


PERMANENT FOUNDATION means a foundation installed to provide structural support for a 
building or structure, for a period of at least 20 years including:  concrete slab on grade, 
concrete strip footings, wood or concrete full basement and pile or pier footings. 


PERSONAL SERVICES means uses that provide personal services to an individual that are 
related to the care and appearance of the body or the cleaning and repair of personal 
effects.  Typical uses include but are not limited to barber shops, beauty salons, 
hairdressers, manicurists, aestheticians, fitness facility, tailors, dress makers, shoe repair 
shops, dry cleaning establishments, and laundries but does not include health services. 


PORCH means a covered, open accessory structure (unenclosed) that is attached to the 
exterior of a building, often forming a covered entrance to a doorway.  The structure does 
not have solid walls, but may be screened. 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 51 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


PUBLIC OR PRIVATE UTILITY means any one or more of the following: 
(a) systems for the distribution of gas, whether artificial or natural; 
(b) facilities for the storage, transmission, treatment, distribution or supply of water; 
(c) facilities for the collection, treatment, movement or disposal of sanitary sewage; 
(d)  storm sewage drainage facilities; 
(e) telecommunications systems; 
(f) systems for the distribution of artificial light or electric power; 
(g) facilities used for the storage of telephone, cable, remote weather stations or internet 


infrastructure; 
(h) any other things prescribed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council by regulation. 


R 
RECREATION, PRIVATE means sports or recreational or retreat activities, use, facilities 
including associated eating and retail areas, provided by commercial for-profit and 
non-profit businesses where the public is admitted for a fee or where admission is limited 
to members of an organization or limited group.  Such uses include, but are not limited to, 
gymnasiums, athletic/sport fields, shooting ranges, paint-ball, go-cart tracks, golf courses 
and ranges, outdoor mini-golf, recreation centres, indoor/outdoor ice rinks, campgrounds 
retreats and country clubs. 


RECREATION, PUBLIC means sports or recreational or retreat activities, uses or facilities, 
including associated eating and retail areas, for public use which are public-owned or 
operated (i.e. municipal, provincial, or federal including local boards, agencies or 
commissions of the Village).  Such uses include, but are not limited to, gymnasiums, 
athletic/sports fields shooting ranges, paint-ball, go-cart tracks, golf courses and ranges, 
outdoor mini-golf, recreation centres indoor/outdoor ice rinks, campground, retreats, and 
country clubs. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLE / HOLIDAY TRAILER means a transportable living unit, designed to 
be moved on its own wheels or by other means (including units permanently mounted on 
trucks), designed or constructed to be used for sleeping or living purposes on a short-term, 
temporary basis.  Such living units are subject to highway safety standards rather than 
housing standards.  Typical units include, but are not limited to motor homes, campers, 
holiday trailers, travel trailers, fifth wheel trailers, tent trailers and park model trailers.  
These units are not permitted as permanent dwellings. 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLE STORAGE – SEE OUTDOOR STORAGE 


RECYCLING FACILITY means a development for the purchasing, receiving and/or 
temporary storage of discarded articles, provided that the use does not generate a 
detrimental effect or nuisance beyond the parcel or lot upon which it is situated.  This use 
may involve supplementary production of by-products or materials and includes bottle, 
can, and paper recycling depots. 







 


52 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


RELIGIOUS ASSEMBLY FACILITY means a building whose primary purpose is to facilitate 
meetings of a group of people for public worship or religious activities.  


RETAIL means commercial premises where goods, merchandise, substances, articles, and 
other materials, are offered for sale to the general public.  These uses exclude cannabis 
retail stores, warehouse sales and the sale of gasoline, heavy agricultural and industrial 
equipment, alcoholic beverages, or retail stores requiring outdoor storage.  Minor 
government services, such as postal services, are permitted within general retail stores. 


S 
SANDBLASTING FACILITIES means a business where the major source of activity involves 
the large scale sandblasting of agricultural, industrial or other equipment/items.  
Sandblasting facilities may also include welding and painting facilities on-site. 


SCHOOL means a place of instruction offering courses of study.  Included in the category 
are public, private, and separate schools. 


SECONDARY SUITE means a facility containing cooking facilities, food preparation area, 
sleeping and sanitary facilities, which is physically separate from those of the principal 
dwelling within the structure.  A secondary suite shall also have an entrance separate from 
the entrance to the principal dwelling, either from a common indoor landing or directly from 
the exterior of the structure. 


SENIOR CITIZENS HOUSING means a dwelling unit or accommodation sponsored and 
administered by any public agency or any non-profit organization, either of which obtains 
its financial assistance from Federal, Provincial, or Municipal Governments or agencies or 
public subscriptions or donation or any combinations thereof.  Senior citizen 
accommodation may include lounge, dining, health care, and recreation facilities.  Also see 
ASSISTED LIVING. 


SERVICE STATION or GAS BAR means any lot or building used for the retail sale of motor 
accessories, gasoline or other fuels and the supply of washing, greasing, cleaning and 
minor repair services for motor vehicles. 


SHIPPING CONTAINER means any container that is or was used for transport of goods by 
means of rail, truck or by sea.  These are generally referred to as a C-Container, sea cargo 
container, sea can or cargo container.  Such containers are typically rectangular in shape 
and are generally made of metal.  For the purposes of this bylaw, when such a container is 
used for any purpose other than transporting freight, it will be considered as a structure, 
must conform to these regulations and require a development permit. 


SHOW HOME means a finished dwelling unit which has been staged with appliances, 
furniture, and decorations for the viewing public as a sales tool.  A show home may or may 
not contain a sales office for the development. 


 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 53 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


SIGN means any object, structure, fixture, placard, device and components, or portion 
thereof, which is used to advertise, identify, communicate, display, direct or attract 
attention to an object, matter, thing, person, institution, organization, business, product, 
service, event or location by any means. 


SOLAR PANEL means a panel designed to absorb the sun rays as a source of energy for 
generating electricity or heating. 


SWIMMING POOL means a structure, basin or tank containing or artificially created pool of 
water greater than 600 mm in depth at any point, and is used for swimming, recreation, 
bathing, diving, wading, healing or therapy, religious rituals, or other purposes and includes 
all buildings, equipment, and facilities used in connection with it. 


T 
TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA means a structure and any associated system, including 
all masts, towers and other antenna supporting structures that is used for the 
transmission, emission or reception of television, radio, internet, or telecommunication. 


TOURIST INFORMATION means a development intended to provide information to the 
travelling public and may include washroom and picnic facilities and accessory retail sales. 


TOWING OPERATION means a business engaged in transporting vehicles to an 
alternate location. 


TRANSPORTATION/DELIVERY SERVICE means development involving the use of one or 
more vehicles to transport people, mail, currency, documents, packages and articles for 
compensation such as a mobile catering service, the rental or lease of vans and trucks, taxi 
service, limousine or bus service and may include limited storage and repair of the vehicles 
used.  This use does not include towing operation. 


TRANSPORTATION DISPATCH/DEPOT means a facility for the purpose of storing and/or 
dispatching trucks, buses, fleet vehicles, and transport vehicles and may include towing 
operations.  The use may also involve the transfer of goods primarily involving the loading 
and unloading of freight-carrying trucks. 


TRUCK STOP means a building, premise or land in which or upon which a business, service 
or industry involving in the maintenance, servicing, storage or report of commercial 
vehicles is conducted or rendered including the dispensing of fuel products, the sale of 
accessories and/or equipment for trucks and similar commercial vehicles.  A truck stop 
may also include convenience stores and restaurant facilities, and may include overnight 
accommodation facilities solely for the use of truck crews. 


TRUCK WASH means a commercial vehicle washing facility associated with large vehicles 
such as tractor trailers. 


U 







 


54 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


U
S


E
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


USE-means the purposes for which land or a building is arranged or intended, or for which 
either land, a building or a structure is, or may be, occupied and maintained. 


UTILITIES – See PUBLIC OR PRIVATE UTILITY 


V 
VETERINARY CLINIC – see ANIMAL CARE SERVICE 


W 
WAREHOUSE means a facility for the storage of commercial goods, materials or equipment. 


WASTE MANAGEMENT SITES means a development for the commercial receiving of spent 
materials, provided that no detrimental effects or nuisances are generated beyond the 
parcel upon which it is situated.  This use includes a dry waste site, a hazardous waste 
management facility and a waste sorting station.  This use does not include a RECYCLING 
FACILITY. 


WASTE MANAGEMENT TRANSFER STATION means a facility for the collection and 
temporary holding of solid waste in a transferable storage container. 


WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT has the same meaning as referred to in the Subdivision 
and Development Regulation and as in the Environmental Protection and Enhancement 
Act.  This definition also includes a wastewater treatment stabilization plant. 


WATER TREATMENT PLANT means a facility that treats raw water so that it is safe for 
human consumption and then distributes it for human use. 







 


 


D
IM


E
N


S
IO


N
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


A
N


D
 S


E
TB


A
C


KS
 Schedule 3 


DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS AND 
SETBACKS 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 55 


D
IM


E
N


S
IO


N
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


A
N


D
 S


E
TB


A
C


KS
 Schedule 3 


  DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS AND SETBACKS 


SECTION 1 DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS AND MINUMUM SETBACKS 


1.1 Tables 3.2.1, 3.3.1 and 3.4.1 list the dimensional standards and setback 
requirements that apply to specific uses within each of the land use districts. 


1.2 In addition to Schedule 3, Section 1.1, all development in all land use districts, 
including structure, sign and screening placement, are required to abide by 
the directives given in an Area Structure Plan. 


SECTION 2 MINIMUM LOT SIZE 


2.1 Minimum Dimensions Table  
 


Land Use 
District 


Specific Use Minimum Lot Size 


Residential – R All uses 
929.4 m2 (10,000 ft2) 


or as required by the MPC 


     


Land Use 
District 


Uses Width Length Area 


 m ft m ft m2 ft2 


Commercial – C All uses 7.6 25 35.1 115 267.1 2,875 


Industrial – I All uses 30.5 100 35.1 115 
1068.


4 
11,500 


Public – P All uses As required by the MPC 


2.2 The following definitions apply: 


(a) LOT in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, means 
(i) a part of a parcel where the boundaries are separately described in 


the certificate of title other than by reference to a legal subdivision; 
(ii) a part of a parcel of land described in a certificate of title if the 


boundaries of the part are described in a certificate of title by 
reference to a plan of subdivision. 


(iii) Where a certificate of title contains one or more lots described in a 
plan of subdivision that was registered in a land titles office before 
July 1, 1950, lot means parcel. 


(b) LOT WIDTH means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines 
measured at a point perpendicular to the front property line. 


(c) LOT LENGTH means the horizontal distance between the front and the 
rear lot lines measure along the median between the side lot lines. 







 


56 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


D
IM


E
N


S
IO


N
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


A
N


D
 S


E
TB


A
C


KS
 


(d) LOT AREA means the total area of a lot. 


(e) CORNER LOT means a lot located at the intersection of two or more 
streets. 


(f) INTERIOR LOT means a lot situated between two lots or another lot and a 
lane and having access to not more than one street. 


(g) LOT FRONTAGE means the front lot line or that side of a lot abutting a 
public roadway, but does not include any side abutting a lane, unless said 
lane is the only means of physical access to a lot. 


(h) LOT LINE means a legally defined boundary of any lot.  The term property 
line and boundary line have the corresponding meaning. 


2.3 The Municipal Planning Commission may approve a commercial development 
on an existing registered lot the minimum dimensions or area of which are 
less than those specified in 2.1 provided that the minimum area allowed is not 
less than 232.3 m2 (2,500 ft2). 


SECTION 3 MINIMUM SETBACKS  


3.1 Minimum Setback Table 
 


Land Use 
Districts 


Specific Use Minimum Setbacks 


  Front Secondary 
Front 


Side Rear 


Residential – R m ft m ft m ft m ft 


 Single unit, dwelling 7.6 25 3.8 12.5 1.5 5 7.6 25 


 2 unit, 3-unit & 4-
unit, apartment, 
senior citizen 
housing 


7.6 25 3.8 12.5 3.0 10 7.6 25 


 Row  (interior unit) 7.6 25 common wall common wall 7.6 25 


           (end unit) 7.6 25 3.8 12.5 3.0 10 7.6 25 


 Accessory building 7.6 25 3.8 12.5 1.5 5 1.5 5 


Commercial – C         


 All uses 0 0 0 0 0 0 7.6 25 


 Where adjacent to R, 
P 


0 0 0 0 6.1 20 7.6 25 


Industrial – I         


 All uses 7.6 25 7.6 25 3.0 10 7.6 25 


 Where adjacent to R, 
P 


7.6 25 7.6 25 6.1 20 7.6 25 


Public – P         


 All uses 7.6 25 3.8 12.5 3.0 10 7.6 25 


3.2 The following definitions apply:  







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 57 


D
IM


E
N


S
IO


N
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


A
N


D
 S


E
TB


A
C


KS
 


(a) YARD means the area between a lot line and the nearest part of any 
building, structure, development, excavation or use on the lot. 


(b) FRONT YARD means a yard extending across the full width of a lot and 
situated between the front lot line and the nearest portion of the 
principal buildings. 


(c) SIDE YARD means a yard extending from the front yard to the rear yard 
and situated between the side lot lines and the nearest portion of the 
principal building.  See figure. 


(d) REAR YARD means a yard extending across the full width of a lot and 
situated between the rear lot lines and the nearest portion of the 
principal building. 


(e) SECONDARY FRONT YARD means a yard on a corner lot with street 
frontage but which is not the frontage where the main entrance to the 
building or development is oriented or is the yard which is designated the 
secondary front by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


3.3 Where any lot has more than one front yard line, the front setback 
requirements shall apply to one yard, but only one-half the front yard 
requirement may apply to the other front yard and that yard shall be 
considered a secondary front yard. 


 
 


3.4 Structures that are attached to a principal building are subject to the 
principal setbacks excepting the permitted projections in Section 3.5. 


3.5 The following features may, subject to the relevant provisions of Safety 
Codes, project into the required setbacks under this bylaw: 


(a) unenclosed steps or unenclosed fire escapes; 


(b) a wheelchair ramp; 


(c) fences/walls to property line in accordance with the applicable district; 


(d) driveways, curbs and sidewalks; 


(e) off-street parking; 


(f) cooling units not to exceed 0.9 m (3 ft); 


(g) mailboxes; 


(h) landscaping, fish ponds, ornaments, flagpoles (less than 4.6 m (15 ft) in 
height), or other similar landscaping features; 







 


58 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


D
IM


E
N


S
IO


N
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


A
N


D
 S


E
TB


A
C


KS
 


(i) temporary swimming pools in accordance with the applicable land use 
district; and 


(j) signs. 


3.6 The portions of and attachments to a principal building which may project 
over a setback are as follows:  


(a) eaves, fireplaces, belt courses, bay windows, cornices, sills or other 
similar architectural features may project over a side setback as 
permitted under the relevant provisions of Safety Codes and over a front 
or rear setback a distance not to exceed 1.2 m (4 ft); 


(b) an uncovered balcony, cantilever, or other similar feature may project 
over a side or rear setback a distance not to exceed one-half of the width 
of the smallest setback required for the site; 


(c) a chimney which is not more than 1.2 m (4 ft) wide and projects not more 
than 0.3 m (1 ft) into a rear or side setback. 


3.7 The Municipal Planning Commission may require increased building setbacks 
(other than those listed in Table 3.3.1) if such setbacks would: 


(a) help avoid land use conflict; 


(b) enhance the appearance of the area. 


SECTION 4 FLOOR AREA AND BUILDING HEIGHT 


4.1 Floor Area and Building Height Table 
 


Land Use 
Districts Specific Use Minimum Floor Area 


Maximum Building 
Height 


Residential – R  m2 ft2 m ft 


 Single unit, dwelling(a) 55.7 600 10.1 33 


 2 unit, 3-unit, 4-unit & 
row dwelling units  55.7 600 10.1 33 


 Apartment As required by the MPC As required by the MPC 


 Senior citizen housing As required by the MPC As required by the MPC 


 Accessory building n/a 5.0 16.4 


Commercial – C / 
Industrial - I 


 m2 ft2 m ft 


 All uses n/a 10.7 35 


Public – P      


 All uses n/a As required by the MPC 


 


4.2 Floor area means the sum of the gross horizontal area of the several floors 
and passageways of a building not including basements, attached garages 
and open porches. 


 







 


 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


N
O


T 
R


E
Q


U
IR


IN
G


 A
 P


E
R


M
IT


 


Schedule 4 


DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 61 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


N
O


T 
R


E
Q


U
IR


IN
G


 A
 P


E
R


M
IT


 


Schedule 4 


  DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT 


SECTION 1 DEVELOPMENT NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT  


1.1 The following developments shall not require a development permit: 


(a) any use or development exempted under section 618(1) of the Municipal 
Government Act; 


(b) any use or development exempted by the Lieutenant Governor in Council 
pursuant to section 618(4) of the Municipal Government Act; 


(c) the completion of a building which was lawfully under construction at 
the date this bylaw came into effect provided that the building is 
completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of any 
development permit granted; 


(d) the completion of a building that did not require a development permit 
under the previous Land Use Bylaw and which was lawfully under 
construction provided the building is completed within 12 months from 
the date this bylaw came into effect. 


1.2 The following developments shall not require a development permit, but 
must otherwise comply with all other provisions of this bylaw: 


(a) the maintenance or repair of any building provided that the work does 
not include structural alterations or additions; 


(b) interior renovations to a building which do not: 
(i) create another dwelling unit, 
(ii) increase parking requirements, or 
(iii) result in the change of use of a building; 


(c) the temporary placement or construction of works, plants or machinery 
(not including shipping containers) needed to construct a development 
for which a development permit has been issued for the period of those 
operations; 


(d) the maintenance or repair of public works, services and utilities on 
publicly owned or administered land carried out by or on behalf of 
federal, provincial, municipal or public authorities; 


(e) any structure placed on a lot which is 11.1 m2 (120 ft2) or less in area that 
is not on a permanent foundation; 


(f) in all districts the erection, maintenance or alteration of a fence, gate, 
wall, hedge or other means of enclosure that does not exceed 0.9 m (3 ft) 
in height in any front yard and 1.8 m (6 ft) in height in any secondary 
front, rear or side yard; 







 


62 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


N
O


T 
 


R
E


Q
U


IR
IN


G
 A


 P
E


R
M


IT
 


(g) in the Industrial land use district, the erection, maintenance or alteration 
of a fence, gate, wall hedge, or other means of enclosure; 


(h) landscaping that was not required as part of the original development 
permit; 


(i) any satellite dish less than 0.9 m (3 ft) in diameter; 


(j) temporary outdoor swimming pools and above ground hot tubs; must 
meet provincial safety codes; 


(k) the installation of cement or other hard surface material that is not to be 
covered or partially covered by a roof or other shelter; 


(l) excavation, grading, stripping, or stockpile provided it is part of a 
development for which a development permit has been issued or is 
addressed in a signed Development Agreement with the Village of 
Glenwood; 


(m) the construction of uncovered decks or patios 0.6 m (2 ft) or lower to 
ground level (a covered deck shall require a development permit); and 


(n) the replacement of any existing structures or buildings. 


 


If there is a doubt to whether a development is of a kind listed above, the matter shall 
be decided by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


 







 


 


G
E


N
E


R
A


L 
A


N
D


 U
S


E
 S


P
E


C
IF


IC
 


S
TA


N
D


A
R


D
S


 O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


Schedule 5 


GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 63 


G
E


N
E


R
A


L 
A


N
D


 U
S


E
 S


P
E


C
IF


IC
 


S
TA


N
D


A
R


D
S


 O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T  


Schedule 5 


  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


 Except for more specific, alternative or contradictory standards as may be 
 set forth within the Residential Standards found in Schedule 6 or the 
 Commercial / Industrial Standards found in Schedule 7, the following 
 standards apply to all uses in all districts.  


SECTION 1 STATUTORY PLANS 


1.1 Where the policies, rules or procedures indicated in a statutory plan vary, 
supplement, reduce, replace or qualify the requirements of this bylaw for a 
particular district or districts, the policies, rules or procedures indicated in the 
statutory plan shall take precedence. 


SECTION 2 APPROVAL OF ACCESS 


2.1 Location of the access to each development from a public roadway should be 
shown on the plot plan submitted with the application for a development 
permit and is subject to the approval of the Development Officer or Municipal 
Planning Commission. 


SECTION 3 DESIGN AND ORIENTATION OF BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES AND SIGNS 


3.1 Subject to the requirements of the Safety Codes, the Municipal Planning 
Commission may require that buildings be physically accessible to disabled 
persons. 


SECTION 4 DEVELOPMENT OF LANDS SUBJECT TO SUBSIDENCE, UNDERMINING OR 
FLOODING 


4.1 If in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, land upon which 
development is proposed is subject to subsidence, mass wasting, flooding or 
undermining the Municipal Planning Commission may require the applicant to 
submit a structural building plan prepared and sealed by an engineer, and/or 
a slope stability analysis, and/or geotechnical report, and/or flood mapping 
prepared by an engineer demonstrating that any potential hazards can be 
mitigated. 


SECTION 5  GRADING AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 


5.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may require as a condition of 
development approval: 


(a) engineered grading and drainage plans for the development and legal 
survey demonstrating that engineered grades have been met; 







 


64 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


G
E


N
E


R
A


L 
A


N
D


 U
S


E
 S


P
E


C
IF


IC
 


S
TA


N
D


A
R


D
S


 O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T  


(b) grading and other measures, as appropriate, to control surface drainage, 
reduce or eliminate grade difference between adjacent lots, and 
minimize erosion or slope instability; 


(c) the final grades of the development must be approved by the Municipal 
Planning Commission before the issuance of a development permit; 


(d) the applicant is responsible for ensuring adherence to final grades. 


5.2 The construction of a retaining wall whenever, in the opinion of the Municipal 
Planning Commission, significant differences in grade exist or will exist 
between the lot being developed and any adjacent lot or roadway.  Where a 
retaining wall is required, the applicant shall submit to the Development 
Officer plans identifying the design and specifications of development for 
review and approval by the accredited Safety Codes Officer. 


5.3 Roof and surface drainage shall be directed either to the public roadway 
fronting the property, or as approved by the Development Officer, to a rear or 
side property boundary or as approved in an engineered storm water 
management plan. 


5.4 When discharging, storm water connections or sump hoses must be greater 
than 1.8 m (6 ft) from the front property line. 


SECTION 6 SHIPPING CONTAINERS 


6.1 Any shipping container shall be subject to the following general standards: 


(a) An application for a development permit for a proposed shipping 
container must be completed and submitted to the Development Officer 
accompanied by the applicable application fee and a minimum of four 
recent colour photographs of each container (one end view and one side 
view). 


(b) There shall be a legal primary use on the property where the shipping 
container is proposed. 


(c) The Development Officer may regulate the maximum number of shipping 
containers permitted on a lot. 


(d) The Development Officer may require as a condition of approval that a 
shipping container(s) be screened from view or landscaped to make it 
aesthetically pleasing. 


(e) The Development Officer may require as a condition of approval that any 
shipping container be sandblasted and/or painted a neutral or 
complementary colour to match the existing building(s) on the property. 


(f) The Development Officer may require as a condition of approval that the 
exterior of the shipping container be kept clean and regularly painted in a 
neutral or complementary colour to match the existing building(s) on the 
property. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 65 


G
E


N
E


R
A


L 
A


N
D


 U
S


E
 S


P
E


C
IF


IC
 


S
TA


N
D


A
R


D
S


 O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T  


6.2 A permanent shipping container is subject to the following additional 
provisions: 


(a) the maximum lot coverage and setback requirements for accessory 
structures in the applicable land use district; 


(b) the shipping container may only be permitted in the secondary front, 
rear, or side yard; and 


(c) the shipping container shall not display advertising, company logos, 
names or other marketing. 


6.3 A shipping container may be placed temporarily on a construction site for the 
period of construction with an approved development permit, subject to the 
following provisions: 


(a) temporary shipping containers are subject to the standards in section 6 
above; 


(b) the shipping container is needed in connection with construction of a 
development for which a development permit has been issued; 


(c) the construction site is active (i.e., construction has commenced and is 
on-going or is about to commence within one week); placement of a 
shipping container on an inactive construction site is prohibited; 


(d) setbacks for a temporary shipping container shall be as required by the 
Development Officer; 


(e) the shipping container shall be removed immediately upon completion of 
construction or sooner as may be required by the Development Officer. 


SECTION 7 TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA SITING PROTOCOLS (also APPENDIX B) 


7.1 Telecommunication, radio communication and broadcast antenna systems 
are regulated by Industry Canada.  An applicant proposing to locate a 
telecommunication, radio communication or broadcast antenna system 
within the Village which does not meet the exclusion criteria in Appendix B 
shall be subject to the following siting protocols: 


(a) Co-utilization 
The applicant shall be requested to identify any other similar antenna 
systems within a radius of 500 m (1,640 ft) of the proposed location and 
to provide documentary evidence that co-utilization of the existing 
antenna systems is not a viable alternative to the proposed antenna. 


(b) Siting Options 
The applicant shall be requested to identify siting options and any 
alternative locations considered. 


(c) Appearance 
Antenna systems which are visible from residential areas are encouraged 
to employ innovative design measures such as a monopole construction 
to mitigate the visual impact of the antenna system. 







 


66 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


G
E


N
E


R
A


L 
A


N
D


 U
S


E
 S


P
E


C
IF


IC
 


S
TA


N
D


A
R


D
S


 O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T  


(d) Landscaping 
The landscaping requirement of the land use district in which the 
development is proposed should be integrated into the site design, 
except where existing site vegetation is deemed comparable by the 
Municipal Planning Commission to the land use district requirements. 


(e) Lighting and Signage 
(i) Lighting in addition to that which is required by applicable federal 


agencies shall be avoided.  Security lighting may be considered 
provided it meets the requirements of the applicable land use 
district. 


(ii) Only signage that is required by applicable federal agencies is 
permitted.  No advertising signage shall be permitted. 


(f) Municipal Concurrence 
(i) The applicant shall be required to present the proposed development 


to the Municipal Planning Commission at a public meeting and 
submit the following plans at least two weeks before the scheduled 
meeting:  site plan identifying the location of the proposed 
development, access, distance from property lines, easements, 
rights-of-way or any other development constraint on the property, 
proposed fencing or other security measures, and landscaping plan; 
and antenna height, type, design, material, appearance and lighting. 


(ii) Upon conclusion of the public consultation process, the Municipal 
Planning Commission will issue a response to the applicant in writing 
indicating either concurrence of the proposed development or 
specific concerns or comments relating to the antenna system. 


(g) Public Consultation 
(i) The applicant shall be required to hold a public meeting before the 


Municipal Planning Commission at the Village office or another 
location approved by the Village administration to explain all aspects 
of the proposed development, including but not limited to siting, 
technology and appearance of the structure. 


(ii) The Village will notify all land owners within a distance of 500 m 
(1,640 ft) of the proposed structure at the expense of the applicant. 


 


 







 


 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


Schedule 6 


RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 67 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


Schedule 6 


  RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


 The following standards are applicable to residential development.  Sections 
 1-12 are applicable to all residential development types.  Sections 13-14 are 
 applicable to specific residential development types. 


SECTION 1 ACCESSORY BUILDINGS 


1.1 Accessory buildings shall be located at least 1.2 m (4 ft) from the principal 
building. 


1.2 Accessory buildings shall be constructed such that eaves shall be no closer 
than 0.6 m (2 ft) from a side lot line or rear lot line and all drainage is 
conducted to the appropriate storm drain via the applicant’s own property. 


1.3 Accessory buildings or structures shall not be located in the front yard in 
relation to the principal building. 


1.4 No accessory building, structure and/or use shall be allowed in the village 
unless a principal building, structure or use is in existence on the property or 
a duly issued permit has been approved by the village for the construction of 
the principal building, structure or use. 


1.5 The maximum height for an accessory building or structure shall be 5.0 m 
(16.4 ft). 


SECTION 2 APARTMENTS AND MULTI-UNIT DWELLINGS 


Apartment and multi-unit dwellings are subject to the following additional 
standards: 


2.1 A site plan shall be submitted with the development permit application as 
referred to in Section 26 of the Administration component of this Land Use 
Bylaw. 


2.2 A minimum 1.5 m (5 ft) wide landscaped buffer strip is required between a 
parking lot and an adjacent residential lot. 


SECTION 3 EASEMENTS 


3.1 All permanent structures shall be located a minimum of 3.1 m (10 ft), or such 
greater distance as required by the Municipal Planning Commission, from an 
easement registered for the protection of municipal water mains and sewer 
mains or any other infrastructure, as determined by the municipality. 







 


68 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


3.2 No structures shall be located within a registered easement. 


SECTION 4 CORNER VISIBILITY 


4.1 Street Corner Visibility 
On a corner lot, nothing shall be erected, placed, planted or allowed to grow 
in a manner which may restrict traffic visibility at street intersections, 
between 0.9 m (3 ft) and 3.0 m (10 ft) above the centre line grades of the 
intersecting streets in the area bounded by the property lines of such corner 
lots and a line joining points along the said property line 6.1 m (20 ft) from the 
point of intersection (see Figures 6.1 and 6.2).  
 


 
 


Figure 6.1 Figure 6.2 


SECTION 5 DRIVEWAYS, OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS AND DESIGN 
 STANDARDS  


5.1 Driveways shall be a minimum of 3.0 m (10 ft) from the entrance to a lane, 
and 4.6 m (15 ft) from the intersection of two public roadways (see Figure 
6.3). 


Figure 6.3 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 69 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


SECTION 6 FENCES 


6.1 Fencing on corner lots are subject to Schedule 6 Section 4.1 restrictions in 
regard to street corner visibility, wherein nothing shall be erected, placed, 
planted or allowed to grow in a manner which may restrict traffic visibility at 
street intersections, between 0.9 m (3 ft) and 3.0 m (10 ft) above the centre 
line grades of the intersecting streets in the area bounded by the property 
lines of such corner lots and a line joining points along the said property line 
6.1 m (20 ft) from the point of intersection. 


6.2 The use of razor wire is not permitted. 


6.3 The use of electric or electrified fencing is permitted only upon the condition 
that safety signage is properly and prominently placed. 


6.4 A fence shall not be erected or maintained on a property or separating 
adjoining properties unless it is: 


(a) upright; 


(b) sufficiently sturdy so as to not present a hazard of toppling or collapsing; 
and  


(c) made of materials of good quality and suitable for the purpose. 


SECTION 7 RETAINING WALLS, GRADING AND DRAINAGE 


7.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may require: 


(a) the construction of a retaining wall, including submittal of an engineered 
design as a condition of development if significant differences in grade 
exist or will exist between the lot to be developed and adjacent parcels; 


(b) the provision of engineered grading and drainage plans for the 
development; 


(c) special grading and/or paving to prevent drainage problems with 
neighbouring lots as a condition of a development permit. 


7.2 The discharge of sump hoses into the Village’s sanitary sewer system shall 
be prohibited. 


SECTION 8 SITE LIGHTING 


8.1 Site lighting may be required as a condition of development and shall be 
located, oriented and shielded so that it does not adversely affect adjacent 
properties. 


 
 
 
 
 







 


70 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


SECTION 9 REFUSE COLLECTION AND STORAGE 


9.1 Refuse and garbage shall be kept in an enclosure for each use within each 
land use district. 


9.2 All refuse on any construction site shall be properly screened or placed in an 
approved enclosure until removed for disposal. 


SECTION 10 SERVICING 


10.1 All principal use development shall be required to connect to both the 
municipal water supply and sewerage system. 


10.2 Any development that is not currently connected to the municipal water and 
sewage system must pay for the cost to install those services to the 
specified village standards with the understanding that the newly installed 
services and associated infrastructure to the property line belongs to the 
village, or wait until a servicing project is identified as a capital priority of 
Council. 


SECTION 11 DEVELOPMENT AND SERVICING AGREEMENTS 


11.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a 
development, that as a condition of issuing a development permit, the 
applicant enter into an agreement  
with the municipality, pursuant to section 650(1) of the Municipal 
Government Act, to do any or all of the following: 


(a) to construct or pay for the construction of a road required to give access 
to the development; 


(b) to construct or pay for the construction of off-street, or other parking 
facilities and/or loading and unloading facilities in commercial and 
industrial districts; 


(c) to install or pay for the installations of public utilities, including but not 
limited to underground electrical and fibre optic services, that are 
necessary to the development; 


(d) to pay an off-site levy or redevelopment levy; 


(e) to give security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this 
section are carried out as outlined in the current Rates, Fees and 
Charges Bylaw. 


11.2 The Municipal Planning Commission may require, with respect to a 
subdivision that as a condition of issuing an approval for a subdivision, the 
applicant enter into an agreement with the municipality, pursuant to section 
655(1)(b) of the Municipal Government Act.  


11.3 An agreement referred to in this section may require the applicant for a 
development permit or subdivision approval to oversize improvements in 
accordance with section 651 of the Municipal Government Act. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 71 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


11.4 A municipality may register a caveat under the Land Titles Act with respect 
to an agreement under this section against the certificate of title for the land 
that is the subject of the development, or for the parcel of land that is the 
subject of the subdivision. 


11.5 If a municipality registers a caveat under this section, the municipality must 
discharge the caveat when the agreement has been complied with. 


SECTION 12 PRIVATE SWIMMING POOLS 


12.1 Private swimming pools shall be classified as an accessory structure. 


12.2 Any private swimming pool with a design depth greater than 0.6 m (2 ft) shall 
be constructed and fenced in accordance with Safety Codes requirements. 


12.3 Temporary above ground swimming pools and above ground hot tubs do not 
require a development permit, but are subject to Safety Codes and may 
require a building permit. 


SECTION 13 MANUFACTURED HOMES 


Single-detached prefabricated dwelling means: 
• a dwelling unit or portions of a dwelling unit that is built in a factory or 


portions of dwelling units that are built in a factory or location other than 
on the lot intended for occupancy; 


• includes modular, ready-to-move and panellized dwellings; 
• manufactured in accordance with CSA and the Alberta Building Code, 
• is not constructed with a permanent hitch, chassis or other device 


allowing transport of the unit other than for the purpose of delivery to a 
permanent site. 


This definition does not include, park model recreational units, park model 
trailers or travel trailers. 


 
Requirements for Manufactured Homes  


A unit that meets CSA standards and building code (CSA A-277) ü  


Dwelling is securely fastened and placed on:  


    Basement ü  


     Concrete slab ü  


     Concrete strip footing ü  


     Pile or pier footing ü  


Minimum floor area shall not be less than 55.74 m2 (600 ft2) ü  


 







 


72 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


R
E


S
ID


E
N


TI
A


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 


O
F 


D
E


V
E


LO
P


M
E


N
T 


13.1 A development permit for a manufactured home must be issued by the 
Municipal Planning Commission. 


13.2 As a condition of approval the Municipal Planning Commission, at their 
discretion, may place other conditions on a development permit including the 
requirement that the developer provide fencing, address drainage issues, or 
other such matters it considers necessary. 


13.3 A limit of the time completion and full compliance with all stipulated 
requirements shall be established by the Municipal Planning Commission at 
the time of the application. 


SECTION 14 MOVED IN BUILDINGS 


Moved in building means a previously used or existing building which is 
removed from a site and transported then placed on another site. 


14.1 The building and the land upon which it is to be located shall be subject to all 
conditions and regulations specified for the particular land use district. 


14.2 The building shall comply with all provincial, municipal, health, and fire 
regulations.  A report by a building inspector regarding each application shall 
be filed before any such application shall be considered by the Municipal 
Planning Commission. 


14.3 The Requirements  of the building shall be established by the Municipal 
Planning Commission at the time of approval and shall form a part of the 
conditions of the development permit. 


14.4 A limit of the time completion and full compliance with all stipulated 
requirements shall be established by the Municipal Planning Commission at 
the time of the application.  


14.5 The application should be accompanied by recent colour photographs of all 
elevations of the moved in building. 


14.6 The Municipal Planning Commission may require a security bond, as referred 
to in the current Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw, to ensure the conditions of 
the development permit are met.  If the cost to complete the work in the 
conditions of the approval is greater than the security bond, construction 
may be completed by the Village and additional costs may be charged 
against the property tax. 


14.7 All moved in buildings shall obtain any necessary building inspections, fire 
code requirements, and/or any municipal, provincial, or federal approvals 
that are necessary for the relocation of the said structure. 


 







 


 


C
O


M
M


E
R


C
IA


L 
/ 


IN
D


U
S


TR
IA


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 O


F 
D


E
V


E
LO


P
M


E
N


T 


Schedule 7 


COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 73 


C
O


M
M


E
R


C
IA


L 
/ 


IN
D


U
S


TR
IA


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 O


F 
D


E
V


E
LO


P
M


E
N


T 


Schedule 7 


  COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS 


   The following standards are applicable to commercial and industrial   
   development. 


SECTION 1 EASEMENTS 


1.1 All permanent structures shall be located a minimum of 3.1 m (10 ft), or such 
greater distance as required by the Municipal Planning Commission, from an 
easement registered for the protection of municipal water mains and sewer 
mains or any other such infrastructure, as determined by the municipality. 


1.2 No structures shall be located within a registered easement. 


SECTION 2 CORNER VISIBILITY 


2.1 Street Corner Visibility 
On a corner lot, nothing shall be erected, placed, planted or allowed to grow 
in a manner which may restrict traffic visibility at street intersections, 
between 0.9 m (3 ft) and 3.0 m (10 ft) above the centre line grades of the 
intersecting streets in the area bounded by the property lines of such corner 
lots and a line joining points along the said property line 6.1 m (20 ft) from the 
point of intersection (see Figures 7.1 and 7.2). 
 


 


Figure 7.1  Figure 7.2 


SECTION 3 FENCING 


3.1 The use of barbed wire below a height of 1.8 m (6 ft) is not permitted. 


3.2 The use of razor wire is not permitted. 


3.3 Fencing shall not be permitted to be constructed within any developed or 
undeveloped roadway or laneway right-of-way.  Removal of such fencing will 
be at the property owner’s expense. 







 


74 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


C
O


M
M


E
R


C
IA


L 
/ 


IN
D


U
S


TR
IA


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 O


F 
D


E
V


E
LO


P
M


E
N


T 


3.4 The use of electric or electrified fencing is permitted only upon the condition 
that safety signage is properly and prominently placed. 


3.5 A fence shall not be erected or maintained on a property or separating 
adjoining properties unless it is: 


(a) upright; 


(b) sufficiently sturdy so as not to present a hazard of toppling or collapse; 
and 


(c) made of materials of good quality and suitable for the purpose. 


SECTION 4 RETAINING WALLS, GRADING AND DRAINAGE 


4.1 The Municipal Planning Commission may require: 


(a) the construction of a retaining wall, including submittal of an engineered 
design as a condition of development if significant differences in grade 
exist or will exist between the lot to be developed and adjacent parcels; 


(b) the provision of engineered grading and drainage plans for the 
development; 


(c) special grading and/or paving to prevent drainage problems with 
neighbouring lots as a condition of a development permit. 


4.2 The discharge of sump hoses into the Village’s sanitary sewer system shall 
be prohibited. 


SECTION 5 OUTDOOR DISPLAY AND STORAGE 


5.1 Temporary outdoor display of goods, materials, and equipment for 
advertising and sale purposes may be permitted in the front yard provided 
the display does not present a safety hazard. 


5.2 The Municipal Planning Commission may impose conditions related to 
screening, buffering or landscaping of any outdoor display areas. 


5.3 Outdoor storage areas shall not be permitted within the front yard. 


5.4 Outdoor storage areas adjacent to a residential lot shall be effectively 
screened by an opaque fence of at least 1.8 m (6 ft) in height or other 
suitable screening to the satisfaction of the Municipal Planning Commission. 


SECTION 6 MITIGATION OF IMPACTS FROM NOISE, ODOR, VIBRATION AND AIR QUALITY 


6.1 Where, in the opinion of the Municipal Planning Commission, a development 
has the potential to create negative impacts on adjacent uses and/or nearby 
residential development in the form of noise, odor, vibration and/or air 
quality, the applicant may be required to submit a mitigation plan 
demonstrating how impacts will be mitigated prior to a decision being made 
on the application. 







 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 75 


C
O


M
M


E
R


C
IA


L 
/ 


IN
D


U
S


TR
IA


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 O


F 
D


E
V


E
LO


P
M


E
N


T 


6.2 A mitigation plan is required as a condition of approval as well as any other 
measures deemed necessary by the Municipal Planning Commission to 
mitigate impacts pursuant to subsection 6.1 above. 


SECTION 7 ACCESORY BUILDINGS 


7.1 Accessory buildings shall be located at least 1.2 m (4 ft) from the principal 
building. 


7.2 Accessory buildings shall be constructed such that eaves shall be no closer 
than 0.6 m (2 ft) from a side lot line or rear lot line and all drainage is 
conducted to the appropriate storm drain via the applicant’s own property. 


7.3 Accessory buildings or structures should not to be located in the front yard in 
relation to the principal building unless authorized by the Municipal Planning 
Commission. 


SECTION 8 MOVED-IN BUILDINGS 


8.1 The building and the land upon which it is to be located shall be subject to all 
conditions and regulations specified for the particular land use district. 


8.2 The building shall comply with all provincial and municipal health and fire 
regulations prior to occupancy and release of cash deposit.  A report by a 
building inspector regarding each application shall be filed before any such 
application shall be considered by the Municipal Planning Commission. 


8.3 The requirements of the building shall be established by the Municipal 
Planning Commission at the time of approval of the application and shall 
form a part of the conditions of the development permit. 


8.4 A limit of the time of completion and full compliance with all stipulated 
requirements shall be established by the Municipal Planning Commission at 
the time of the approval of the application. 


8.5 The application should be accompanied by recent colour photographs of all 
elevations of the moved-in building. 


8.6 The Development Officer may require a security bond, as referred to in the 
current Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw, to ensure the conditions of the 
development permit are met.  If the cost to complete the work in the 
conditions of the approval is greater than the security bond, construction 
may be completed by the Village and additional costs may be charged 
against the property tax. 


8.7 All moved in buildings shall obtain any necessary building inspections, fire 
code requirements, and/or any municipal, provincial, or federal approvals 
that are necessary for the relocation of the said structure. 


 







 


76 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


C
O


M
M


E
R


C
IA


L 
/ 


IN
D


U
S


TR
IA


L 
S


TA
N


D
A


R
D


S
 O


F 
D


E
V


E
LO


P
M


E
N


T 


SECTION 9 GAS BARS, SERVICE STATIONS AND BULK FUEL STATIONS 


9.1 Notwithstanding the District Regulations, a use pursuant to this section shall 
not be located on sites, which, in the opinion of the Municipal Planning 
Commission, would be considered unsafe in terms of vehicle circulation, and 
access and egress from the site. 


9.2 Site Area (Minimum) 


(a) Gas Bar:  ¼ acre (1,012 m2 / 10,890 ft2)  


(b) Service Station:  ¼ acre (1,012 m2 / 10,890 ft2)  


(c) Gas Bar or Service Station including Car Wash:  ½ acre (2,023 m2 / 21,780 
ft2)  


(d) Where a service station or gas bar is combined with a convenience store:  
½ acre (2,023 m2 / 21,780 ft2)  


(e) Bulk Fuel Station:  ½ acre (2,023 m2 / 21,780 ft2)  


9.3 Site and Building Requirements 
All parts of the site to which vehicles may have access shall be hard-surfaced 
if the property is accessed from a paved public road or lane, and drained to 
the satisfaction of the Municipal Planning Commission.  


9.4 The maximum building coverage for a use under this section shall be 25 
percent of the site area unless authorized by the Municipal Planning 
Commission. 


SECTION 10 HORTICULTURE OR GREENHOUSES 


Horticulture or Greenhouses may be permitted if they meet the requirements 
generally provided within this bylaw for Commercial/Industrial zones: 


10.1 Only doors that can open completely without violating the minimum setback 
distances to property lines, roadways, rights-of-way and easements shall be 
permitted. 


10.2 No outdoor storage is permitted on the lot unless it is screened by a minimum 
1.8 m (6 ft) high opaque screening or to the satisfaction of the Municipal 
Planning Commission. 


10.3 If the lot is directly adjacent to a residential zone, a minimum 1.8 m (6 ft) high 
opaque screening must be erected along the border with the residential zone 
unless lesser requirements are agreed to by both the Municipal Planning 
Commission and the adjacent residential property owner. 


10.4 Greenhouse structure drawings must be approved by a qualified engineer 
and provided with the development application. 







 


 


A
LT


E
R


N
A


TI
V


E
 E


N
E


R
G


Y
 


Schedule 8 


ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 77 


A
LT


E
R


N
A


TI
V


E
 E


N
E


R
G


Y
 


Schedule 8 


  ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


SECTION 1 ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 


1.1 All alternative energy sources must follow the Government regulation 
guidelines. 


1.2 Micro-generation units guideline basic summary states alternative energy 
sized solely for personal consumption. 


1.3 Small scale generation regulations states must be connected to a distribution 
system and a name plate capacity that will not exceed the electric 
distribution system hosting capacity at the interconnection point, typically 
maximum 25 mega Watts. 


1.4 All alternative energy sources must obtain a development permit. 


1.5 Roof mounted solar panels are permitted; all other sources are classified as 
discretionary and must obtain approval from the Municipal Planning 
Commission with the following stipulations and others as seem fit. 


(a) site plan indicating the location of the development on the parcel and all 
building, structures, registered easements, or right of ways, dimensioned 
to the property lines and draw to satisfactory scale; 


(b) existing and proposed parking, loading areas, abutting streets, avenues 
and lanes; 


(c) photographs and plans of the proposed project indicating: 
(i) rated Kilo Watt output, 
(ii) safety features, 
(iii) estimated life span, 
(iv) specifications on the anchor and guy wire design, 
(v) engineer plans prepared by a professional for units mounted or 


attached to a building, demonstrating that the building can support 
the equipment. 


1.6 Alternative energy sources may be, but are not limited to: 


(a) solar panels; 


(b) bladeless wind turbine; 


(c) blade windmill maximum 1.5 m (5 ft) blade – blades larger than 1.5 m are 
not permitted; 


(d) geothermal conductors. 
 











 


 


C
A


N
N


A
B


IS
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Schedule 9 


CANNABIS REGULATION 


 











 


 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 Page | 79 


C
A


N
N


A
B


IS
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


Schedule 9 


  CANNABIS REGULATION 


SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS 


CANNABIS refers to the plant cannabis sativa and is as defined in the 
Government of Canada Cannabis Act. 


CANNABIS ACCESSORY refers to the products used in the consumption of 
cannabis and is as defined in the Government of Canada Cannabis Act. 


CANNABIS PRODUCTION FACILITY means development where medical 
cannabis is grown, processed, packaged, tested, destroyed, stored or loaded 
for shipping. 


CANNABIS RETAIL STORE means a development for the retail sale of 
cannabis and cannabis accessories but does not include cannabis production 
facility.  The use is defined by its separation from other uses (as defined) as 
follows: 


(a)   25.0 m from the property line of a cannabis retail store to the property 
line of any residential district; 


(b) 100.0 m from the property line of a cannabis retail store to the 
property line of a hospital or school. 


SECTION 2 CANNABIS RETAIL STORE 


All cannabis retail stores are subject to the following requirements: 


2.1 Prior to applying for a municipal development permit for a Cannabis Retail 
Store, the applicant is required to apply to the Alberta Gaming and Liquor 
Commission (AGLC) for a determination of eligibility to obtain a license, and 
submit verification of the AGLC eligibility as part of the development 
application. 


2.2 As part of the development application, the applicant shall demonstrate how 
the building location and design comply with all requirements under the 
Alberta Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis Regulation. 


2.3 That the developer or applicant or owner provide copies of all approved 
Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission licenses as a condition of the 
development permit. 


2.4 The hours of operation for the business shall be limited to 10 a.m. to 5 p.m. 
daily. 







 


80 | Page Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


C
A


N
N


A
B


IS
 R


E
G


U
LA


TI
O


N
 


2.5 All signage for the Cannabis Retail Store use shall be in accordance with the 
Alberta Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis Regulation. 


SECTION 3 CANNABIS PRODUCTION FACILITY 


All cannabis production facilities shall meet the following requirements: 
 
3.1 The owner or applicant must provide as a condition of development a copy of 


the current license for all activities associated with cannabis production as 
issued by Health Canada. 


 
3.2 The owner or applicant must obtain any other approval, permit, authorization, 


consent or license that may be required to ensure compliance with applicable 
federal, provincial or other municipal legislation. 


 
3.3 The development must be done in a manner where all of the processes and 


functions are fully enclosed within a stand-alone building including all 
loading stalls and docks, and garbage containers and waste material. 


 
3.4 The development shall not operate in conjunction with another approved 


use. 
 
3.5 The development shall not include an outdoor area for storage of goods, 


materials or supplies. 
 
3.6 The development must include equipment designed and intended to remove 


odours from the air where it is discharged from the building as part of a 
ventilation system. 


 
3.7 The development must not be within 75.0 metres of a residential or a public 


institutional district, measured from the building foundation containing the 
use to the nearest property line of a parcel designated as a residential or a 
public institutional district. 


 
3.8 The Development Authority may require, as a condition of a development 


permit, a public utility and waste management plan, completed by a qualified 
professional that includes detail on: 


(a) the incineration of waste products and airborne emissions, including 
smell; 


(b) the quantity and characteristics of liquid and waste material discharged 
by the facility; and 


(c) the method and location of collection and disposal of liquid and waste 
material. 


 







FO
R


M
S


 A
N


D
 N


O
TI


C
ES


 
FO


R
M


S
 A


N
D


 N
O


TI
C


ES
 


APPENDIX A 


FORMS AND NOTICES 











Village of Glenwood 
PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue 
Glenwood, AB, T0K 2R0 


403-626-3233 (T)
403-626-3234 (F)


admin@glenwood.ca 


Page 1 of 2 


Village of Glenwood 
Development Application 


FORM A 


OFFICE USE ONLY 


Application #: Land Use Zone: 


Received By:  Required Information Attached?: Y o N o 


Application Fee: (Non-Refundable) Paid?:  o 


Applicant will complete the rest of the form: 


I/WE hereby make application under the provisions of the LAND USE BYLAW No. 192-2019 to develop or use land and/or 
buildings in accordance with the plans and information submitted, which form a part of this application. 


Applicant’s Name: Phone: 


Street Address: 


Mailing Address: 


Email Address: 


Registered Owner’s Name: Alt Phone: 


(Continue on reverse side of page) 







Page 2 of 2 


Proposed Development 
(Fill out all that apply) 


Street Address (if different from above): 


Legal Description:  Plan  Block Lot 


Proposed Development: 


For Principal Building:  Height Percentage of lot occupied 


Setback from: Front yard  Rear yard  Side Yard 


Square Footage: 


Main Floor Upper Floor Basement 
(If developed) 


Garage Decks Other 
(Specify) 


Accessory Building 1: Height Percentage of lot occupied 


Setback from: Front yard Rear yard  Side Yard 


Accessory Building 2: Height Percentage of lot occupied 


Setback from: Front yard Rear yard  Side Yard 


Additional Application Requirements: 


o Site Plan (two sets)  o Drainage Plan  o Building Plans (three sets)


Note: If approved development may proceed only on that portion which has been accounted for herein.


Declaration: 


I hereby apply for permission to carry out the development described above and/or on the attached plans and 
specifications.  I agree to comply with any other bylaws that are applicable.  I am aware that I will be required to 
pay for all local improvement costs, which include drainage, sidewalks, road base preparation, street lighting, water 
& sewer main extensions, utility connection fees and installation cost at the established rate.  I further certify that 
the owner of the land described above is aware and approves of this application. 


Signature of Applicant Date 







Village of Glenwood 
Notice of Decision on  


Application for a Development Permit 


FORM B DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION NO.  _____________ 


NAME:  _______________________________________________________________________________  


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________  


In the matter of development of property located at __________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


The development as specified in Application No. _____________________________ has been: 


¨ APPROVED


¨ APPROVED subject to the following conditions:


¨ REFUSED for the following reasons:


DATE:  __________________________  SIGNED:  _________________________________________  
Development Officer 


NOTES: 


1. You may appeal this decision by written notice to the Secretary of the Subdivision and Development Appeal
Board within 21 days after date on which the written decision is given under section 642 of the Municipal
Government Act.


2. A development permit becomes effective 21 days after the date it is issued, unless an appeal is lodged
pursuant to section 683 of the Municipal Government Act.  If an appeal is lodged, then a permit will only
become effective upon a Subdivision and Development Appeal Board decision confirming it.


3. Approval of a development in no way removes the need to obtain any permit or approval required under any
Federal, Provincial or Municipal legislation, order and/or regulations pertaining to the development including
a building permit.











Page 1 of 2 


Village of Glenwood 
Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


Development Permit 


Permitted 


FORM C 


Permit No.: 


Applicant Permit Holder(s): 


Development Address: 


Land Description: 


Mailing Address: 


Phone No.(s): 


This Development Permit is hereby issued subject to the following conditions: 


1. That any outstanding permit fees owing be paid in full before commencement of construction.


2. That the construction of the development be implemented as described in the site and building plans presented
at the time of application.


3. The applicant/developer must contact Alberta 1st Call (1-800-242-3447) to locate any utility lines prior to
construction.


4. The development must be implemented in conjunction with the existing landscaping grades of neighboring lots.
All drainage must either be retained on your property or flow street side.  The developer is responsible for
implementing a drainage plan to deal with the drainage issues that will or may arise from this development.
NOTE: If the drainage plan fails to properly address the existing collection of storm drainage on and from this lot
as determined by the Development Officer, an alternate drainage solution is required to be implemented to the
satisfaction of the Development Officer at the developer’s expense.


5. If applicable and in the interest of public safety and as required by the Safety Codes Act, the applicant/developer
is responsible for obtaining a Building Permit and any other applicable safety codes permits (i.e. electrical,
plumbing, gas).  These are processed through the Safety Code Inspection Agency of your choice.


6. Refuse and garbage during construction shall be kept in appropriate containers and shall be properly screened
and placed in an approved enclosure until removed for disposal.  The applicant/developer is responsible for all
construction waste and garbage, and is financially responsible for the clean-up of the same.  Note: Those who
fail this condition may be subject to a development fine, as well as associated clean-up costs.


IMPORTANT NOTE:  Those who are found in violation of any of these conditions risk having this permit made null and void, thereby 
causing this development to be deemed illegal.  All illegal developments may be subject to a stop work order, a development fine, 
demolition of said development at the developer's expense, or any combination thereof. 







Page 2 of 2 


You are hereby authorized to proceed with the development specified 21 days after the date on which this permit has 
been issued, provided that: 
a) any stated conditions are complied with,
b) the development is in accordance with the application and plans as approved, and
c) any applicable safety code permits are also acquired.


Signed: Date: 
Development Officer 


TERMS APPLICABLE TO DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


CONDITIONS OF DECISION The decision on this application applies only to the use and development described in the 
decision. A separate application is required for the extension or amendment of a 
development permit, or any other development (e.g. signs) not included in this application. 


PERMIT EXPIRY A development for which a permit has been issued must be commenced or carried out 
with reasonable diligence within 12 months from the date of its issuance, and completed 
within 24 months. 


PERMIT NOT TRANSFERABLE A development permit is valid only for the location and project for which it was issued. 


PERMIT AUTHORITY A development permit indicates that only the development to which it relates is 
authorized in accordance with the provisions of the Land Use Bylaw and in no way relieves 
or excuses the applicant from complying with the Land Use Bylaw or any other bylaw of 
the municipality or any applicable provincial or federal legislation. 


OTHER PERMITS AND LICENCES A development permit is not a building permit, plumbing permit, electrical permit, a 
permit to install underground or above-ground fuel tanks, a permit issued by a Public 
Health Inspector, or a business license. Other separate permits or licenses may be required 
by municipal, provincial or federal authorities. 







Page 1 of 2 


Village of Glenwood 
Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 


Development Permit 


Discretionary 


FORM C 


Permit No.: 


Applicant Permit Holder(s): 


Development Address: 


Land Description: 


Mailing Address: 


Phone No.(s): 


This Development Permit is hereby issued subject to the following conditions: 


1. That any outstanding permit fees owing be paid in full before commencement of construction.


2. That the construction of the development be implemented as described in the site and building plans presented
at the time of application.


3. The applicant/developer must contact Alberta 1st Call (1-800-242-3447) to locate any utility lines prior to
construction.


4. The development must be implemented in conjunction with the existing landscaping grades of neighboring lots.
All drainage must either be retained on your property or flow street side.  The developer is responsible for
implementing a drainage plan to deal with the drainage issues that will or may arise from this development.
NOTE: If the drainage plan fails to properly address the existing collection of storm drainage on and from this lot
as determined by the Development Officer, an alternate drainage solution is required to be implemented to the
satisfaction of the Development Officer at the developer’s expense.


5. If applicable and in the interest of public safety and as required by the Safety Codes Act, the applicant/developer
is responsible for obtaining a Building Permit and any other applicable safety codes permits (i.e. electrical,
plumbing, gas).  These are processed through the Safety Code Inspection Agency of your choice.


6. Refuse and garbage during construction shall be kept in appropriate containers and shall be properly screened
and placed in an approved enclosure until removed for disposal.  The applicant/developer is responsible for all
construction waste and garbage, and is financially responsible for the clean-up of the same.   Note: Those who
fail this condition may be subject to a development fine, as well as associated clean-up costs.


IMPORTANT NOTE:  Those who are found in violation of any of these conditions risk having this permit made null and void, thereby 
causing this development to be deemed illegal.  All illegal developments may be subject to a stop work order, a development fine, 
demolition of said development at the developer's expense, or any combination thereof. 







Page 2 of 2 


There is a 21 day appeal period whereby affected individuals may appeal either the granting of this permit or conditions 
placed upon it.  Therefore, if no appeal has been made, this permit takes effect on: 


. 


At that time you are hereby authorized to proceed with the development specified, provided that: 
a) any stated conditions are complied with,
b) the development is in accordance with the application and plans as approved, and
c) any applicable safety code permits are also acquired.


If such an appeal is made then this permit shall be null and void. 


Signed: Date: 
Development Officer 


TERMS APPLICABLE TO DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 


CONDITIONS OF DECISION The decision on this application applies only to the use and development described in the 
decision. A separate application is required for the extension or amendment of a 
development permit, or any other development (e.g. signs) not included in this application. 


APPEALS This Permit is granted as a Discretionary Use Permit based on the regulations 
outlined in the Land Use Bylaw.  Therefore, you may appeal this order to the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board according to section 685.2 of the 
Municipal Government Act (Chapter M-26).  If you wish to exercise this right, then 
written notice of appeal with reasons and the applicable fee must be served to the 
Secretary of the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board, Village of Glenwood 
Office, PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue, Glenwood, AB, T0K 2R0 within 21 days 
following the date of issuance of this permit. 


PERMIT EXPIRY A development for which a permit has been issued must be commenced or carried out 
with reasonable diligence within 12 months from the date of its issuance, and completed 
within 24 months. 


PERMIT NOT TRANSFERABLE A development permit is valid only for the location and project for which it was issued. 


PERMIT AUTHORITY A development permit indicates that only the development to which it relates is 
authorized in accordance with the provisions of the Land Use Bylaw and in no way relieves 
or excuses the applicant from complying with the Land Use Bylaw or any other bylaw of 
the municipality or any applicable provincial or federal legislation. 


OTHER PERMITS AND LICENCES A development permit is not a building permit, plumbing permit, electrical permit, a 
permit to install underground or above-ground fuel tanks, a permit issued by a Public 
Health Inspector, or a business license.  Other separate permits or licenses may be 
required by municipal, provincial or federal authorities. 







Village of Glenwood 
Notice of Municipal Planning 


Commission Meeting 


FORM D APPLICATION NO.  ____________ 


Notice is hereby given that an application is being made for a development permit with regard to the 
following: 


NAME OF APPLICANT: 


TYPE OF DEVELOPMENT: 


LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF SITE: 


PLACE OF MEETING:  ____________________________________________________________________  


TYPE OF MEETING:  _____________________________________________________________________  


DATE OF MEETING:  _____________________________________________________________________  


Any person affected by the said proposal has the right to present a written brief prior to the hearing 
and/or to be present and be heard at the meeting. 


Persons requesting to be heard at the meeting shall submit a written request to be heard to the Village 
of Glenwood not later than: 


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


DATE:  __________________________ SIGNED:  _________________________________________  
Development Officer 
Village of Glenwood 











Village of Glenwood 
Application for Time Extension 


FORM E APPLICATION NO.  ____________ 


I/We __________________________________________________________  being the registered owner 


or person authorized to act on behalf of the registered owner with respect to: 


Application No.  ________________________________________________________________________  


For:  _________________________________________________________________________________  


Located on (legal description):  ____________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


Do hereby apply for a time extension of:  ___________  days, until  ______________________________  


on the understanding that if a decision has not been made by this time, I may deem the application 


refused and appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board in accordance with the provisions 


of the Municipal Government Act. 


DATE:  ___________________ ______________________________________________________  
Signature of Registered Owner/Person Acting on behalf of: 


______________________________________________________  
Signature of Witness 


DATE:  ___________________ ______________________________________________________  
Signature of Development Officer – Village of Glenwood 


______________________________________________________  
Signature of Witness 











Village of Glenwood 
STOP ORDER 


FORM F APPLICATION NO.  ____________ 


TO THE REGISTERED OWNER:  ____________________________________________________________  


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________  


LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lot(s) __________________  Block ____________  Plan ____________________  


Quarter ___________  Section ____________  Township _____________  Range ______________  


PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, section 645, you are 
HEREBY ORDERED TO: 


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


BE ADVISED that pursuant to sections 557 and 566 of the Municipal Government Act, a person who 
contravenes an order under section 645, is guilty of an offense and is liable to a fine of not more than 
$10,000 or to imprisonment for not more than one year, or to both fine and imprisonment; and be 
FURTHER ADVISED that pursuant to section 685 of the Municipal Government Act, you may appeal this 
order to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board.  If you wish to exercise this right, then written 
notice of appeal with reasons and the applicable fee must be served to the Secretary of the Subdivision 
and Appeal Board, Village of Glenwood Office, PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue, Glenwood, AB, T0K 2R0 
within 21 days following the date of issuance of this notice. 


DATE:  __________________________  SIGNED:  _________________________________________  
Development Officer 
Village of Glenwood 











Village of Glenwood 
Application for a  


Land Use Bylaw Amendment 
FORM G APPLICATION NO.  ____________ 


APPLICANT:  ___________________________________________________________________________  


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________  


REGISTERED OWNER:  ___________________________________________________________________  


ADDRESS:  ____________________________________________________________________________  


EMAIL ADDRESS:  _______________________________________________________________________  


LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lot(s) ________________  Block ______________  Plan ____________________  


Quarter ___________  Section ____________  Township _____________  Range ______________  


PROPOSED AMENDMENT: 


FROM:  _______________________________________________________________________________  


TO:  __________________________________________________________________________________  


APPLICANT'S SUBMISSION: 


Please state your reasons for applying for this amendment.  Attach a separate sheet if necessary. 


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


 _____________________________________________________________________________________  


REGISTERED OWNER OR PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF: 


I certify that I am the registered owner or that the registered owner(s) of the land described above is 
aware of this application. 


Fees Submitted $  _________________ 


Receipt No.  ______________________ 


DATE: ___________________________  SIGNED: __________________________________________  
Applicant 











TE
LE


C
O


M
M


U
N


IC
A


TI
O


N
 A


N
TE


N
N


A
 


S
IT


IN
G


 P
R


O
TO


C
O


L 
E


X
C


LU
S


IO
N


 
LI


S
T


APPENDIX B 


TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA 
SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 











Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2015 APPENDIX B | 1 


APPENDIX B 


TELECOMMUNICATION ANTENNA  
SITING PROTOCOL EXCLUSION LIST 


Industry Canada has determined that certain antenna structures are considered to have 
minimal impact on the local surroundings and do not require consultation with the Land 
Use Authority or the public.  The following excerpt from Industry Canada’s publication, 
“Radiocommunication and Broadcasting Antenna Systems CPC-2-0-03” lists the types of 
antenna installations exempted from the requirement to consult with the local land use 
authority and the public.  The installations listed are therefore excluded from Schedule 5 
Section 7, Telecommunication Antenna Siting Protocol in the Village of Glenwood Land Use 
Bylaw. 


Section 6. Exclusions 


For the following types of installations, proponents are excluded from the requirement to 
consult with the land use authority and the public, but must still fulfill the General 
Requirements outlined in section 7 [of CPC-2-0-03]: 


• maintenance of existing radio apparatus including the antenna system,
transmission line, mast, tower or other antenna-supporting structure;


• addition or modification of an antenna system (including improving the structural
integrity of its integral mast to facilitate sharing), the transmission line, antenna-
supporting structure or other radio apparatus to existing infrastructure, a building,
water tower, etc. provided the addition or modification does not result in an overall
height increase above the existing structure of 25% of the original structure’s
height;


• maintenance of an antenna system’s painting or lighting in order to comply with
Transport Canada’s requirements;


• installation, for a limited duration (typically not more than 3 months), of an antenna
system that is used for a special event, or one that is used to support local,
provincial, territorial or national emergency operations during the emergency, and is
removed within 3 months after the emergency or special event; and


• new antenna systems, including masts, towers or other antenna-supporting
structure, with a height of less than 15 metres above ground level.  Individual
circumstances vary with each antenna system installation and modification, and the
exclusion criteria above should be applied in consideration of local circumstances.
Consequently, it may be prudent for the proponents to consult the Land Use
Authority and the public even though the proposal meets an exclusion noted above.
Therefore, when applying the criteria for exclusion, proponents should consider
such things as:


o the antenna system’s physical dimensions, including the antenna, mast,
and tower, compared to the local surroundings;







APPENDIX B | 2 Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2015 


o the location of the proposed antenna system on the property and its
proximity to neighbouring residents;


o the likelihood of an area being a community-sensitive location; and


o Transport Canada marking and lighting requirements for the proposed
structure.  Proponents who are not certain if their proposed structure is
excluded, or whether consultation may still be prudent, are advised to
contact the land-use authority and/or Industry Canada for guidance.







FE
E


 S
C


H
ED


U
LE


 


APPENDIX C 


FEE SCHEDULE 











Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw No. 192-2019 APPENDIX C | 1 


APPENDIX C 


FEE SCHEDULE 


1. The following fees shall accompany all applications for developments made with
respect to this land use bylaw:


(a) Residential


• single-unit dwelling  .......................................................................................  $50.00 


• garages  ............................................................................................................. $15.00 


• modular/manufactured homes  ...................................................................  $50.00 


• residential additions  ......................................................................................  $50.00 


• multi-unit dwelling (per unit)  .......................................................................  $50.00 


• special residential uses including half-way houses, group homes
day care, nursing homes, etc.  ......................................................................  $50.00 


• covered decks, carports ................................................................................. $15.00 


(b) Commercial, including government office buildings


• all commercial buildings .............................................................................  $200.00 


• car lots, trailer sales, parking garages, etc.  .............................................  $200.00 


(c) Industrial


• all industrial and warehouse buildings  ....................................................  $200.00 


(d) Miscellaneous


• all public service buildings.  ........................................................................  $200.00 


• land use bylaw amendments (per title) ..................................................... $500.00 


• request to convene a special meeting of the Subdivision and
Development Appeal Board or the Municipal Planning Commission .... $300.00 


• appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board
(of which $150.00 will be refunded if appeal is successful)................... $300.00 


2. Whenever an application is received for a development for a use not listed in this
schedule, the amount of the fee shall be determined by consulting the current Village
of Glenwood Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw. In the event the required fee is not listed
in the current Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw, the fee shall be determined by the
Development Officer or Municipal Planning Commission and shall be consistent with
those fees listed herein for similar developments.







3. Whenever, in the opinion of the development officer, an application is substantially
revised after it has been submitted, the applicant shall pay a supplementary fee equal
to 50 percent of the initial application fee.  Such a supplementary fee shall not be
required if changes suggested by the development officer or the Municipal Planning
Commission resulted in the revisions.


4. Where a development has been commenced prior to a development application being
approved, or where a stop order has been issued pursuant to the land use bylaw, the
fee for any subsequent application for that development shall be twice the amount
specified in this schedule for that use.


5. The Municipal Planning Commission or Development Officer reserves the right to waive
any of the above-noted fees given the circumstances associated with the
development application.







LA
N


D
 U


S
E


 D
IS


TR
IC


TS
 M


A
P


 


APPENDIX D 


LAND USE DISTRICTS MAP 











VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


LAND USE DISTRICTS 


BYLAW No. 192-2019
MARCH 2020 


D RESIDENTIAL -R 


- COMMERCIAL -C


D INDUSTRIAL -I


- PUBLIC-P


-••- VILLAGE BOUNDARY 


a u. A __ '" 
OLDMAN RNER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION .. �==����"::, 


'MJTRE-El'CR�°"-


Q Motn:,, � 100 150 20() 


MO,cn05,20'20 N:\Cardotll..COOnt,\Gle�IM-LUD&L.an�UoeROdoOignoliOO•IG--�TWB ___ -2tl20-January2020.0wg 


372(in 2 ports) 


ii::
.s


•• • 
: s= • 


• w 


;;;: 


r
-------


____ ....J... ______ _ 


1 


2 


< 17 I fJ 


3 


10 1 p 11 


1 


2 


�Ir _,_ 
3 


4 


9 -, � 2 10 


3 32 


4 


I 


I B 
L_� 


B 


7 


6 


5 


B 


7 


6 


5 


B 


7 


6 


5 


s: 


;;;: 


1 


2 


3 


4 


1 


2 


3 


4 


I 


I 


I 


I 


I 


I 


3 


I 


I 


I 


1 


2 


3 


4 


2 


3 


4 


1 


2 


3 


4 


B 


7 


6 


5 


B 


7 


' ' 


6 


5 


2STN 


7 


6 


I ' 


--;;----


B 


7 


r\A 


6 


10 214 9 


I 


I 


7 
�� 


6 


5 


B 


7 
~'~ 
'-'I'-' 


6 


5 


s: 
w 


;;;: 


.s
ii::


4STN 


1 B 


2 7 


3 6 


11 


10 5 
fro R1 to P


4 


3STN 


1 


2 


3 


4 


1 


2 


I 


I 


1 
I 


I 


I 


I 


I 1 
I 


I 


I 2 
I 


CENTRE ST 


9
28 8 


- 10 
2 


7 


3 28 6 


4 5 


1 ST S 


1 8 1 


2 34 7 2 


I 


6 1 
9 3 4 10 I 


I 


I 


5 


2STS 


1 


2 


3 


9 f 10 


B 


7 


6 


5 


2STN 


B 1 


7 2 


' ,,... 
11u 


6 3 


I 


I 


5 4 I 


I 
I 


1 


from I to R1 


B 


7 
,Ir -,- I 


I 


I 
I 


I 


I 


f 
! 


',-, 


·r
I 
! 


B 


7 


6 


5 


from I to R1 


8 


7 


6 


5 


w 


w 


4 ST 


3 ST 


2 ST 


�>------+-----I 


1 ST 


CENTRE 


1 ST 


NE1 5-27-4 





		signature page

		Village of Glenwood Land Use Bylaw Final Draft 03:10:2020 (Redesigned)

		Binder5

		first 2 pages

		ok



		pg 107 onwards












Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 1 of 8 
 


THIS AGREEMENT MADE EFFECTIVE March 1, 2020 
BETWEEN:  


The Village of Glenwood, a municipality incorporated under  
the laws of the Province of Alberta 


(Hereinafter called “Village”) 
OF THE FIRST PART 


 
- And - 


 
The Cardston County, a municipality incorporated under 


the laws of the Province of Alberta 
(Hereinafter called “County”) 


OF THE SECOND PART 
 


In consideration of the mutual terms and conditions set out in this Agreement for an: 
 


POTABLE WATER SERVICE AGREEMENT for WATER TREATMENT and DISTRIBUTION 
 
Village and County agree as follows: 
 
WHEREAS: 


A. The Municipal Government Act section 54, allows municipalities to enter into service 
agreements; 


B. The Village owns and operates a water treatment and distribution system in the Village of 
Glenwood which has production capacity; 


C. The County requires the services of the Village to treat the County’s raw water under License 
No. dated 1996-0-13, File No. 1993-05-12-01 amendment No. 0045471-00-02, so that the 
County can supply potable water to residential properties; and commercial properties such as 1) 
Whisper Valley Campground & RV Park, 2) Blue Trail RV Park & Campground, and 3) Riverwood 
RV Campground; locations to be determined as services are required. 


D. The County and the Village have reached agreement with respect to the terms and conditions 
under which the Village will provide such water treatment services to the County. 


 
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of the promises, mutual terms, 
covenants and conditions contained within this Agreement, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
1. DEFINITIONS 
In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, definitions shall have the respective means set 
forth within Schedule “A” attached to this Agreement. 
 
2. PREAMBLE AND SCHEDULES 


2.1. The Parties hereby confirm and ratify the matters contained and referred to in the 
Preamble to this Agreement and agree that the same and the various schedule(s) hereto 
are expressly incorporated into and form part of this Agreement: 
2.1.a. Schedule “A” Definitions 
2.1.b. Schedule “B” Water Services 
 


2.2. This agreement shall not become effective nor be of any force or effect unless and until: 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 2 of 8 
 


2.2.a. The County’s Council has passed a resolution authorizing the County to enter into 
and execute this agreement; and 


2.2.b. The Village’s Council has passed a resolution authorizing the Village to enter into 
and execute this agreement. 


 
3. TERM AND TERMINATION 


3.1. The term of this agreement shall commence on March 1, 2020 and continue in force until 
such time as TWELVE (12) total services have been extended, after which time the 
agreement will be reviewed, services, water and treatment capacity evaluated; and 
renewed, upon approval of both parties.  


 
4. UNFORESEEN CIRCUMSTANCES 


4.1. No Party hereto shall be liable to the other for any failure of or delay in the performance of 
its obligations hereunder nor be deemed to be in breach of this Agreement, if such failure 
or delay has arisen from unforeseen circumstances. 


4.2. Where any Party is prevented from carrying out its respective obligations hereunder due to 
unforeseen circumstances, such Party shall, as soon as possible, give notice of the 
occurrence of such unforeseen circumstances to the other Party and of the obligations, the 
performance of which is thereby delayed or prevented and the Party giving the notice shall 
thereupon be excused from the performance of such obligation for the period of time 
directly attributable to such prevention or delay. 


 
5. GENERAL 


5.1. Whether or not so stipulated herein, all notices, communication, requests and statements 
(the “Notice”) required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing.  Except as herein 
otherwise provided, notice required to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
deemed to have been received by the addressee on the date received when served by hand 
or courier, or FIVE (5) days after the same has been mailed in a prepaid envelope by single 
registered mail to: 


The County at:  Cardston County 
P.O. Box 580, 1050 Main Street 
Cardston, Alberta, T0K 2S0 
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer 


The Village at:  Village of Glenwood 
PO Box 1084, 59 Main Avenue 
Glenwood AB, T0K 2R0 
Attention: Chief Administrative Officer 


 
5.2. Water provided by the Village to the County under this agreement shall be considered to 


have been taken from that water allocation the County is holder of. 
 


5.3. This Agreement shall be construed and governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta and 
the laws of Canada applicable therein and the Parties hereto irrevocably attain to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of the Province of Alberta. 


 
5.4. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed by the Parties hereto nor by any 


third party, as creating the relationship of employer and employee, principal and agent, 
partnership, or of a joint venture between the Parties, it being understood and agreed that 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 3 of 8 
 


none of the provisions contained herein nor any act of the Parties shall be deemed to 
create any relationship between the Parties other than an independent service agreement 
between the two Parties at arm’s length. 


 
5.5. Except as may from time to time be expressly stated in writing by the one Party, the other 


Party has no authority to assume or create any obligation whatsoever, expressed or 
implied, on behalf of or in the name of the other Party, nor to bind the other Party in any 
manner whatsoever. 


 
5.6. This Agreement may not be altered or amended in any of its provisions, except where any 


such changes are reduced to writing and executed by the Parties. 
 


5.7. If any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement or the application thereof to any Party 
or circumstances shall be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this 
Agreement or application of such term, covenant or condition to a Party or circumstance 
other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby 
and each remaining term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and shall 
be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 


 
5.8. Each Party shall provide any decision with regard to a request for consent in a timely 


manner. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date shown below signatures: 
 
 


CARDSTON COUNTY  VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


 


 


  


 
   


Per:  Per: 


 Reeve   Mayor 
CARDSTON COUNTY  VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


 


 


  


 
   


Per:  Per: 


 CAO   CAO 
 


 


  


 
   


Date:  Date: 


 
  







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 4 of 8 
 


SCHEDULE “A” 
 


Definitions 
 
 
The definitions listed in this section shall determine the meaning and intent of the clauses listed in this 
agreement. 
 
A) “Agreement” means this Agreement and the schedules attached hereto. 
 
B) "Best Efforts" means in relation to the performance obligation, efforts that are sensible and 


practical and involve the exercise of reasoned and sound judgment, having regard to all of the 
relevant circumstances. 


 
C) "Connection Points" means the point(s) of delivery to each and every property, made up in 


principal of a Water service line not more than 2” in diameter. 
 


D) "County System" means the water transmission and distribution system constructed, owned and 
operated by or on behalf of the County, or owned and operated by or on behalf of private 
property owners within the County, from time to time which includes all real and personal 
property of every kind, nature and description including all pumps, pipelines, valves, 
appurtenances, pumping stations, metering facilities, filtration and treatment facilities. 


 
E) "County Water User" Whisper Valley Campground and RV Park, Blue Trail RV Park & 


Campground, Riverwood RV Campground and/or up to, nine (9) other residential properties, 
locations to be determined as services are required, to a maximum of twelve (12) total services. 


 
F) "Emergency" means a sudden and unexpected condition requiring immediate action including but 


not restricted to a water shortage, equipment or Village System failure or breakdown, and 
electrical outages. 


  
G) "Unforeseen Circumstances" means any act of God, major storms, civil disturbance or any similar 


major event or occurrence not within the control of a Party and which by the exercise of due 
diligence by such Party could not have been prevented, but lack of funds on the part of such Party 
shall be deemed not to be an unforeseen circumstance. 


 
H) "Good Industry Practice" means the standards, practices, methods, activities and actions, 


generally accepted and utilized by and within the water management and treatment industry in 
Canada, generally consisting of standards and practices intended to achieve a cost-effective result 
consistent with licencing and regulatory considerations, environmental considerations, reliability, 
safety and expedition including, without restriction, such standards and practices that are from 
time to time prepared, endorsed, promoted or promulgated by: 
1) The American Water Works Association or the Canadian Water and Wastewater 


Association, to the extent that those are consistent; 
2) The Association of Professional Engineers, Geologists and Geophysicists of Alberta 


(APEGGA); or 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 5 of 8 
 


3) Guidelines for Municipal Water Works, Wastewater and Storm Drainage Systems, published 
by Alberta Environment (AENV) in January 2006, as amended or replaced from time to time. 


 
I) "Party" means either County or the Village, as the circumstances may provide or dictate, and 


"Parties" means both of them. 
 


J) "Term" means the term of this Agreement as set forth within Section 3 of this Agreement. 
 


K) "Village System" means that water treatment system located on the Village's property and 
owned by the Village consisting of raw water wells; raw water mainline distribution; water 
treatment plant and reservoir; potable water mainlines within Village municipal boundaries; and 
as more particularly described in the Village's as-built plans or record drawings for the system, 
together with any and all approvals, licences, buildings, water systems, pipes, improvements, 
works and facilities, whether free standing or otherwise, or whether ancillary thereto or 
connected therewith; and any and all additions, improvements and extensions to such services, 
improvements and works which may be constructed from time to time. 


 
L) "Water" means potable water suitable for human consumption which has been treated and 


tested by Village to meet all Alberta Environment drinking water standards. 
 
M) "Water Licence" means a water licence issued to the County or the Village, as the case may be, 


pursuant to the provisions of the Water Act, and "Water Licences" means all of them. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 6 of 8 
 


SCHEDULE “B” 
 


Water Treatment & Distribution System 
 
A) APPLICATION APPROVALS 


1) The Parties shall be responsible for the acquisition or amendment of any and all necessary 
consents, approvals, licences, permits, allocations or authorities relating to the execution 
and performance of the terms of this Agreement. 


 
B) COUNTY AND VILLAGE GENERAL SERVICE OBLIGATIONS 


1) The County and the Village shall perform the water treatment services in accordance with 
and subject to the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement; 
I) Be bound by and observe all applicable federal, provincial and municipal legislation 


and related regulations, which, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall 
include the provisions of the Water Act, Reservoir Act, the Occupational Health and 
Safety Act and the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, all as amended 
from time to time, and the Village shall cause all of its employees and approved 
subcontractors to be so bound; 


II) Obtain and maintain at its sole expense all necessary permits, licences, consents and 
approvals required by all authorities having jurisdiction incidental to the performance 
of the Village's obligations under this Agreement; and 


III) They shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from Alberta Environment, the 
respective Council(s), and any other relevant Provincial or Municipal department, 
body or agency to treat the County's water in the jurisdiction of the Village.  The 
County will provide reasonable assistance and cooperation to the Village to this 
regard. 


2) Pay all fees and all other costs incidental to the performance of their obligations under this 
Agreement. 


3) Upon receipt of reasonable request from either municipality, provide evidence of coverage 
under the Workers’ Compensation Act, such evidence to include coverage of the Village and 
any and all subcontractors; and all of which shall be undertaken in accordance with Good 
Industry Practice. 


 
C) WATER SUPPLY AND SERVICE OBLIGATIONS 


1) During the Term and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the County shall make raw 
water available for usage by the Village System at the Village raw water well located at LSD 
10-32-4-27-4.  The County shall be responsible, at its own cost, for attending to all 
amendments to the County Water Licence. 


2) During the Term and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Village shall make water 
available for delivery to all twelve (12) County Water Users at the Connection Points, 
located at the Village’s municipal boundaries, and: 
I) Use its Best Efforts to ensure that no contamination, pollutants, foreign matter or like 


material enter the Village System; 
II) Be solely responsible for the maintenance and operation of the Village System; 
III) Ensure that chlorine residuals in the Water treated by the Village are in accordance 


with the requirement of Alberta Environment. 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 7 of 8 
 


3) Both parties shall use their Best Efforts to reduce water losses within their respective 
systems and to repair any water line breaks or leakages as soon as reasonably possible. 


4) Both parties shall agree that any and all costs associated with hookup by the County Water 
User to the Village water system is the responsibility of the County Water User and all the 
water lines from the Village’s municipal boundaries will be owned by the County Water 
User. 


 
D) METERING EQUIPMENT AND ACCURACY 


1) All County Water Users represented under this agreement must have a County supplied 
water meter, use a drip system, unless otherwise approved by the Village, and the new 
County Water User must pay the County the water license fee and all Village connection 
fees before water flows. 


2) The County shall provide meter readings from the County Water User to Village 
administration on the first business day of each month. 


3) The Village may, upon consultation and agreement with the County, require needed 
upgrades or changes to the County Water User service line or apparatus, and these changes 
will be the monetary responsibility of the County Water User. 


4) The Village is not responsible for maintenance or upkeep of Water mains, metering 
facilities, associated piping and connections from the Connection Points, outside of the 
Village’s municipal boundaries. 


5) The County shall at all times provide the Village with unrestricted access to Water mains, 
Connection Points, and any other Water infrastructure connected in some way to the 
Village system as may be required to perform all of its obligations under this agreement. 


 
E) RATES AND BILLINGS 


1) Rates utilized and charged from time to time by the Village for water supplied under this 
Agreement (the "Rate") shall be established annually by the Village's council, and shall be 
based upon and calculated as a property serviced in the Village at the Industrial rate, times 
1.5 for County Commercial Water User accounts. Rural residential rates will apply to County 
Residential Water Users as outlined in the current Village Rates, Fees & Charges Bylaw, 
along with all other applicable rates and fees. 


2) Any changes to the rates charged, policies or procedures affecting County Water Users will 
be reported to the County, for their information, no less than 60 days prior to the bylaw 
reflecting said changes is passed. 


3) In addition to the monetary cost of connection, both commercial and residential rates 
include the standard Main Connection Fee charged to Village property owners, times 1.5. 


4) The Village shall administer billing for the water supplied to all twelve (12) County Water 
Users directly and payment from each will be paid to the Village of Glenwood. 


5) If a County Water User defaults on payment to the Village of Glenwood, the water service 
will be discontinued to that user until such time as the account is paid in full. A 
disconnection and re-connection fee of $100 each will also be payable before water service 
is restored, as outlined in the current Rates, Fees & Charges Bylaw. 


 
F) SUSPENSION OF SERVICE 


1) In the case of an Emergency, the Village may interrupt the treatment of the County’s raw 
water and the delivery of Water in accordance with this Agreement for as long as is 
reasonable in view of the circumstances contributing to the Emergency.  The Village shall 
determine when an Emergency exists using reasonable judgement, and shall take whatever 







Potable Water Service Agreement – Village of Glenwood / Cardston County 


 


GW    CC    Page 8 of 8 
 


steps are necessary to meet the Emergency, all in accordance with Good Industry Practice.  
The Village shall use Best Efforts to ensure that any service interruption is as short in 
duration as circumstances permit. 


2) In the case of a Water Shortage, if the need arises to impose conservation restrictions on 
the water consumption within the distribution system, the Village and the County shall 
work together to ensure that each user within the distribution system receives an equal 
flow of water and that all users are treated equally and fairly, consisting with any operating 
constraints then in effect.  The Village shall provide notice of the imposition of the 
conservation restriction to the County as soon as reasonably possible. 


 
G) REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENTS 


1) Without limiting the generality of anything contained herein, the Village, acting responsibly, 
may interrupt or curtail its water treatment service to the County for the purpose of 
effecting any repairs, maintenance, replacement, upgrading or other work relating to the 
Village System. 


2) During periods of interruption or curtailment provided above, the Village may reduce the 
level, quality or quantity of service provided to the County under this agreement, provided 
that the Village shall treat all of its customers affected by the interruption or curtailment, 
including the County, fairly, equitably and without preference, consistent with any 
operating constraints then in effect.  Each Party shall use Best Efforts to keep each other 
appraised of and up-to-date in respect of the relevant circumstances during each 
interruption or curtailment. 


3) Required repairs to Water mains or service lines, delivering Water to the County Water 
User, located in the County between the property line of the County Water User and the 
village boundary line, will be the monetary responsibility of the County Water User.  The 
sufficiency of such repairs must be approved by the Village in its sole discretion. 


 
H) METERING EQUIPMENT VARIANCE 


1) Metering equipment will have a variance allowance of 5% before being considered to be 
out of order. 
 


I) CAPITAL PROJECTS 
1) The Village will discuss with the County the possibility of joint funding for major capital 


upgrades to the Village water treatment plant that will benefit both municipalities. 
2) If upgrades are needed to the Village water treatment plant or distribution system due to 


expansion to the County water users, and the plant is not able to supply the Village’s 
engineered water treatment plant maximum capacity as recorded, then those costs will be 
borne by the County to allow for the Village to maintain the plants total operational 
capacity for the Village. 








  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Working Together 
Building One Community 


 
Cardston County and 
Village of Glenwood 


 
 
 


INTERMUNICIPAL COLLABORATION FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 







2 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


FOREWORD 
 


The Village of Glenwood and Cardston County share a common history, with both communities being settled by 
pioneers who were looking for a new start and a place where they could raise their family with the opportunity of 
economic growth.  


 


Most people understand increasing the level of collaboration as an ability to provide more efficient and better 
service levels to citizens in the communities. However, while some services can possibly be provided solely in a 
single municipality, the increased opportunity in working together is also recognized in increased economies of 
scale, sustainability of some services, quality of services, and efficiency in delivery.  In other words, dovetailing the 
individual characteristics of the municipalities, where feasible, creates expanded resources and advances quality of 
life opportunities to the people in the regional community.  The image of "two municipalities-one purpose" describes 
the philosophy of the two Council s. 


 


The two municipalities are committed to identifying current and future issues where joint benefits may be realized 
through more formalized and rigorous processes and cooperation. Examples are evident in servicing areas such as 
planning, economic development and creating a complete region that is attractive for people to live, work and play. 


 


As the Provincial Government seeks to encourage regional thinking, Cardston County and the Village of Glenwood 
are well placed to lead proactively through the creation of this Intermunicipal Collaboration Framework (ICF) 
Agreement. 


 
 
 
 







3 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


Cardston County and Village of Glenwood share a common pioneer history  
 
 


 
 
Goals of the lntermunicipal Collaboration Framework Agreement 


The Intermunicipal Collaboration Framework has five main purposes: 
 


1. To meet the requirements of provincial legislation. 
2. To promote the principles of collaboration between neighbouring municipalities with a 


common border. 


3. To ensure municipalities consult and communicate on intermunicipal matters. 


4. To clearly lay out a process that the partners to this agreement can review service levels and 
decide if the service would benefit from being regionally operated and funded. 


5. To consider appropriate fair funding mechanisms and deal with differences which may occur 
from time to time. 


 
 
 


The ICF Agreement between the Village of Glenwood and Cardston 
County will: 


Recognize and share the vision and priorities of the two municipalities toward providing effective and efficient service levels 
to their citizens: Where feasible and practical, each municipality will work together to assess how commonly utilized 
services will be provided and funded for the benefit of citizens. 







4 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


Strengthening the region while maintaining local autonomy: Each Council maintains the right to make individual decisions 
for its citizens, but each agrees that they will always consider the bigger regional municipality in the decision-making  process. 


Promote networks and linkages: Developing positive joint approaches, where practical, to create efficiencies by sharing 
opportunities, connections, goals, knowledge, and experience to promote the greater good between both municipalities. 


Embrace differences in respective municipalities: The distinct characteristics of the individual municipalities is 
advantageous in providing choice and diversity. 


Cooperation, not competition: Although each municipality is responsible to its citizens, there is a recognition that the 
citizens and businesses of the region share similar needs and interests and as such each Council will emphasize 
cooperation and therefore not direct competition with respect to setting municipal policy. 


Foster an environment of openness and trust: Cooperation and collaboration requires communication that in turn 
encourages understanding and better results in reaching common goals. 


 
 
Commitment to Consultation and Cooperation -  Consultation 
Protocol" 
 
The fundamental basis of this agreement is communication and consultation and as such, the two municipalities agree to 
consult on projects which have a regional impact. By recognizing the requirement to consult, each municipality will include 
the other in their project circulations and both agree to meet and work through matters as they arise. Where notification has 
been provided that a meeting is required, it shall first be handled by the respective Chief Administrative Officers or their 
designate and if that does not resolve the concerns at hand, it shall be dealt with by a committee from each Council 
recognizing time may be of the essence. The purpose of this consultation protocol is to ensure that the municipalities 
leverage opportunities and develop common solutions to any challenges that affect the area.  


 
It is understood that this agreement will encourage communication at all levels of the organization to ensure 
opportunities are recognized, information is passed through the respective organization and decision-makers are 
informed not just about their own municipality but about regional  issues and concerns. Cooperation, collaboration and 
commitment to consult are not meant to constrain or restrict the authority or the ability of individual Councils or to 
homogenize the unique culture and identity of each municipality.  It is possible that there will be instances of 
differences in values, goals, beliefs, perspectives and decisions which are not common to both communities. In these 
instances where differences remain, the commitment to communicate will enable the communities to develop 
proactive and positive solutions to issues that may arise. 







5 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


Roles in Managing the Intermunicipal Collaboration 
Framework Agreement 


The Role of both Councils: 
Each Council retains the ability and responsibility to make decisions on behalf of their residents. As the public is at the 
center of any governance initiative, their voice needs to be taken into account to ensure the impacts of services and 
actions taken in the region have the desired results and support the sustainability of the region. By signing onto the 
agreement each Council affirms the commitment to increased cooperation at both the Council and administration 
levels. 


 
This agreement signals a shift towards maximizing regional benefit through collaborative decision making. Each 
Council member will demonstrate leadership to act strategically as they formulate plans for each of their 
organizations which will bring value to the citizens of both communities. 


 
The Role of the CAOs and Administration: 


 
The CAOs have been identified as the principals responsible for maintaining the agreement, its delivery and dealing 
with intermunicipal issues that surface from time to time during the term of this agreement.  Administration brings 
continuity to the relationship between the municipalities and they each have the ability to initiate communication on an 
as needed basis to ensure that each municipality adheres to the principles of the agreement. The CAOs will foster 
increased communication and will act as conduits for facilitating the sharing of information, identifying opportunities 
and prioritizing municipal actions for the consideration of each Council. Disputes or disagreements between CAOs will 
be dealt with by a dispute resolution committee set up with members from each Council. 


 
The Role of Staff: 


 


Staff at all levels will be responsible to ensure the principles of the agreement are carried out operationally. This means 
that staff will work cooperatively with their municipal counterparts to address issues that arise within the scope of their 
authority and mandate. Staff will also bring to the attention of their respective CAO any issues that arise which require 
their attention with respect to meeting the commitment and intent of this agreement. Disputes among staff or municipal 
contractors between the municipalities will be dealt with by the CAOs. 


 
 
 


The Framework  Protocols 
Development of an Intermunicipal Communication Protocol 


 


The success of this agreement is based upon the understanding that both municipalities must be committed to ensuring 
that the provision of information is handled in a transparent and honest manner. To foster the longevity and durability 
of this agreement, both municipalities should jointly develop and abide by the principles of a communication protocol 
which should include the following principles: 


 


1. The protocol should recognize that cooperative communication is the key to a successful relationship. At 







6 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


all times and through all levels of each organization the following principles should apply: 
a. Seek to understand 
b. Avoid personal attacks either privately or publicly 
c. Asking for clarification on policies adopted by the other municipality to ensure understanding 
d. Address issues as being of a joint nature meant to be resolved together 
e. Seek to maximize the benefits for both parties 


 


2. The Protocol should seek to ingrain collaboration and cooperation in each municipal organization: 
a. Both organizations agree to ensure proper training takes place on intermunicipal collaboration 


following a municipal election 
b. Both organizations agree to provide additional training as required following any change 


in elected officials or senior administration 
 


3. The protocol should ensure that each municipality provides to the other information pertaining to: 
a. Major  capital projects which may impact the other municipality 
b. Lobby efforts to higher levels of government with respect an issue which may impact 


regional services 
c. Adopted strategic plans 
d. Funding, aid or support to other organizations within the other municipality when requested 
e. Ceremonies, celebrations, events of regional impact 
f. Promotion of collaborative successes 


 


Conflict Resolution 
The municipalities recognize that the development of this agreement is the start - not the end of the process. Recognizing 
that not all issues may be agreed upon, the municipalities recognize the need to establish a conflict resolution process 
based upon the following principles: 


 
1. At the earliest opportunity and at the point closest to where the problems initiated, the CAO will seek to 


address matters of conflict. 
2. All matters of conflict should be sought to be resolved swiftly, inexpensively and in an uncomplicated way. 
3. All matters of conflict should be resolved using a clear procedural pathway. 
4. Maintain at all time s, the essence of collaboration on the majority of issues even though conflict may exist 


on some issues. 
 


Process 
If a municipality believes an obligation under the agreement has been breached, the matter should be immediately 
brought to the attention of their CAO.  The CAO will investigate and if it appears as if a 'breach' of the agreement has 
occurred, the matter will be immediately brought to the attention of the other municipality’s CAO.  Once that has 
occurred, an effort to resolve the matter through informal problem-solving discussions is to be initiated. 


 


If differences occur outside of an outright 'breach' of an agreement, which may include divergent expectations in the 
delivery of a joint service, variance on how the committee wishes to proceed on an issue or any circumstance 
which may impact or disrupt service delivery or relationships, an informal discussion between CAOs will be 
conducted. 







7 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


 
If this does not resolve the issue, an Intermunicipal Dispute Committee shall be appointed by both Councils who 
will decide on and negotiate an effective solution. 


 
If the subcommittee negotiation process is unsuccessful, a mediated process is initiated using the services of a 
jointly agreed-upon mediator with costs shared equally between municipalities. The mediator will be solely 
responsible for the governance of the mediation process. 


 
If the process cannot be resolved through mediation the municipalities will select an arbitrator, sharing all costs in 
doing so, and will have the matter resolved through the process defined by Section 708.35 of the Municipal 
Government Act.  The arbitrator is governed by the principles of natural justice and procedural fairness. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


This Agreement encourages the 
municipalities to consult with each other 


and develop opportunities for 
collaboration for the benefit of both 


communities. 


 
Inventory of Municipal Services 
The following list is an inventory of shared municipal services between the two municipalities. The inventory is a 
consideration of who provides the service, who funds the service and what and where those services exist. The 
services listed below are a representation of shared services and agreements but are obviously not a list of all services 
provided by each municipality to their respective citizens. 







8 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


 
ICF  Agreement -  Statutory  Provisions  
Amendments to the Municipal Government Act have amended the purpose of municipalities. The new Act 
requires municipalities to work collaboratively with neighbouring municipalities to plan, deliver and fund  
intermunicipal services.  The Act requires municipalities with common borders to develop an lntermunicipal  
Collaborative Framework Agreement. This Agreement must address services related to transportation, solid 
waste, recreation, wastewater, water and emergency services. The discussion on the aforementioned topics 
is prescribed by the Act, however the outcomes are not. 


 


Transportation  


All access roads into the Village of Glenwood are County-controlled and maintained roads. As these 
roads are currently in good condition, no formal agreement is required. It is understood and agreed that if 
an access road does require upgrading or repair, both municipalities would work together to find funding 
for the project and will develop a shared plan to ensure access.  


The Village of Glenwood and Cardston County signed an Agreement on the maintenance of the boundary 
road. This Agreement, signed in 1989, outlines each responsibility (see attached).   


 


Solid Waste 


Both communities have signed on to the Chief Mountain Solid Waste Authority and are committed to the 
continuing operations of the Regional Waste Authority. 


In 2012, both communities, along with the Village of Hill Spring, signed a Transfer Station Operating 
Funding Agreement. This Agreement will continue to be honoured until the CMRSWA assumes 
operational control of the transfer station.  


Recreation 
 


Though the Village of Glenwood has limited recreation amenities, Cardston County has a history of 
contributing an annual allotment to the Village for recreation purposes.  Cardston County is committed to 
continuing to provide reasonable funding to the village of Glenwood, as it currently does.  


 


Wastewater 
 


The Village of Glenwood operates a wastewater lagoon, and the County currently has limited needs to 
access a wastewater facility. When the Village requires an upgrade to their system, the County would be 
willing to investigate options that will allow enhancement of the Village system and access for County 
residents either to hook into the system or to a dumping station.   


 


 







9 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


Water 


Cardston County and the Village of Glenwood have a working water treatment Agreement, where County 
water is treated in the Village and then delivered to the Village boundary to distribution through County 
or private water lines.  


The County would like to continue an in-depth look at setting up a water commission between both 
municipalities, which would allow for the shared operations of the water treatment plant and continued 
success of the facility, all of which is consistent with the goals of the ICF when in the case of extreme 
expansion.  


The County and Village will work together to ensure the safe operations of the water treatment plant, if 
needed, and will work to develop an Agreement that fits both municipalities while the Village transitions 
through staffing attrition. Any Agreement would benefit both the Village and the County. 


 


Emergency Services 
 


Village of Glenwood and Cardston County are members of the Cardston County Emergency Services 
(CCES). Each community has a vote at the CCES and contributes funding to the operations of the Emergency 
Services. 
 
In 2009 the Village of Glenwood and Cardston County Signed a Mutual Aid Agreement. 


 


Other 
 
 


The Village and County, along with the Town of Cardston and Village of Hill Spring, participate in the funding of a 
Joint Family and Community Support Services, an Agreement that was signed in 2013. 
 


 
The County and Village have a formal Agreement on the maintenance of the local cemetery. The Village manages the 
cemetery and the County and Village equally shares all deficits. 
 
In 2009 Cardston County, signed a Library Services Understanding, in which a percentage of the provincial allotment 
(13%) would be allocated to the Village of Glenwoods Library.  
 
 


Intermunicipal Development Plan 


As a requirement under Sections 631 and 692 of the Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000, an 
lntermunicipal Development Plan will be adopted by separate Bylaws between Cardston County and Village 
of Glenwood. Cardston County and Village of Glenwood lntermunicipal Development Plan will be a 
statutory planning document that fosters ongoing collaboration and cooperation between both municipalities 
regarding planning matters and will clarify land-use expectations within the plan’s area. 


 
Attachments  to this Agreement 







10 | P a g e          I C F - M a r c h  2 0 2 0  
 


 


Attached to this Agreement is the current Cardston County-Village of Glenwood Intermunicipal 
Development Plan  Bylaw as well as the Agreements aforementioned within this document. 


Commitment to Collaboration 
Cardston County and the Village of Glenwood acknowledge and affirm that they will seek to fulfill both the 
intent and the spirit of this Agreement by seeking opportunities to collaborate where practical as well as to 
honour all applicable legislation with respect to intermunicipal collaboration within the Province of  Alberta. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their hands and affixed their corporate seals as 
witnessed by the  hand  or  hands  of  its  proper  signing  officers  duly  authorized  in  that  behalf  as of  the 
day of  March 12, 2020. 


 
 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD CARDSTON COUNTY 
 
 
   


PER: __________________________                             PER: __________________________ 
 


MAYOR     REEVE 
 
 
           PER: ___________________________    PER: __________________________ 
 
                       CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER CHIEF  ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 







.• Vt" r 


* TfllS AGREEMENT made this // day of J ? f C / 1989 ' f 


'BETWEEN: VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


P.O. Box - 1084 -


GLENWOOD, ALBERTA 


TOK 2RO 


f • 


f • 


and 


MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF CARDSTON NO. 6 -
• J 


Box 580, 


Cards ton, Alberta 


TOK OKO 


WHEREAS:• The two above parties own and agree to maintain the various Village 
boundary roads as set out in the original ministerial orders of 
Incorporation in 1961- and further motions during ensuing years. 


THEREFORE: The attached colored map indicates the division of these Boundary 
Roads outlined as follows: 


(a) VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD ROAD RESPONSIBILITY 


(1) Fourth Ave. West- from Centre Street to Fourth Street North. 
(2) All of Fourth street North to Main Avenue . 


(3) First Street South- One Block between First Ave. East and Main Avenue, 
(4) Mam Avenue going South from First street South to Second Street South. 
(5) All of Second Street South 


( b ) mmCIPAL DISTRICT OF CARDSTON NO. 6 ROAD REPONSIBILITX i 
(1) Centre street going West from Fourth Avenue west, 


iV, l°UrtJl A V e " U e W e S t g ° ± n g S o u t h f r o m C e n t r e s t r e e t Pa** Second Street South 
(3) Fourth Street. North going East from Main Avenue - one Block \ 
(4) All of First Avenue East. 


™ » 7 A * f ' e m e * t W U 1 b B ± n f ° r c e f r o m d a t e Seated above, and upon the 
completion of the official signatures/seals. ? 


T y-jT^ -l Vn AM. _" _ * ..f A _ . 
District of Cardston 


#6 


Chairman- Munici 


Administrator- Municipal District of 


Mayor- Village of Glenwood 


J? o . <3 


Cardston No. 6 
Administrator - Village of Glenwood 


i 


9 











~----~--- - - ----------;----


Transfer Station Operating Funding Agreement 


The operation of a regional Transfer Station located between the Village of Glenwood and the Village of 
Hill Spring and within Cardston County shall be a joint venture between the three municipalities. 


1. The expenditures that are required to fund the facility shall be shared between the 
municipalities, based upon the following per capita percentages : 


Cardston County: 51% 
Village of Glenwood: 29% 
Village of Hill Spring : 20% 


2. The Village of Glenwood shall provide payroll services to the employee(s) who operate the 
facility during its hours of operation. 


3. The Village of Glenwood shall provide accounts payable services for all operational expenses of 
the regional Transfer Station . 


4. The Village of Glenwood shall send out a requisition to each of the other member municipalities 
by the end of November for the following year, estimating as accurately as possible the total 
operational expenses of the facility and the per capita amount each municipality shall pay the 
ViiiClge of Glenwood . 


5. Any increase in the salary of the employee(s) at the facility shall be approved before the 


requisitions are developed by all member municipalities . 


6. The Village of Glenwood shall cover all small unexpected operating expenses of the transfer 
station . If a situation arises where an unusually large expenditure is required, the Village of 
Glenwood may request the cost be shared according to the established per capita funding 
schedule. Each member municipality, shall then discuss the validity of the expense and 
determine how best to Clssist in paying for the expenditure. 


st day of June, 2012 


Officer- Cardston County- Murray MillwClrd 


~;W!Zr 
Chief Administrative Officer - Village of Glenwood - Kurtis Pratt 


~ 12 '-' <>IV/(jli ~M 
Chief Administrative Officer - Village of Hill Spring - Kurtis Pratt 







EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 


MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETVVEEN: 


CARDSTON COUNTY a Municipal Corporation of the Province of 
Alberta; 


- and - 


THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD, a Municipal Corporation of the Province 
of Alberta; 


INTRODUCTION 


1. 	 The Municipal Corporations (referred to hereinafter as ''the Parties") of 
CARDSTON COUNTY and THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD are neighbouring 
authorities. Each of the Municipal Corporations has appointed a Director of Emergency 
Management pursuant to the provisions set out in Section 11 of The Emeregency 
Management Act R.S.A. 2007. However, a disaster or emergency could affect the 
Parties to such a degree that local resources could be inadequate to cope with the 
disaster or emergency. 


AIM 


	


2. 	 To form an agreement among the Parties for mutual aid to be provided in 
the event of a disaster or emergency. This agreement is not intended to replace 
agreements for the sharing of firefighting resources which may already exist. 


DEFINITIONS 


	


3. 	 For the purpose of this agreement: 


a. "disaster" means an event that results in serious harm to the 
safety, health or welfare of people or in widespread damage to 
property; and 


b. "emergency" means a present or imminent event that requires 
prompt co-ordination of action or special regulation of persons or 
property to protect the health, safety or welfare of people or to limit 
damage to property. 


PROCEDURE FOR INVOKING MUTUAL AID 


	


4. 	 Prior to invoking the provisions of this agreement, the party affected or 
threatened by the disaster or emergency and requesting mutual aid may implement its 







Municipal Emergency Plan. When an elected official or designate deems appropriate, a 
request for assistance may be made. 


5. 
procedure: 


All requests for mutual aid shall be made in accordance with the following 


a. all requests or assistance should be initiated by an elected officiat-
or designate of the Requesting Party; and 


b. in the event that the Responding Party(ies) receives(s) a request 
for mutual aid from someone other than an authorized official 
listed above, the Responding Party(ies) shall confirm, by 
reasonable means, its (their) response with the Requesting Party 
pi10[10 TT-Taking 5UUT-1 TUSpOTTSE. 


COMMAND AND CONTROL OVER EMERGENCY RESPONSE PERSONNEL AND 
EQUIPMENT 


6. While emergency response personnel and equipment are at all times 
under the direct command of its (their) own respective departments, officials of the 
Requesting Party shall direct the deployment of all emergency response personnel and 
equipment dispatched to their aid. 


COMMUNITY SOCIAL SERVICES 


7. In the event CARDSTON COUNTY needs to activate Community Social Services 
the VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD will activate their Social Service to handle the demand. 
Any and all cost associated with activating and running the Community Social Service 
will be covered by the requesting party (Cardston County). 


COST RECOVERY PROCEDURE 


8. In general, the Requesting Party shall be liable for the payment of all costs 
incurred by the Responding Party(ies) in coming to its aid. 


LIMITATIONS ON ASSISTANCE PROVIDED 


9. Mutual aid for disaster or emergency assistance contemplated herein 
shall be provided solely and absolutely at the discretion of the elected official or 
designate of the Responding Party(ies). In general, the Responding Party(ies) may 
provide one of the following responses: 


a. no response; or 


b. a full response: or 


c. a limited response. 







10. The Responding Party(ies) shall not be required to respond immediately 
to disaster or emergency calls. In the sole opinion of the elected official (or designate) of 
the Responding Party(ies), only personnel and equipment which can reasonably be 
spared at the time of the call without impairing the Responding Party's(ies') capacity to 
protect life or property within its own boundaries shall be provided. Furthermore, the 
Responding Party(ies) shall not be liable to the Requesting Party for any damage or 
injury for failing to respond to any call or for a delay in responding to any call or n.s a 
result of failure of the equipment in going to the scene of the disaster or emergency. 


INDEMNITY 


11. The Requesting Party shall indemnify and save harmless the Responding 
-Party(1--e-s), Its tin 	eft) -umpioyeus, persunnei -and volunteers -engaged in the purfoffrianu—e 
of this agreement from and against all claims and demands, loss, costs, damages, 
actions, suits or other proceedings, including personal injury or death. Further, the 
Requesting Party shall indemnify the Responding Party(ies) against all loss or expense 
incurred by the Responding Party(ies) for damage to its (their) equipment incurred by the 
performance of the services by the Responding Party(ies) pursuant to this agreement, 
excluding damage or loss caused by negligence of the Responding Party in the 
performance of duty. 


BINDING AGREEMENT 


12. This agreement shall supersede any and all previous disaster and 
emergency mutual aid agreements (other than the aforementioned agreements for the 
sharing of firefighting resources), whether oral or written, among the Parties. 


INCEPTION AND TERMINATION  


13. This agreement shall come into force when it has been signed by all 
parties and shall continue in force until such time as Parties give proper notice and 
withdraw. Any Party may withdraw from this agreement by giving not less than 90 days' 
notice to all other Parties of the agreement. 







(„1/14_  


Murray Millwaril, Chief Adminsitrative officer 


1S 
Date 


 


Date \:_jc..)&->,J- (S;, io 5 


Cameron ff')a-  n is, Reeve 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF THIS AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED ON BEHALF OF THE 
PARTICIPATING MUNICIPALITIES (PRIVATE ORGANIZATIONS), BY THE HANDS 
OF THEIR OFFICERS DULY AUTHORIZED IN THAT BEHALF AND UNDER EACH 
MUNICIPAL SEAL AFFIXED: 


VI k• GE OF GLEN OOD 


Wet id, 
Doral Lybbert, •,!yor Date Mcrr), jJI  


Date 11 /4.41,01  Il
i 
 zi:x4 


    


Brad Salmon, Village Administrator 


CA DSTON COUNTY 







Cardston and District Community Support Services Agreement 1 


JOINT F A M I L Y AND C O M M U N I T Y 


S U P P O R T S E R V I C E S A G R E E M E N T 


B E T W E E N : T H E TOWN OF CARDSTON, a body corporate, having its office in the Town 


of Cardston, in the Province of Alberta, 
(hereinafter called Cardston] 


AND 


Party of the First Part; 


T H E V I L L A G E OF GLENWOOD, a body corporate, having its office in the 


Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, 
(hereinafter called Glenwood] 


T H E V I L L A G E OF H I L L SPRING, a body corporate, having its office i n the 


Village of H i l l Spring, i n the Province of Alberta, 
(hereinafter called H i l l Spring] 


CARDSTON COUNTY, a body corporate, having its office i n the T o w n of 


Cardston, i n the Province of Alberta, 


(hereinafter called County) 


Parties of the Second Part. 


THIS AGREEMENT made i n duplicate this  day of  •  2013. 


WHEREAS Section 2 of the Family and Communi ty Support Services Act states "a munic ipal i ty may 


enter in to agreement w i t h other municipali t ies to provide for the establishment, adminis t ra t ion 


and operat ion o f a jo in t family and communi ty support services program"; 


AND WHEREAS the  of Family and Communi ty Support Services is to provide programming that 


promotes, encourages, and strengthens family and communi ty life, and to assist i n preventing 


further b reakdown of the family and the community. The Minister i n charge of administer ing the 


Act may enter in to an agreement w i t h the municipal i ty or municipali t ies and may pay 8 0 % of the 


costs of the program; 







Cardston and District Community Support Services Agreement 2 


NOW THEREFORE, in consideration o f these premises and the covenants contained herein, the 


parties agree as follows: 


R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S OF T H E P A R T I E S : 


1. The Cardston T o w n Council (the " T o w n Council") is an elected group of officials w h o are 


responsible for legislative and adminis t ra t ion i n the municipal i ty . 


2. The Parties have agreed that Cardston shall represent the Parties as "the Unit Au thor i ty" 


w h o shall act on behalf of the Parties w i t h author i ty to enter into an agreement w i t h the 


Minis ter pursuant to the Act, 


3. The Parties agree to share the costs o f the programs not otherwise paid for by the Minis ter 


on a per capita basis. The Parties responsibi l i ty for payment o f the costs o f the program, 


represent at least 2 0 % of the to ta l provincia l revenue, wh ich w i l l be allocated f rom the 


operat ing budget of the Munic ipa l i ty in accordance w i t h the Act. 


4. For the purposes of this agreement, the populat ion included i n the per capita allocation for 


FCSS is: 


T o w n of Cardston 100% 


Cardston County 65% 


Village of Glenwood 100% 


Village of Hi l l Spring 100% 


5. The Parties shall form the T o w n of Cardston FCSS Board (the "Board") consisting o f seven 


(7) members, w h o shall be appointed by resolution of the T o w n Council and consists of the 


B O A R D : 


fol lowing: 


T o w n of Cardston 1 


3 


Member of T o w n of Cardston Council 


 


The Cardston County 1 


2 


Member of Cardston County Council 


Members-at-large 


Village of Glenwood 1 Member  Village of Glenwood Council 


Village o f Hi l l Spring 1 Member of Village o f H i l l Spring Council 







Cardston and District Community Support Services Agreement 3 







NOV   2009 


Revised Letter of Understanding 
For the 


Provision of Library Services to Cardston County  


 Chinook Arch Regional Library System will continue to act as Library Board 
and offer library service to Cardston County. 


2. Cardston County agrees to pay Chinook Arch $2.00 per Capita for a rural 
library service fee in addition to the System membership fee. 


3 Cardston County will be invoiced for the Rural Library Services Fee with its 
System Membership fee. Payments shall be due in two equal installments by 
January  and July 1 of each year. 


4. The Chinook Arch Library Board agrees to transfer rural library services 
grants to Cardston and District Library Board, Magrath Library Board, and 
Glenwood Library Board on behalf of Cardston County. 


5. The rural services grants to library boards will be based on Cardston County 
payment to the System for rural library services plus part of the provincial 
library services grant obtained on behalf of the municipality. 


6. Rural library services grant to the library boards wil l be divided 
proportionately between Cardston and District Library Board 52%; Magrath 
Library Board 35%; and Glenwood Library Board 13%. 


7. In order to receive the rural library services grants, Cardston and District 
Library Board, Magrath Library Board, and Glenwood Library Board will be 
responsible for including Cardston County residents in their library Need 
Assessment and Plan of Service documents. 


8. This Letter of Understanding will be reviewed every three years in 
consultation with Cardston County representative to the Chinook Arch 
Library Board. 


Chinook Arch Library Board Cardston County 


Murray Millward C.A.O 


Name and Title 


November  
Date Date 













		INTERMUNICIPAL COLLABORATION FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

		Cardston County and Village of Glenwood share a common pioneer history

		The ICF Agreement between the Village of Glenwood and Cardston County will:

		The Role of both Councils:

		The Role of the CAOs and Administration:

		The Role of Staff:



		Attachments  to this Agreement

		Commitment to Collaboration

		2009 Mutual Aid Agreement0001.pdf

		Page 1

		Page 2

		Page 3

		Page 4








 


 
Village of Glenwood  
 BYLAW # 239-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 1 of 4 


 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
  BYLAW # 239-2020 
 


Emergency Management Bylaw 
 


A BYLAW OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA TO ESTABLISH  
A MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY AND  


TO APPOINT A MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 


WHEREAS, the Council of the Village of Glenwood is responsible for the direction and control 
of its emergency response, the preparation and approval of emergency plans and programs 
and is required, under the Emergency Management Act, Chapter E 6.8 Revised Statues of 
Alberta 2000 to appoint an Emergency Management Committee and to establish and 
maintain an Emergency Management Agency; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, Chapter M-26, Revised 
Statutes of Alberta, Council may pass bylaws for municipal purposes and whereas it is 
desirable in the public interest and in the interests of public safety that such a committee be 
appointed and such an agency be established and maintained to carry out councils statutory 
powers and obligations under the Emergency Management Act;  


NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Village of Glenwood, in the Province of Alberta, duly 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 


1.1 Title – This bylaw may be cited as the “Emergency Management Bylaw”. 
 


1.2 Definitions – In this bylaw unless the context otherwise requires: 
(a) Act means the “Emergency Management Act,” Chapter E-6.8, Revised 


Statues of Alberta 2000 as amended; 
(b) Agency means the Municipal Emergency Management Agency established 


under this Bylaw; 
(c) Council means the Council of the Village of Glenwood; 
(d) Committee means the Municipal Advisory Committee established under this 


Bylaw; 
(e) Disaster means an event that has resulted or may result in serious harm to 


the safety, health or welfare of people, or in widespread damage to 
property; 


(f) Emergency means a present or imminent event that requires prompt co- 
ordination of action or special regulation of persons or property to protect 
the health, safety or welfare of people or to limit damage to property; 


(g) Minister means the Minister charged with administration of the Act; 
(h) Municipal Emergency Plan means the emergency plan prepared by the 







 


 
Village of Glenwood  
 BYLAW # 239-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 2 of 4 


 


Director of Emergency Management to co-ordinate response to an 
emergency or disaster; 


(i) Village means the Village of Glenwood in the province of Alberta. 
 


1.3 There is hereby established an Emergency Advisory Committee to advise Council on 
the development of emergency plans and programs. 


 
1.4 There is hereby established a Municipal Emergency Management Agency to act as 


the agent of Council to carry out their statutory powers and obligations under the 
Act. This does not include the power to declare, renew, or terminate a state of local 
emergency, or the powers contained in 1.12 of this Bylaw. 
 


1.5 Council shall: 
(a) By resolution, appoint one (1) of its council members to serve on the 


Emergency Advisory Committee; 
(b) Provide for the payment of expenses of the members of the Emergency 


Advisory Committee; 
(c) By resolution appoint a Director of Emergency Management (DEM) and a 


Deputy Director of Emergency Management (DDEM) who shall do those 
things required by the DEM in that person’s absence; 


(d) Ensure that emergency plans and programs are prepared to address potential 
emergencies or disasters in the village; 


(e) Approve the Village of Glenwood’s emergency plans and programs; and 
(f) Review the status of the Municipal Emergency Plan and related plans once 


each year. 
 


1.6 Council may: 
(a) Pass a Bylaw that is not advertised to borrow, levy, appropriate and expend, 


without the consent of the electors, all sums required for the operation of the 
Municipal Emergency Management Agency; and 


(b) Enter into agreements with and make payments or grants, or both, to persons 
or organizations for the provision of services in the development or 
implementation of emergency plans or programs, including mutual aid plans 
and programs. 


 
1.7 The Emergency Management Advisory Committee shall: 


(a) Review the Municipal Emergency Plan and related plans and programs on an 
annual basis; and 


(b) Advise Council, duly assembled, on the status of the Municipal Emergency 
Plan and related plans and programs at least once each year. 


 
1.8 The Municipal Emergency Management Agency shall be comprised of one or more 


of the following: 
(a) Director of Emergency Management (DEM); 







 


 
Village of Glenwood  
 BYLAW # 239-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 3 of 4 


 


(b) Deputy Director of Emergency Management (DDEM) (if one has been 
appointed); 


(c) Village foreman or designate; 
(d) Water/wastewater operator or designate; 
(e) Fire chief or designate; 
(f) Public information officer or designate; and 
(g) Anyone else deemed necessary by the Director of Emergency Management 


(DEM) who might serve a useful purpose in assisting in the preparation or 
implementation of the Municipal Emergency Plan. 


 
1.9 The Director of Emergency Management (DEM) shall: 


(a) Prepare and co-ordinate the Municipal Emergency Plan and related plans and 
programs for the Village of Glenwood; 


(b) Act as director of emergency operations on behalf of the emergency 
management agency; 


(c) Co-ordinate all emergency services and other resources used in an emergency; 
and 


(d) Ensure that someone is designated to discharge the responsibilities specified 
in paragraphs (a), (b), (c). 


 
1.10 The power to declare or renew a state of local emergency under the Act, the 


powers specified in 1.12 of this Bylaw and the requirements specified in 1.14 of this 
Bylaw are hereby delegated to a committee comprised of three (3) members of 
council. This committee may, at any time, make a declaration of a state of local 
emergency. 
 


1.11 When a state of local emergency is declared, the person making the declaration 
shall: 
(a) Ensure that the declaration identifies the nature of the emergency and the 


area of the Village in which it exists; 
(b) Cause the details of the declaration to be published immediately by such 


means of communication considered most likely to notify the population of 
the area affected; and 


(c) Forward a copy of the declaration to the Minister forthwith. 
 


1.12 Subject to 1.14 of this Bylaw, when a state of Local Emergency Is declared, the 
person or persons making the declaration may: 
(a) Cause the Municipal Emergency Plan or any related plan or program to be put 


into operation; 
(b) Authorize any person(s) at any time to exercise, in the operation Municipal 


Emergency Plan and related plans or programs, any power specified in 
relation to any part of the Village affected by a Declaration of a State of Local 
Emergency. 
 







 


 
Village of Glenwood  
 BYLAW # 239-2020 Mayor Initials:                     CAO Initials:                                            Page 4 of 4 


 


1.13 No action lies against a local authority or a person acting under the authority’s 
direction or authorization for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith 
while carrying out a power or duty under this Act or the regulations during a state of 
local emergency. 
 


1.14 When, in the opinion of the person or persons declaring the state of local 
emergency, an emergency no longer exists in relation to which the declaration was 
made, they shall, by resolution, terminate the declaration. 


 
1.15 A declaration of a state of local emergency is considered terminated and ceases to 


be of any force or effect when: 
(a) A resolution is passed per Section 23 of the Emergency Management Act; 
(b) A period of seven days has lapsed since the state of local emergency, unless it 


is renewed by resolution; 
(c) The Lieutenant Governor in Council makes an order for a state of emergency 


under the Act, relating to the same area; or 
(d) The Minister cancels the state of local emergency. 


 
1.16 When a declaration of a state of local emergency has been terminated, the person 


or persons who made the declaration shall cause the details of the termination to 
be published immediately by such means of communication considered most likely 
to notify the population of the area affected. 


 
2. RESCINDING BYLAW: 


 
2.1 Bylaw 239-2012 is hereby rescinded. 


 
 
3. DATE OF COMMENCEMENT: 


 
3.1 This bylaw shall come into effect upon third and final reading. 


 
 
Read a FIRST time this 12th day of March, 2020. 
Read a SECOND time this 12th day of March, 2020. 
Read a THIRD time and finally passed this 12th day of March, 2020. 
 
 
   


Albert Elias  Marilee Campbell 
Mayor  Chief Administrative Officer 


 








 9:11:40AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-10Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190602 2020-02-06 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  436.98


2020*JAN LIB 2020 JAN LIB PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  436.98 


 20190603 2020-02-06 ALBERTA HEALTH SERVICES - PERMITS PAYMENT  100.00


0011408520 2020 FOOD HANDLING  100.00 


 20190604 2020-02-06 ALBERTA SOUTHWEST REGIONAL ALLIANCE LTD. PAYMENT  60.00


485 2019 REGIONAL BUSINESS FEES  60.00 


 20190605 2020-02-06 BECK'S EXCAVATING & TRUCKING LTD PAYMENT  4,698.75


2772 TIE IN NOSKES LINES & APPROACH  4,698.75 


 20190606 2020-02-06 CANADA REVENUE AGENCY PAYMENT  4,082.84


2020*JAN 2020*JAN PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS  4,082.84 


 20190607 2020-02-06 CANDU AUTOMATION & CONTROL SOLUTIONS PAYMENT  1,092.00


1510 TRAINING & REMOTE CONNECTION  1,092.00 


 20190608 2020-02-06 CARTER, GERALD PAYMENT  151.96


2020*01 JAN COUNCIL TRAVEL  151.96 


 20190609 2020-02-06 CHINOOK ARCH REGIONAL LIBRARY SYSTEM PAYMENT  1,290.86


921163 2020 MEMBERSHIP FEES - JAN-JUNE  1,290.86 


 20190610 2020-02-06 DIGITAL CONNECTION INC. PAYMENT  114.32


240550 PHOTO COPIES  114.32 


 20190611 2020-02-06 HACH SALES & SERVICE CANADA LTD. PAYMENT  754.07


211341 WTPLANT SUPPLIES  754.07 


 20190612 2020-02-06 KUTSCH, VERNENE PAYMENT  100.00


2020*01 LUB HONORARIUM  100.00 


 20190613 2020-02-06 PUROLATOR PAYMENT  61.14


443584082 EXOVA SAMPLES  61.14 


 20190614 2020-02-06 ROLFSON, DAVID PAYMENT  52.20


2020*JAN JAN COUNCIL TRAVEL  52.20 


 20190615 2020-02-06 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5008830147 02/29/2020 - 03/28/2020  220.36 


 20190616 2020-02-27 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICES CORPORATION PAYMENT  5,144.96


20-1032665 UTILITIES  5,144.96 


 20190617 2020-02-27 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  12.60


IN156929 LAND LOCATES  12.60 


 20190618 2020-02-27 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  17,556.17


0172-11 FEB EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  1,477.16 


0172-12 MARCH EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  1,477.16 


2020VFIS-67 COUNCIL & VOLUNTEER PREMIUMS  360.00 


36217 2020 INSURANCE  14,241.85 


 20190619 2020-02-27 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  524.07


2020 - FEB LGAA , POSTAGE , COMM. HALL  524.07 


 20190620 2020-02-27 BECK'S EXCAVATING & TRUCKING LTD PAYMENT  2,101.05


2780 WATER LEAKS MAIN AVE. & 1 ST NW.  2,101.05 


 20190621 2020-02-27 CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES PAYMENT  6,125.70


11073 2020 FIRE REQUISITION  6,125.70 


 20190622 2020-02-27 CARTER, GERALD PAYMENT  184.08


2020*02 2020 FEB TRAVEL COUNCIL  184.08 


 20190623 2020-02-27 ELIAS, ALBERT PAYMENT  17.70


2020*02 FEB COOUNCIL TRAVEL  17.70 


 20190624 2020-02-27 GREGG DISTRIBUTORS  LP PAYMENT  285.03


055-16223627 PAPER TOWEL & T.P.  285.03 


 20190625 2020-02-27 KOST FIRE EQUIPMENT. LTD. PAYMENT  61.95







 9:11:40AM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2020-Mar-10Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20190625 2020-02-27 KOST FIRE EQUIPMENT. LTD. 510025358 SAFETY GEAR  61.95  61.95


 20190626 2020-02-27 LYBBERT, MYRON PAYMENT  41.30


2020*02 FEB COUNCIL TRAVEL  41.30 


 20190627 2020-02-27 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  304.51


20192568 MARCH SUPPORT  304.51 


 20190628 2020-02-27 ROLFSON, DAVID PAYMENT  53.10


2020*02 FEB COUNCIL TRAVEL  53.10 


 20190629 2020-02-27 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5009232813 03/29/2020 - 04/28/2020  220.36 


 20190630 2020-02-27 WORKER'S COMPENSATION BOARD - ALBERTA PAYMENT  708.52


24156067 APR - JUN INSTALLMENT  708.52 


 20190631 2020-02-27 XPLORNET COMMUNICATIONS INC. PAYMENT  30.45


INV30476135 FEB 2 - MAR 1 DATA PAYMENT  30.45 


 20190632 2020-02-27 HUNSPERGER, PERRY


 20190633 2020-02-27 EDWARDS, JANET


 20190634 2020-02-27 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20190635 2020-02-27 GOETZ , CALVIN


 20190636 2020-02-27 CARTER, GERALD


 20190637 2020-02-27 ELIAS, JONAS


 20190638 2020-02-27 LYBBERT, BART


 20190639 2020-02-27 LYBBERT, MYRON


 20190640 2020-02-27 ROLFSON, DAVID


 20190641 2020-02-27 CAMPBELL, ELIZA M


*** End of Report ***


Total  57,660.60








 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 1 of 10


Tax Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-102 Taxes - Chinook Foundation (5,520.07) (5,871.00) (5,847.32) (6,000.00)  0.00 (6,000.00)


1-00-00-00-00-103 Taxes - Non-Residential (49,488.39) (51,968.00) (52,143.99) (53,000.00)  0.00 (53,000.00)


1-00-00-00-00-105 Taxes - Linear (12,961.37) (13,656.00) (14,004.13) (13,900.00)  0.00 (13,900.00)


1-00-00-00-00-108 Taxes - Residential (217,615.50) (228,958.00) (227,298.55) (233,500.00)  0.00 (233,500.00)


1-00-00-00-00-110 Taxes - M&E (21,706.20) (22,806.00) (22,805.99) (23,300.00)  0.00 (23,300.00)


1-00-00-00-00-130 Taxes - Policing  0.00  0.00  0.00 (5,585.00)  0.00 (5,585.00)


*        TOTAL Tax Revenue (307,291.53) (323,259.00) (322,099.98) (335,285.00) 0.00 (335,285.00)


General Government Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-590 Other Revenue from Own Sources (350.00) (300.00) (1,221.00) (300.00)  0.00 (300.00)


1-12-00-00-00-410 Photocopy,Fax, etc Revenue (266.55) (180.00) (172.05) (180.00) (196.25)  16.25 


1-12-00-00-00-433 Assessment Appeal Deposit (50.00)  0.00 (50.00) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-12-00-00-00-525 License - Business (160.00) (240.00) (280.00) (240.00) (20.00) (220.00)


1-12-00-00-00-561 Xplornet (2,788.80) (2,000.00) (2,970.46) (2,000.00) (740.40) (1,259.60)


1-00-00-00-00-510 Taxes - Penalties & Costs (4,370.61) (4,000.00) (1,893.08) (4,000.00) (1,076.45) (2,923.55)


1-00-00-00-00-541 Franchise & Concession ATCO Revenue (3,322.30) (8,800.00) (26,067.53) (9,000.00) (3,218.98) (5,781.02)


1-00-00-00-00-550 Return on Investments (3,153.87) (3,500.00) (5,804.40) (3,500.00)  306.12 (3,806.12)


*        TOTAL General Gov't Revenue (14,462.13) (19,020.00) (38,458.52) (19,320.00) (4,945.96) (14,374.04)


Operating Grant Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-748 Grant Misc (9,345.03) (1,500.00) (1,500.00) (2,500.00)  0.00 (2,500.00)


1-00-00-00-00-751 GRANTS - ACP INTERMUNICIPAL (17,354.25)  0.00 (4,414.89) (1,000.00)  0.00 (1,000.00)


1-00-00-00-00-843 Grant - MSI Operational (34,832.00) (34,832.00) (34,147.00) (34,000.00)  0.00 (34,000.00)


*        TOTAL Operating Grant Revenue (61,531.28) (36,332.00) (40,061.89) (37,500.00) 0.00 (37,500.00)







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 2 of 10


Protective Services Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-990 Other Rev - NSF,  Fines, Lease (665.00) (200.00) (35.00) (200.00) (10.00) (190.00)


*        TOTAL Protective Services Rev (665.00) (200.00) (35.00) (200.00) (10.00) (190.00)


Transportation Service Revenue


1-30-00-00-00-410 Equipment Pool Revenue (400.00)  0.00 (110.00) (200.00)  0.00 (200.00)


1-32-00-00-00-591 Snow Removal Roads & Streets (80.00) (100.00) (400.00) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


*        TOTAL Trans Service Revenue (480.00) (100.00) (510.00) (300.00) 0.00 (300.00)


Water Revenue


1-41-00-00-00-120 Water Connection Install  0.00  0.00 (5,000.00) (1,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 


1-41-00-00-00-121 Water On/Off Fee (240.00) (100.00) (270.00) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-41-00-00-00-410 Sales - Water (105,061.11) (108,000.00) (123,579.31) (110,200.00) (35,811.20) (74,388.80)


1-41-00-00-00-411 Water - Bulk Sales (3,594.04) (3,000.00) (3,578.42) (3,000.00) (8.15) (2,991.85)


1-41-00-00-00-510 Water - Penalties & Costs (411.91) (500.00) (222.93) (500.00) (229.12) (270.88)


*        TOTAL Water Revenue (109,307.06) (111,600.00) (132,650.66) (114,800.00) (37,048.47) (77,751.53)


Irrigation Revenue


1-40-00-00-00-410 Sales - Irrigation (9,522.50) (10,000.00) (11,292.32) (10,200.00) (3,844.16) (6,355.84)


*        TOTAL Irrigation Revenue (9,522.50) (10,000.00) (11,292.32) (10,200.00) (3,844.16) (6,355.84)


Sewer Revenue


1-42-00-00-00-120 Sewer Connection Install  0.00  0.00 (2,000.00) (1,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00 


1-42-00-00-00-410 Sales - Sewer (26,831.66) (23,500.00) (22,578.00) (24,000.00) (7,480.00) (16,520.00)


1-42-00-00-00-411 Sales - Sewer RV Dumping Station (3,092.75) (3,000.00) (3,126.35) (3,000.00) (117.00) (2,883.00)


1-42-00-00-00-412 Sewer RV Campground Agreements (4,000.00) (4,000.00) (4,000.00) (4,000.00)  0.00 (4,000.00)


*        TOTAL Sewer Revenue (33,924.41) (30,500.00) (31,704.35) (32,000.00) (8,597.00) (23,403.00)







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 3 of 10


Waste Management  Revenue


1-43-00-00-00-410 Sales - Solid Waste (12,015.00) (12,000.00) (12,992.00) (12,000.00) (10,886.67) (1,113.33)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Rev (12,015.00) (12,000.00) (12,992.00) (12,000.00) (10,886.67) (1,113.33)


Cemetery Revenue


1-56-00-00-00-410 Cemetery - Plots & Fees (1,260.00) (600.00) (1,130.00) (600.00)  0.00 (600.00)


1-56-00-00-00-420 Cemetery - Donations (2,040.00)  0.00 (1,250.00) (500.00) (2,293.55)  1,793.55 


1-56-00-00-00-430 Cemetery County Contribution  0.00  0.00  0.00 (1,375.00)  0.00 (1,375.00)


*        TOTAL Cemetery Revenue (3,300.00) (600.00) (2,380.00) (2,475.00) (2,293.55) (181.45)


Recreation & Culture Revenue


1-74-02-00-00-560 Rentals Community Hall (1,175.00) (1,000.00) (1,988.75) (1,000.00) (400.00) (600.00)


1-72-00-00-00-410 Sales & Services - Recreation (100.00) (100.00) (399.50) (100.00)  0.00 (100.00)


1-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Revenue (42,867.91) (47,600.00) (45,806.31) (47,600.00)  0.00 (47,600.00)


1-74-04-00-00-410 Pioneer Days funds-fireworks donations (200.00)  0.00 (2,950.00) (3,000.00) (141.00) (2,859.00)


1-74-05-00-00-474 Post Office Rental Revenue  0.00 (1,400.00) (1,400.00) (2,400.00) (400.00) (2,000.00)


*        TOTAL Rec & Culture Rev (44,342.91) (50,100.00) (52,544.56) (54,100.00) (941.00) (53,159.00)


Planning & Development Revenue


1-12-00-00-00-490 Permit - Dev/Compliance (1,350.00) (200.00)  415.00 (200.00) (45.00) (155.00)


1-95-00-00-00-763 Transfers From Reserves - Operating  0.00  0.00  0.00 (3,000.00)  0.00 (3,000.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Development R (1,350.00) (200.00) 415.00 (3,200.00) (45.00) (3,155.00)


**       TOTAL Revenue (598,191.82) (593,911.00) (644,314.28) (621,380.00) (68,611.81) (552,768.19)







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 4 of 10


Council Expenses


2-11-00-00-00-153 Council Honorariums  10,050.00  11,000.00  10,700.00  11,000.00  1,350.00  9,650.00 


2-11-00-00-00-213 Council Travel  6,897.07  7,000.00  3,826.16  6,000.00  611.28  5,388.72 


2-11-00-00-00-520 Council Misc  3,772.50  4,000.00  2,322.89  3,500.00  384.98  3,115.02 


*        TOTAL Council Expenses 20,719.57 22,000.00 16,849.05 20,500.00 2,346.26 18,153.74


Administration Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Admin  117,586.80  86,500.00  84,671.54  89,100.00  14,853.98  74,246.02 


2-12-00-00-00-113 Travel & Training - CAO  3,838.92  4,000.00  2,895.42  4,000.00  970.00  3,030.00 


2-12-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Admin  4,596.92  5,500.00  6,119.31  6,200.00  1,053.24  5,146.76 


2-12-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Admin  14,869.79  13,100.00  15,592.87  13,200.00  2,814.44  10,385.56 


2-12-00-00-00-142 Workers Compensation Admin  2,063.23  2,500.00  2,551.22  2,500.00  1,417.04  1,082.96 


2-12-00-00-00-150 Election & Census  409.03  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-210 Travel & Training - ADMIN  1,823.11  1,500.00  1,366.96  5,000.00  0.00  5,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-215 Telephone Land Line Admin  1,003.01  1,500.00  1,044.19  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-12-00-00-00-216 Fax Land Line Admin  779.87  1,000.00  891.36  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-220 Advert, Printing, Memberships Admin  5,927.09  6,700.00  5,863.37  6,600.00  2,188.77  4,411.23 


2-12-00-00-00-230 Professional & Consulting Admin  33,559.89  40,000.00  34,959.05  33,300.00  970.03  32,329.97 


2-12-00-00-00-235 Postage & Freight Admin  2,490.83  2,500.00  2,056.94  2,500.00  37.17  2,462.83 


2-12-00-00-00-270 Misc Expense Admin  200.59  600.00  1,510.48  600.00  46.90  553.10 


2-12-00-00-00-274 Insurance Admin  17,333.80  13,500.00  13,446.10  13,800.00  14,241.85 (441.85)


2-12-00-00-00-280 Reg Fees Land Titles  236.00  200.00  90.00  200.00  20.00  180.00 


2-12-00-00-00-290 Office Bldg Maintenance Admin  729.03  800.00  505.83  800.00  0.00  800.00 


2-12-00-00-00-300 Assessor Fees Admin  7,407.51  8,000.00  7,927.50  8,200.00  0.00  8,200.00 


2-12-00-00-00-510 Office Expense Admin  2,077.73  2,750.00  4,758.90  2,750.00  90.28  2,659.72 


2-12-00-00-00-520 Web Hosting Admin  1,250.00  1,300.00  1,250.00  1,300.00  0.00  1,300.00 


2-12-00-00-00-540 Administration Utilities Power  2,530.90  2,750.00  2,685.91  2,750.00  462.87  2,287.13 


2-12-00-00-00-541 Administration Utilities Gas  1,280.00  1,500.00  1,413.95  1,500.00  338.84  1,161.16 


2-12-00-00-00-810 Bank Charges Admin  2,677.87  2,750.00  2,729.48  2,750.00  0.00  2,750.00 


2-12-00-00-00-999 Adm - Amortization  219,863.43  220,000.00  178,644.74  224,400.00  0.00  224,400.00 


*        TOTAL Administration Expenses 444,535.35 418,950.00 372,975.12 423,950.00 39,505.41 384,444.59







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 5 of 10


Protective Services Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-110 Fire & Emergency Management wages  497.74  1,000.00  250.00  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-23-00-00-00-130 Employer source deduction Fire  0.87  50.00  0.00  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-270 Fire Misc  2,332.54  1,000.00  361.63  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-23-00-00-00-510 Fire Goods & Supplies  95.41  50.00  0.00  50.00  0.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-540 Fire Utilities Power  1,644.37  1,950.00  2,092.38  1,950.00  306.72  1,643.28 


2-23-00-00-00-541 Fire Utilities Gas  1,906.33  1,900.00  2,404.72  1,900.00  655.15  1,244.85 


2-23-00-00-00-750 Fire Requisition  6,506.64  6,667.00  6,104.64  11,300.00  6,125.70  5,174.30 


2-23-00-00-00-760 Fire Dispatch Services  836.61  1,200.00  1,150.24  1,200.00  0.00  1,200.00 


2-23-00-00-00-770 Victim Services  600.00  600.00  600.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


*        TOTAL Protective Services Exp 14,420.51 14,417.00 12,963.61 19,950.00 7,087.57 12,862.43


Shop Expenses


2-30-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Equip Pool  3,120.67  2,700.00  3,101.60  2,700.00  504.96  2,195.04 


2-30-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Equip Pool  187.30  200.00  197.70  200.00  36.30  163.70 


2-30-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Equip Pool  156.02  200.00  1,101.66  200.00  177.94  22.06 


2-31-00-00-00-110 Village Maintenance Wages  15,716.39  13,500.00  15,508.12  13,700.00  2,524.76  11,175.24 


2-31-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions V-Main  936.58  800.00  988.33  900.00  181.54  718.46 


2-31-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefits Vlg Maint  780.46  1,000.00  970.94  1,000.00  118.20  881.80 


2-31-00-00-00-250 Vlg Maint Contracted Services  2,075.00  2,500.00  228.64  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-510 Vlg Maint Tools, Hardware, Op  1,230.39  2,000.00  993.12  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-524 Vlg Maint Equip Supplies  2,040.54  2,000.00  2,298.06  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-526 Vlg Maint Equip Supply Tractor  987.73  800.00  920.01  800.00  0.00  800.00 


2-31-00-00-00-527 Vlg Maint Fuel  4,399.34  3,000.00  2,547.96  3,100.00  0.00  3,100.00 


2-31-00-00-00-550 Safety Gear  341.45  500.00  151.32  500.00  59.00  441.00 


2-32-00-00-00-215 Telephone Shop  778.44  900.00  589.30  900.00  0.00  900.00 


2-32-00-00-00-217 Cell Phone Foreman  907.97  900.00  1,292.00  900.00  0.00  900.00 


*        TOTAL Shop Expenses 33,658.28 31,000.00 30,888.76 30,900.00 3,602.70 27,297.30







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 6 of 10


Road & Street Expenses


2-32-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Streets & Roads  16,531.47  16,900.00  17,839.28  17,200.00  2,903.32  14,296.68 


2-32-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deduct Streets & Roads  1,017.39  1,000.00  1,041.20  1,100.00  195.57  904.43 


2-32-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deduct Streets & Roads  820.13  1,200.00  970.94  1,200.00  118.20  1,081.80 


2-32-00-00-00-250 Streets & Roads Contracted Services  7,535.84  2,000.00  1,177.00  2,000.00  1,217.00  783.00 


2-32-00-00-00-260 Streets & Roads Goods & Servcies  0.00  1,000.00  482.62  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-530 Streets & Roads Maint Materials  844.99  1,000.00  3,001.28  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-540 Streetlights  10,559.86  11,000.00  12,329.42  12,000.00  2,151.16  9,848.84 


*        TOTAL Road & Street Expenses 37,309.68 34,100.00 36,841.74 35,500.00 6,585.25 28,914.75


Irrigation Expenses


2-40-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Irrigation  7,729.82  6,800.00  8,534.35  6,900.00  1,222.06  5,677.94 


2-40-00-00-00-250 Irrg System Contracted Services  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-40-00-00-00-252 Irrg System Maint  329.97  750.00  973.75  750.00  0.00  750.00 


2-40-00-00-00-540 Irrg System Utilities Power  3,248.23  3,500.00  2,598.47  3,600.00  173.85  3,426.15 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Expenses 11,308.02 11,550.00 12,106.57 11,750.00 1,395.91 10,354.09


Water Expenses


2-41-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Water  22,803.75  29,200.00  21,831.84  29,500.00  3,462.28  26,037.72 


2-41-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Water  1,730.48  2,400.00  1,763.93  2,600.00  299.66  2,300.34 


2-41-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Water  1,092.62  2,300.00  1,846.51  2,300.00  225.98  2,074.02 


2-41-00-00-00-210 Water - Seminars & Travel  1,823.34  3,000.00  3,553.10  3,000.00  0.00  3,000.00 


2-41-00-00-00-215 Telephone Water Plant  1,078.35  1,100.00  1,191.36  1,100.00  0.00  1,100.00 


2-41-00-00-00-250 Water Supply Contracted Services  7,983.88  11,000.00  12,015.10  11,000.00  6,842.76  4,157.24 


2-41-00-00-00-252 Water Supply Maint  1,968.90  3,000.00  2,451.60  7,600.00  0.00  7,600.00 


2-41-00-00-00-270 Water Supply Misc  22,947.95  1,500.00  31.14  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-41-00-00-00-510 Water Supply Goods & Service  6,196.25  7,000.00  4,464.17  6,500.00  862.63  5,637.37 


2-41-00-00-00-540 Water Supply Utilities Power  10,156.53  10,500.00  12,076.98  10,700.00  2,368.11  8,331.89 


2-41-00-00-00-541 Water Supply Utilities Gas  3,428.59  3,750.00  3,545.23  3,800.00  605.15  3,194.85 


2-41-00-00-00-905 Water Billing Discount  3,489.50  3,500.00  3,655.62  3,500.00  0.00  3,500.00 


*        TOTAL Water Expenses 84,700.14 78,250.00 68,426.58 83,100.00 14,666.57 68,433.43







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 7 of 10


Sewer Expenses


2-42-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Sewer  3,020.67  2,700.00  3,101.60  2,700.00  504.96  2,195.04 


2-42-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Sewer  187.30  200.00  197.70  200.00  36.30  163.70 


2-42-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Sewer  156.02  200.00  276.80  200.00  37.70  162.30 


2-42-00-00-00-250 Sewer Contracted Services  19,819.86  5,250.00  2,481.70  5,250.00  0.00  5,250.00 


2-42-00-00-00-510 Sewer Goods & Services  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-42-00-00-00-905 Sewer Billing Discount  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Expenses 23,183.85 8,850.00 6,057.80 8,850.00 578.96 8,271.04


Waste Management Expenses


2-43-00-00-00-250 Solid Waste Contracted Services  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00  1,635.00 (1,385.00)


2-43-00-00-00-510 Solid Waste Goods & Services  50.48  250.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-750 Solid Waste Requisition - CMRSWA  6,747.37  7,000.00  7,792.56  7,100.00  0.00  7,100.00 


2-43-00-00-00-752 Requisition - County Transfer Station  0.00  3,200.00  3,126.80  3,300.00  4,050.48 (750.48)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Expenses 6,797.85 10,700.00 10,919.36 10,900.00 5,685.48 5,214.52


Cemetery Expenses


2-56-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Cemetery  1,688.45  2,000.00  3,346.52  2,100.00  717.12  1,382.88 


2-56-00-00-00-510 Cemetery Goods & Services  142.83  250.00  200.00  3,250.00  0.00  3,250.00 


2-56-00-00-00-540 Cemetery Utilities Power  947.99  1,100.00  1,006.25  1,100.00  168.82  931.18 


2-56-00-00-00-620 Cemetery Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Expenses 2,779.27 3,350.00 4,552.77 6,950.00 885.94 6,064.06


Planning & Development Expense


2-76-00-00-00-250 Development Contracted Services  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-76-00-00-00-251 Planning - GIS  1,659.00  1,730.00  1,681.12  1,730.00  2,397.60 (667.60)


2-76-00-00-00-252 ORRSC Requisition  3,288.28  3,650.00  3,863.00  5,200.00  0.00  5,200.00 


*        TOTAL Planning & Dev Expenses 4,947.28 5,880.00 5,544.12 7,430.00 2,397.60 5,032.40







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 8 of 10


Parks & Recreation Expenses


2-62-00-00-00-201 Community Service Misc  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-04-00-00-510 Pioneer Days Fireworks  3,000.00  0.00  3,150.00  3,000.00  0.00  3,000.00 


2-72-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Parks & Rec  4,396.15  2,000.00  5,978.61  2,000.00  2,131.46 (131.46)


2-72-00-00-00-725 Recreation Expenses (Vlg USE ONLY)  1,355.31  1,250.00  1,142.36  6,150.00  0.00  6,150.00 


2-72-00-00-00-540 Recreation Utilities Power  951.94  1,000.00  1,064.68  1,000.00  182.83  817.17 


2-72-00-00-00-541 Recreation Utilities Gas  730.00  800.00  855.88  800.00  184.36  615.64 


*        TOTAL Parks & Rec Expenses 10,433.40 5,550.00 12,191.53 13,450.00 2,498.65 10,951.35


Library Expenses


2-74-01-00-00-250 Library Contracted Services  968.38  1,000.00  886.57  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00 


2-74-01-00-00-510 Library Goods and Services  0.00  500.00  10.45  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-01-00-00-750 Library Society Operating Support  18,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  15,300.00  0.00  15,300.00 


2-74-01-00-00-771 Requisition Chinook Arch Library  2,480.60  2,490.00  2,531.16  2,500.00  1,290.86  1,209.14 


*        TOTAL Library Expenses 21,448.98 18,990.00 18,428.18 19,300.00 1,290.86 18,009.14


Community Hall Expenses


2-74-02-00-00-110 Salaries and Wages Community Hall  2,900.00  2,700.00  1,275.00  2,700.00  0.00  2,700.00 


2-74-02-00-00-250 Community Hall Contracted Service  488.95  500.00  315.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-02-00-00-510 Community Hall Goods & Service  954.03  1,000.00  1,601.89  1,000.00  255.38  744.62 


2-74-02-00-00-540 Community Hall Utilities Power  1,920.75  1,500.00  2,108.79  1,500.00  548.77  951.23 


2-74-02-00-00-541 Community Hall Utilities Gas  1,240.96  1,125.00  1,456.03  1,125.00  310.47  814.53 


*        TOTAL Community Hall Expenses 7,504.69 6,825.00 6,756.71 6,825.00 1,114.62 5,710.38


Pioneer Parlour Expenses


2-74-03-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Pioneer Parlour  18,973.75  22,200.00  22,604.66  18,500.00  0.00  18,500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions PP  694.03  600.00  1,014.14  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-250 Pioneer Parlour Contracted Services  75.94  1,500.00  1,432.00  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Expenses (Bldg)  939.03  1,000.00  2,786.58  1,000.00  100.00  900.00 


2-74-03-00-00-510 Pioneer Parlour Goods & Services  17,203.67  19,500.00  21,312.83  19,900.00  0.00  19,900.00 


2-74-03-00-00-540 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Power  1,598.36  1,700.00  1,702.28  1,700.00  195.00  1,505.00 


2-74-03-00-00-541 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Gas  834.76  1,100.00  1,019.48  1,100.00  246.25  853.75 


*        TOTAL Pioneer Parlour Expenses 40,319.54 47,600.00 51,871.97 44,200.00 541.25 43,658.75







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 9 of 10


Post Office Expenses


2-74-05-00-00-540 Post Office Utilities Power  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-74-05-00-00-541 Post Office Utilities Gas  0.00  375.00  0.00  375.00  0.00  375.00 


*        TOTAL Post Office Exp 0.00 875.00 0.00 875.00 0.00 875.00


Community Support Requisitions


2-26-00-00-00-100 Requisition - Policing  0.00  0.00  0.00  5,585.00  0.00  5,585.00 


2-62-00-00-00-206 Com Services: Communities in Bloom  2,925.00  2,000.00  1,788.75  2,000.00  0.00  2,000.00 


2-62-00-00-00-208 Spring Glen Park Req/Exp/Donate  1,500.00  1,500.00  1,428.57  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-209 Com Services: Glenwood Seniors Req  500.00  500.00  500.00  500.00  0.00  500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-210 Com Services: FCSS Requisition  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  0.00  2,446.00 


2-62-00-00-00-750 Com Services: Farm Safety Ctr Donation  0.00  300.00  300.00  300.00  0.00  300.00 


2-72-00-00-00-750 Recreation Brd Expenses (Vlg DON'T USE )  2,818.85  1,500.00  801.01  1,500.00  0.00  1,500.00 


2-98-00-00-00-102 Req Chinook Foundation  5,520.09  5,871.00  5,870.52  6,000.00  0.00  6,000.00 


2-98-00-00-00-108 Req United Irrigation Dist  4,203.18  4,310.00  4,553.30  4,400.00  0.00  4,400.00 


2-98-00-00-00-115 Req School Foundation  68,249.59  71,650.00  71,341.78  73,100.00  0.00  73,100.00 


2-98-00-00-00-116 DESIGNATED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 


(DIP)


 20.37  47.00  47.17  47.00  0.00  47.00 


2-12-00-00-00-763 General Reserves transfer from Operating  0.00  0.00  0.00  3,972.00  0.00  3,972.00 


*        TOTAL Community Support Requis 88,183.08 90,124.00 89,077.10 101,350.00 0.00 101,350.00


**       TOTAL Expenses 852,249.49 809,011.00 756,450.97 845,780.00 90,183.03 755,596.97


***      TOTAL Revenues Over Expenses 254,057.67 215,100.00 112,136.69 224,400.00 21,571.22 202,828.78







 2:41:57PM


2020-Mar-12


2020 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2018 Actual 2019 Budget 2019 Actual 2020 Budget 2020 YTD 


Actual


2020 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 10 of 10


Capital Grants Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-842 Grant - MSI Capital (88,225.34) (127,427.00) (91,802.29) (211,850.00)  0.00 (211,850.00)


1-00-00-00-00-846 Grants - FGTF/NDCC (90,569.74) (78,200.00)  0.00 (130,000.00)  0.00 (130,000.00)


*        TOTAL Cap Grants Rev (178,795.08) (205,627.00) (91,802.29) (341,850.00) 0.00 (341,850.00)


**       TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE (178,795.08) (205,627.00) (91,802.29) (341,850.00) 0.00 (341,850.00)


Capital Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-762 Admin - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  10,750.00  0.00  10,750.00 


2-23-00-00-00-762 Protective Serv-Transfer to Capital  0.00  6,000.00  0.00  4,000.00  0.00  4,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-762 Vlg Maint - Transfer to Capital  0.00  7,200.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-32-00-00-00-762 Strts & Rds - Transfer to Capital  0.00  113,407.00  0.00  181,400.00  0.00  181,400.00 


2-40-00-00-00-762 Irrigation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  5,000.00  0.00  5,000.00  3,500.95  1,499.05 


2-41-00-00-00-762 Water - Transfer to Capital  0.00  50,000.00  0.00  123,700.00  0.00  123,700.00 


2-42-00-00-00-762 Sewer - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  12,000.00  0.00  12,000.00 


2-71-00-00-00-762 Parks & Recreation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  420.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-74-01-00-00-762 Library - Transfer to Capital  0.00  20,000.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-74-02-00-00-762 Community Hall - Transfer to Capital  0.00  5,100.00  0.00  5,000.00  0.00  5,000.00 


*        TOTAL Capital Expenses 0.00 207,127.00 0.00 341,850.00 3,500.95 338,349.05


**       TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 0.00 207,127.00 0.00 341,850.00 3,500.95 338,349.05


***      Revenues Over Expense/Capital (178,795.08) 1,500.00 (91,802.29) 0.00 3,500.95 (3,500.95)


*** End of Report ***





